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INTRODUCTORY NOTICE.

SixcE the publication of the last Edition of the Handbook of Wilts,
Dorset, and Somerset, many new lines of railway have been constructed,
and other local changes made, which have rendered it necessary to
re-arrange, and, to a considerable extent, re-write the work.

The routes have now been made, as far as possible, to follow the
great lines of railway, in unbroken continuity, disregarding the county
divisions, which are of no practical importance to the tourist. The
object aimed at throughout has been the real utility of the Handbook,
and the convenience of those who use it.

Very large additions have been made to evéty department of the
work. The antiquarian and ecclesiological information, éé}?s‘ecially, will
be found much fuller than in the former Editions. . Great care has been
taken to furnish complete and trustworthy information, coirected as far
ag possible up to the date of publication, on all the points embraced
in this Handbook. Those who discover mistakes or deficiencies will
confer an obligation on the Editor if they will have the goodness to
communicate them to him through the Publisher. It is only thus
that local Handbooks can attain that degree of accuracy which may be
reasonably expected by those who make use of them.

‘Whatever superiority the present may exhibit over former Editions
is chiefly due to the ready co-operation of the numerous friends and
unknown correspondents, who have aided the Editor by answering his
inquiries and transmitting information, to whom he takes this oppor-
tunity of tendering his grateful acknowledgments.
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INTRODUCTION.

“ For who, indeed, at one trait, and from his own small treasury of obaservance, shall verit-
ably depict even the loveliness of these dumb and thoughtless glades, bosques, and rivulets
which surround us? ‘L'his man seeth them when Pheebus is slmllng, and that man, when the
God of day is obuubxhted ,—-not m speuk of the various moods of men, which moods, whether
they are glad iful or dull, do enchant or disenchant, for the men
themselves, the outwa.rd forms und shows of nature. Therefore, always am I desireful to
hear what my friends will say upon any matter that doth admit hlgh and various discourse.’”

—An un Sragment from the MS. of ‘ Ane Aunciente Clerke.
Page
GENERAL ACCOUNT OF THE THREE COUNTIES IN RESPECT OF—
A. PavsicAl FEATURES AND GEOLOGY .. .. .. .. vii
B. HisTORY .. .\ . e e «v  Xiv
SEPARATE ACCOUNT OF EACH Coum IN RESPECT OF—
‘Wilts, Don;et. Somerset.
I. PaYSICAL FEATURES ee oo XX .. Xxxxii .. xli
II. GEOLOGY .. .. .. . ..o Xxilii .. xxxiv .. xliv
Or. Dﬁmﬁﬁn”“g‘;ﬁ;ﬂm‘”} xxvi .. xxxvii .. xlvii
IV. ANTIQUITIES—BRITISH, RoMAN xxvii .. xxxviii .. xlviii
- V. ARCHITECTURE AND CHURCHES  XXix .. XXXix .. 1
VI. PLACES OF INTEREST .. .. XXXi .. xli .. liv

A. PrysicaL FEATURES AND GEOLOGY OF THE THREE COUNTIES,

It is of importance, in acquiring a knowledge of the physical features
of a district, to bear in mind that every acre of ground owes its force
hysical agencies, the like to which may either be found at the
or may reasonably be supposed to be at work below the super-

ﬁcla.l crust, in some part of the globe at the present day.

These agencies may be classed primarily in a general way under two
divisions (1) External and (2) Internal. Those of the first division
are continually lowering land-surfaces by wearing away rocks and trans-

porting the débris so formed to lower levels on the sea-bottoms, and
thus are simultaneously destroying old and forming new rocks. They
comprise rain and rivers, frost and glaciers, some of which are always
at work over the whole surface of the land, and the sea which works
at the margin only of the land, and possibly in a lesser degree by cur-
rents in the ocean’s bed.

Each of these groups of denuding forces (subaérial and marine) acts
upon rocks less or more, according to their hardness or, softness, but
the difference of the result is more appreclable in rocks subjected to the
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former, for the action over the whole surface is more uniform, whatever
be its shape. Headlands composed of harder rocks, on the sea margin,
on the other hand, at the same time protect more or less the softer
portions of the beach, and themselves receive the brunt of the attack of
the waves. Thus the general tendency of the sea is to form plains,
and that of rain and rivers to cut out valleys in those plains (when
raised above the sea-margin) and so form hills.

The 2nd division of forces which influence the form of the ground
may be called internal. It comprises two groups, 1stly, those which at
certain places on the earth’s surface eject material from below through
fissures in the crust (with which in this district we have little to do),
and 2ndly those which from time to time raise districts above the sea-
level 50 as to expose them to denuding agencies, or depress them below
that level and so protect them from their influence.

Few of our English counties, perhaps, can illustrate so well as the
three under our notice how much the form of & country is dependent
on what may be called its anatomy, that is, the range of its hard and
soft parts relatively. .

A traveller entering the district from the east is at once struck by
the two great ranges of hills which sweep across it continuously in a
S.W. direction, preserving a more or less parallel course throughout
their length. FEach in turn presents a bold and somewhat abrupt face
towards the west, looking down upon wide but undulating plains formed
of the strata next below, and eastward slopes away gradually in a wide
plateau, less and less intersected by deep valleys as it loses itself be-
neath the overlapping rocks of the next great series of beds above.
These two ranges are only a small portion of the great north-west
escarpments of the Cretaceous and Oolitic rocks, which run across the
whole of England, from the north coast of Yorkshire to the east of
Devonshire, They may be roughly said to run in a curve of one-fourth
of a circle, the centre of which will be somewhere about the island of
Holyhead, and the rocks of which they are composed have a general
dip or declination towards the south-east. On the west they rise from
plains of the older rocks, on which they lie, and towards the east are
concealed in turn by newer rocks which lie upon them. Each of these
great groups is composed of several members, which in their turn are
constituted of different materials, or of the same materials in different
proportions, some of which are better adapted for resisting the attacks of
disintegrating forces. Consequently the harder rocks stand out in high
relief, whilst the softer crumble away bemeath the attacks of time, and
s0 a succession of parallel ridges is produced with intervening valleys or
plains. The two most striking of these ridges are that of the chalk in
the Cretaceous rocks, and that of the Great, or Bath Oolite in the
Jurassic series; but all the other alternations produce features which
are more or less marked and tontinuous in their range, and fill up the
minor details of the landscape.

The Tertiary Formations in this district are confined to Wilts and
Dorset, and consist of the Bagshot beds which'form a wide' tract of
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barren sandy heaths. They rest upon the London clay, and this again

in turn upon the Woolwich beds ; these last two formations forming a

fringe around the Bagshot beds. The range of their boundary with

the chalk is marked by a trough the south side of which runs south

of Poole Harbour. Its western extremity is near Dorchester, and hence

%o runs in a N.E. direction by Wimborne Minster and Cranborne to
msey.

The Chalk and Greensand escarpment enters the county of Wilts
from the N.E., near Swindon, as a portion of the Chiltern Hills, and
sweeps thence in a south-easterly direction above Calne to Devizes in a
bold row of headlands. Here the chalk is cut back, and exposes the
underlying greensand through a broad tract extending along the deep
valley of Pewsey to Burbage, not far from the east boundary of the
county. It returns to its former range near Westbury, thence to War-
minster, and by another indentation to Heytesbury, Maiden Bradley,
and Mere. Here the boundary is again thrown some distance to the
east, by a fault which brings down the Chalk against the Kimmeridge
Clay, and ranges still further to Barford, near Salisbury ; and not only is
the Greensand exposed in the lower ground between, but also Purbeck
and Portland Oolite. From hence its direction is again S.E., passing
above Shaftesbury, and by the prominent hill-camp of Rawlsbury, to
Binghams Melcombe. Hitherto we have followed a generally S.W.
direction, but the main mass of the Chalk now runs due W.N.W., and
after a few miles ceases altogether, its former extent being shown only by
detached outliers resting on the greensand. Other changes now come o1
The Greensand has been resting chiefly on the nppermost Oolitic rocks :
but it now lies on lower and lower bedz in succession as it runs west,
passing, one by one, over the edges of the Qolitic and Liassic rocks, and
resting west of Chard on Triassic marls, at the same time attaining
greater thickness, and forming the bold range of the Blackdown Hills.
It lies in more and more detached masses as it goes west into Devon-
shire, and one little outlier of this formation is known to exist on
“Carbonaceous ” rocks so far away as Orleigh Court, near Bideford, in
North Devon, a fact of most interesting significance, as showing the
former extent of Cretaceous rocks over the whole of the intervening
area, and probably further. The main body of the Chalk now ranges
south in an irregular line to within 3 miles of the South coast. It here
enters a very troubled country, full of disturbances and faults, and
after making a curve to the east, which brings it within 1 mile of the
sea at Abbotsbury, its entire course for more than 15 miles to E. Chal-
don, near Lulworth, is determined by a great east and west fault,
which brings up against it Kimmeridge Clay, Portland Sand, and Stone,
the fresh-water beds of the Purbeck and Wealden series, and the
Greensand. The fault dies out here, but where the Chalk, Greensand,
and Wealden come to the coast near Lulworth other faults again come
in and create great confusion in the rock masses. They range at a high
angle all the way to the Foreland Pinnacles south of Studland Bay,
opposite to the Needles, their representatives in the Isle of Wig:};t.

a

A
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The Great Oolitic escarpment in this district presents a much mere

- regular range than that of the Chalk. At the Racecourse on Lans-
down, near Bath (where a most magnificent view of the surrounding
country in every direction may be obtained) we stand on the escarp-

. ment, aud see it running away N, by E., forming the range of the
Cotswolds, and S. by W. in like manner, in a line almost uninter-
rupted as far as the Mendips, against which it rests, but intersected by
narrow and deep river-valleys, the streams of which have cut their way
down through the Qolitic rocks in succession to the Lias (and in some
cases the Trias), and carry out the waste so formed into the Triassic
plain. Perbaps no view in the three counties gives one so good an
idea of their Physical Geography as this. Standing on a lofty platean of
the Great Oolite, you may see it sloping away from you towards the
S.E., and disappearing beneath the higher beds, these in turn doing
likewise, and in the dim distance the Chalk downs, with their rounded
softness of outline, capping the whole : to the W. the Oolitic outline of
Dundry, flat-topped, but, like the main mass, sloping east and standing
out in sharp contrast with the more rounded contour of the great range
of the Mendips beyond : to the N.W. the busy port of Bristol and,
almost at our feet, the Bristol and Somersetshire coal-field, concealed
for the most part by the Lias and New Red, but having its extent well
shown by the distant Carboniferous Limestone hills, which rise from be-
low it in almost every direction, The distant view embraces the Bristol
Channel and the mountains of South Wales beyond.

The Oolitic range, after running S.S.W. to where the Mendips meet it

at right angles, there rests on Trias, Coal-measures, Carboniferous lime-
stone and the Devonian axis ip turn. The Palaozoic rocks passed, it
continues its course in pretty much the same general direction as before,
with a tolerably regular range but jagged outline to near Yeovil. E. and
'W. faults now come in, and the range takes a westerly course to near
Crewkerne, then through a much faulted and broken country to
Beaminster, whence it pursues its old direction to the coast near
Bridport.

The Lias—although by fossils more nearly allied to the Oolites in its
geographical range in this country—is rather to be classed with the Trias,
upon which it lies over the greater part of the low country of the Coal-
measures to the N. of the Mendips, and also of the low country on its
southern flanks, and beneath the Blackdown Hills to the Dorsetshire
coast,

.- But when we have followed these formations through the range of
their main mass, and seen the bold front which in their whole length
they present towards the W. or N.W., and noticed how on that side in
every little combe and on each exposed bluff they are crumbling away
beneath the hand of time, we have not yet done with them. In tra-
versing the district of the older rocks, which runs away in an undulating
plain from beneath them, we still come upon isolated remnants of them,
which tower boldly above the surrounding country, ®ilent)but im-
pressive monuments of a state of things existing in ages long gone by,
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when the whole area was covered by them as by a sheet, which con-
cealed, and at the same time preserved from waste, the underlying forma-
tions. In the Oolitic rocks, we may mention as instances the long scarp
of Dundry Hill, and to the S.E. around Farnborough the outliers of
Stantonbury (with its camp), Wilmington, and those of the Sleight and
Barrow hills. These all consist of inferior Oolite resting on the sands.
Outliers of the sands upon the Lias marlstone are to be seen at Glaston-
bury Tor with its commanding view, and to the E. between E. Pen-
nard and Ditcheat. A marked outlier of the Lias marlstone on the
lower Lias is that of Brent Knoll 8. of the Bleadon Hills.

The Trias of the three counties is found for the most part in com-
paratively low ground resting on the denuded edges of the Carboni-
ferous and Devonian rocks. It is composed of several members. Great
masses of magnesian conglomerate full of fragments of Carboniferous
limestone, along the flanks of the Mendips, would appear to point to a
shore deposit, and the marls are so interbedded with them as to imply
a contemporaneous origin. The analogous shore-deposits resting on the
sides of the Devonian hills are in like manner full of fragments of the
slate and shale against which they lie, and from which they have been
undoubtedly derived. -

The Rheetic or Penarth beds (the highest member of the Trias in
England) were formerly supposed to belong to the Lias, and were co-
loured accordingly on the maps of the Government Geological Survey.*
A careful examination of their fossils a few years ago rendered it neces-
sary for them to take their place with the Triassic rocks, They arc
well shown on the beach near Watchet, Somersetshire; patches occur
on the top of the Mendips, and great treasures in the shape of mamma-
lian remains have been extracted from a fissure containing these beds
near Frome, by Mr. Charles Moore.

The Carboniferous Rocks.—* The northern part of the Bristol and
Somersetshire Coal-field forms a trough lying N. and 8., narrowing
towards its northern limits and expanding towards the opposite direction,
till E. of Bristol it reaches a width of seven miles, the beds rising at high
angles along and beyond the edge of the basin. South of Bristol the
boundary of the Coal-field, marked by the range of the Limestone hills,
sweeps round to the westward, and is lost under the sea beyond Nailsea
Moor, near Clevedon, in Somersetshire. South of this the Coal-measures
underlie the Liassic formation of Dundry Hill, and encircle the large
mass of Carboniferous limestone near Congresbury. Over the greater
part of this area the Coal-formation is buried at moderate depths under
newer horizontal strata.”

On the E. the Coal-measures pass beneath the Oolitic escarpment,
but have been proved by borings, &c., not to pass eastward of a line
joining Bath and Frome. The succession and thicknesses of the Car-

* They are now (1869) undergoing a careful survey, with a view to their elimmation from
the Lias, under the snrrintendenoe of Mr. Bristow, F.R.S,, with the assistance of Messrs.
H. P. Woodward and Blake.

+ * The Coalfields of Great Britain,’ by Edward Hull, F.R.S.
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boniferous strata near Dristol, are thus given by Mr. D. Williams, in
the publications of the Geological Survey of Great Britain :—

Feet.

Upper series, with 10 coal-seams . . . 1800

* Coal Measures { Central or Pennant Grit, with § ditto . 1725
Lower Shales, with 36 ditto . . . . . 1600

Millstone Grit, Hard Siliceous Grits, &c. . . . . . . . 950
Carboniferous Limestone . . . . . . . . . . . . 2338

The Carboniferous Limestone forms the long chain of the Mendips,
with its picturesque combes and crags, and lies in the form of an anti-
clinal or arch, its beds turning over to the N., and passing under the
Coal-measures, and also turning over to the S. beneath the Trias and
Lias formations; and, it is thought, ibly bringing on the Coal-
measures in that direction also. The Iggsinian rocks are to be seen at
severalbpla,ces appearing from beneath the limestone in the centre of
the arch.

The Limestone is full of caves and fissures, produced by the action of
rain-water full of carbonic acid gas dissolving its substance; and in
several of these cavities bones of extinct animals have been found, as at
Banwell and Wookey Hole. Ores of lead, iron, zinc, and manganese
are to be found in several localities.

The Devonian Rocks of the 3 counties are chiefly confined to West
Somerset, and form that beautiful country which comprises in its
borders the Forest of Exmoor and the fine hills of Brendon, Croydon,
and lastly, the Quantock, separated from the rest by a belt of Triassic
rocks. The beds of Devonian are composed of a large series of sand-
stones, grits, slates, shales, and limestones. Professor Jukes is of opinion
that these rocks represent the Carboniferous slate of Ireland, and that
by an inversion of the beds the series is repeated.t Mr. Etheridge
maintains that they are all distinct, and divides them into Lower,
Middle, and Upper, from consideration both of their fossils and their
range.; The wild beauty of some parts of these moors is very fine,
and the rich contrast of colour produced by the redness of the soil and
the bright green of the luxuriant pastures, very striking,

Having now traced the principal ranges of hills in the 3 counties,
and seen how they depend upon the extent and direction of rock masses,
we shall better be able to understand the drainage of the area by means
of its rivers. The great watershed of England which divides the sources
of rivers flowing N. and W. from those which discharge themselves on
the S. and E. coasts, enters the W, side of fnerset on the heights of
Exmoor, and runs with a wavy line towards the S.E. to a point N. of
Cerne Abbas, in Dorsetshire, and in its course crests the Devonian
heights of the Brendon Hills, thence across the Trias to the Greensand
hills of Blackdown by Chard, and above Crewkerne to near Cerne Abbas,
dividing in the first part of its course the lesser streams of W. Somerset,

* « Memoirs of the Geological Survey of Great Britain,’ vol. &. p. 207,

I « Notes on South Devon and Cornwall.’ Dublin.

1 ‘On the Physical Structure of W. Somerset and N. Devon,’ &c.,’ Quart. Journ. Geol.
Soc, December, 1867,



Introd. . of the three Counties. xiii

which enter the Bristol Channel, from the greater rivers of Devonshire,
the Exe and the Otter, which run to the 8. coast, and afterwards the
lesser streams of Dorsetshire from the larger basin of the Parrett on the
N. Thence its course is N. by Sherborne and Wincanton, along several
Oolitic scarps dividing the waters of the Stour from those of the Yeo, a
tributary of the Parrett. From near here the great Chalk escarpment
forms the division to Swindon all the way to Swindon, near which it
runs round to the N.W., encircling the sources of the Thames.

It is impossible in so short a sketch to give the Geology of the three
counties in detail. Those who wish to know more about any particular
part, will do well to consult the maps, sections, and other publications
of the Government Geological Survey.*

The maps, on the scale of 1 inch td a mile in particular, will be found
useful to pedestrians of a scientific turn, as, in addition to all the topo-
graphical details of the Ordnance Maps, they have geological lines and
colours superadded.

The following Table of Sedimentary Rocks occurring in Wilts,
Somerset, and Dorset, may be useful :—

Bagshot and Bracklesham beds.
CZENOZOIC .. EoceNe .. .. {London and Bognor Clay.
' Plastic Clay series.

Cbalk.

Chalk Marl. 4
Upper Greensand.
CRETACEOUS + { Gault.

Lower Greensand.
Wealden.

( Purbeck beds.
Portland beds.
Kimmeridge Clay.
Coral Rug.

Oourric .. ..\ Oxford Clay.

MESOZOIC .. Cornbrash.

Bradford Clay.

Great, or Bath, Oolite.

Inferior Qolite.

Upper Lias.
Laassic .« .. { Marlstone.
Lower Lias.

Rheetic or Penarth beds.
Red Marls.
Sandstones.
Dolomitic Conglomerate.

TRIASSIC .. {

* Professor Ramsay’s Geological Map of England and Wales may be found useful in
gaining a knowledge of the general run of the country.
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Mlstocs Gt

: i me Grit.
CARBONIFEROUSB .. | Garhoniferous Limestone.
Lower Limestone Shale.

PALZEOZOIC .. Pilton and Barnstaple beds.
Braunton beds.

Baigy and Marwood Slates.
Devo Pickwell Down Sandstones.
NIAN .. -+ { Grey Unfossiliferous Slate.
Calcareous Slates.
Hangman Grits.

Lynton Slates.

Lynton Sandstone.

B. HisTORY OF THE THREE COUNTIES.

At the time of the Roman invasion, Wiltshire and Somersetshire
were occupied by the immigrant Belge, of whose territory the Wans-
dyke was the N.E. boundary, reaching from the woodlands of Berk-
shire to the Bristol Channel.

‘We have no details of the Roman conquests in the 8.W. of England,
but it is probable that Vespasian made himself master of this district,
and carried the Imperial eagles over the Wansdyke. The Roman roads
that intersected this part of Britain, and the number and extent of
remains of military and domestic architecture which it presents, prove
a widespread and permanent occupation of the country. It bas been
thought that a College of Armourers was established by Hadrian at
A%um Solis (Bath), where it is certain from the character of the baths
and temples, &c., that have been excavated, that the Romans had a
populous and opulent colony. Other Roman stations in this district
were Sorbiodunum (Old Sarum), Vindogladia (Gussage Cow Down, near
Blandford), Durnovaria (Dorchester), Clavinium (Weymouth), Ischalis
(Ilchester), Uxela (Bridgwater), and Abona (Bitton on the Avon). The
hills show many marks of Roman military occupation, often combined
with the strongholds of the earlier inhabitants.

The retirement of the Romans left the country once more in the
hands of the native Britons and Romanized Britons, who in the sixth
century were called to defend their country against the invading hordes
of Cerdic and his sons. *Step by step, from a small settlement on the
Hampshire coast, the West Saxons had won their way, fighting battle
after battle against the Welsh (the native Britons), and after nearly
every battle extending their borders by a new acquisition of territory.”
—Freeman. In 520 the battle of Mons Badonicus (Badbury Rings,
near Wimborne), in which the Britons under Arthur were victorious,
gave a temporary check to Cerdic’s advance, and led to a treaty between
him and Arthur, followed by a period of comparative peace. Cerdic
died in 534, and Arthur in 542 (Guest). War broke out again, and in
552 Cynric totally defeated at Old Sarum a vast army of Britons raised
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against him. In 556 the desperate battle of Barbury Hill (near
Swindon), fought by Cynric and Ceawlin with the Britons under
Aurelius Conan, decided the fate of the country of the Wilseetas, which
thenceforward formed part of the kingdom of Wessex. Twenty-one
years later (677) the decisive battle o?Deorham, won by Ceawlin the
Bretwalda, sealed the fate of South Britain. The Britons lost their
three great fortified towns of Gloucester, Cirencester, and Bath, and
were thus cut off from their brethren in what we now know as Wales.
Divided and weakened, all hope of making head against the enemy was
gone. They retired westwards, where, separated from the kingdom of
Wessex by the Somersetshire Axe and the forests of Somersetshire and
Wiltshire, they long maintained their independence. * This was the
last heathen conquest waged by West Saxons against the Britons.
During a 8 of 300 years the conquest still went on. Step by step
the English frontier advanced from the Axe to the Parrett, from the
Parrett to the Tamar ; Taunton at one stage, Exeter at another, were
border fortresses against the Welsh enemy.”—Freeman. Wiltshire
saw the sun of its conqueror’s prosperity set when at the battle of Wan-
borough (near Swindon), A.p. 591, Ceawlin was defeated by the Welsh
headed by his rebellious nephew Ceolric, and compelled to abdicate his
throne. Two years after he died in exile. This defeat reduced Wessex
to a state of great weakness, from which it revived under Cenwalh, who
fought with signal success against the Britons at Bradford, A.p, 652,
and Penselwood, A.D. 658, and effected the final subjugation of Somer-
setshire north of Selwood. This victory, which made the district for
ever after English ground, was followed by a lasting peace, in which
the conquered sat down side by side with the conquerors. Struggles
for supremacy now began between Wessex and Mercia. In 675, Wulf-
here of Mercia was defeated by (Escwin of Wessex at Great Bedwyn.
In 715 a still fiercer battle was fought between the same powers in the
same district at Wanborough, between Ina and the forces of Mercia,
without any decisive result. The power of Mercia continually in-
creasing, Ethelbald, king of the Mercians, in 733 penetrated into the
heartu(lf Wesgex, and invested Somerton, which fell under his power,
the enfeebled Ethelard being unable to relieve it. About this time also
the Western Welsh became troublesome. In 721 they had risen and
seized on Taunton in Ina’s absence, but his queen recovered it, and
rased it to the ground. After Ina’s abdication the Welsh succeeded
in great measure in casting off the Saxon yoke, but were reduced to
subjection once more by Cuthred in 753. An expiring effort for supre-
macy on the of Mercia was effectually crushed in 823, when
Egbert defeated Beornwulf, king of the Mercians, at Ellandun, identi-
fied by many authorities with Wilton. Four years later Mercia sub-
mitted to the conqueror, and Egbert assumed the title of Bretwalda.
‘We now come to the epoch of Danish invasion. These inroads had
commenced in the reign of Beohrtric A.p. 787, on the coast of Dorset-
ghire. A successful landing took place in 833 at“Charmouth." The .
reigns of the son and grandsons of Egbert were almost wholly taken up
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by the struggle against these piratical marauders. Ethelred himself
fell in a battle with the heathen northerners near Wimborne, where he
was buried as a saint and martyr. Alfred was summoned from the
funeral to meet the Danish army at Ellendun (Wilton ?), where a long
and obstinate conflict left the enemy masters of the field. In 876
‘Wareham was surprised by them. Alfred purchased their retirement,
together with a pledge that they would not invade Wessex again. But
the next year saw them attacking Wareham, on their retreat from
which they fell in with Alfred’s fleet near Swanage, and were driven on
shore with great loss. The year 878 saw the most tremendous attack
on Wessex that had yet been witnessed. With largely increased forces
Guthrum’s army from Gloucester burst into the territory of. the Wil-
saetas, took the royal town of Chippenham, from which, as their head-
quarters, they made themselves masters of the whole country. For the
time all seemed lost. The marshes of the Sumersaetas alone remained
free from their ravages. Thither Alfred retired, and with the aid of
the faithful Somerset thanes, raised a fortress in the Isle of Athelney,
strong in its natural defences of morass and forest. At the end of
8 months he issued from his fastness, gathered round him a large
army, and dealt a crushing blow on the Danish power at Ethandun
(Edington, near Westbury). The Northmen were forced to conclude
the disgraceful peace of Wedmore, and their leader, Guthrum, had to
submit to the rite of baptism, which he received at Aller.

The feeble reign of Ethelred.saw the wearying spectacle renewed of
incessant landings and skirmishes of the Danes. In 988 Watchet was
attacked, several thanes were killed, but the enemy were at last beaten
off. Nine years later (997) they cruelly ravaged Somersetshire, and
the next year Dorsetshire. To avenge the atrocious massacre of St.
Brice’s Day, Swend invaded England in person 1003, and after stormin,
and plundering Exeter he marched into Wiltshire, and sacked Ol
Sarum and Wilton. In 1015 he made Bath his head-quarters, where
he received the submission of the Western thanes. Canute’s first landing
in England in 1015 was at Frome Mouth, the port of Wareham, whence
he proceeded to harry the shires of Somerset, Dorset, and Wilts, while
Ethelred lay sick at Corsham. On Ethelred’s death the next year, Wessex
acknowledged Edmund as king. The wisdom of their e¢hoice was soon
confirmed when Edmund’s small force met and routed the army of
Canute at Penselwood. In 1051 Bristol, which was rising into import-
ance chiefly as the seat of the Irish slave-trade, was selected by Harold
and his brother Leofwine as the place of embarkation for Ireland. On
their return in 1052 they landed at Porlock. The men of Somerset and
Devon met them in arms, and Harold began his enterprise of deliver-
ance by being compelled to do battle with those he came to deliver.
More than 30 thanes and a large number of meaner folk were slain,
and Harold returned to his ships victorious, to join his father Earl
Godwin’s fleet at Portland. The year succeeding the Norman Con-
quest, 1067, Harold’s three sons, who had taken refuge’ with! Dermot,
king of Leinster, attempted to enter England by the Avon, but were
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driven back by the people of Bristol, who knew that domestic tran-
quillity was essential to their commercial prosperity. In 1086 William
the Conqueror held his Court at Old Sarum. During the insurrection
in support of Duke Robert’s clairas to the throne of England under the
leadership of Odo of Bayeux, 1087, the district was much distressed by
the predatory excursions made by his supporters, Bp. Geoffrey, of Cou-
tances, and Robert de Mowbray, from gristol. Their followers burnt
Bath and attacked llchester, where they were repulsed.

In the 12th century the counties of Wilts, Somerset and Dorset were
the scene of many of the most stirring events during the struggle between
Stephen and the Empress Maud. The castle of Bristol was held by
Robert Earl of Gloucester, its lord, A.D. 1138, for his half-sister. That city
became the head-quarters of her partisans, from which they ravaged the
country round, which became a prey to their outrages and depredations.
Bath was held alternately by the forces of the two contending parties.
Maud’s cause was Slﬁ)porbed by William Louvel at Castle Cary, and Wil-
liam Fitz-John at Harptree. Stephen having vainly attempted to take
Bristol by siege, turned his attention to these two castles, both of which
surrendered. This success was followed by the submission of Wareham,
which had been occupied for Maud in this year. The warlike Bp. Roger
of Sarum, the chief builder of castles, as well as of churches of his day, was
at this time, with his nephews the Bishops of Lincoln and Ely, secretly
favouring the Empress’s cause, and had furnished his castles of Devizes,
Sherborne, Malmesbury, and Sarum with provisions and munitions to
support her claims. The three prelates being summoned to a Council
at Oxford, 1139, Roger and Bp. Alexander of Lincoln were arrested by
Stephen ; but Bp. Nigel of Ely escaping, took refuge at Devizes, which,
with the other strongholds, was soon surrendered to the king as the
price of the liberation of the two captive bishops.

The atrocities and devastation committed by the lords of the castles
on their unhappy neighbours were renewed by William of Mohun from
his castle of Dunster. Stephen having vainly attempted to take it by
assault, erected a fort to hold him in check, and succeeded in restoring
tranquillity to the harassed district.

In 1139 Baldwin de Redvers landed at Wareham, and occupied Corfe
Castle, being speedily followed by Maud and the Earl of Gloucester.
From Arundel the Empress proceeded by way of Calne to Bristol, where
she summoned the barons to her aid, and, as at Gloucester subsequently,
assumed royal state, and, unfortunately for her hopes of success, more
than royal imperiousness. Trowbridge Castle was held by a strong
garrison for her by Humphrey de Bohun, The castles of Devizes and
Malmesbury, with others, were continually being taken and retaken by
the cont.endin% parties.

‘When Stephen was taken prisoner at the battle of Lincoln, A.p. 1141,
he was transferred for safe custody to Bristol Castle. Maud, who was
now recognised as “Lady of England,” celebrated the Easter festival
this year in royal state at Wilton. The same year Maud, on her escape
from Winchester, fled first to Ludgershall and’then"to Devizes, and
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Stephen left his prison by exchange for the Earl of Gloucester, who had
been taken at Stockbridge. Bristol Castle soon became the home of
Maud’s young son, afterwards Henry II., who remained there for four
Years, Maud’s sovereignty was generally acknowledged by the western
counties, A.D. 1143, after the disastrous defeat of the royal forces at
Wilton, while Stephen held London and the eastern and central parts.
Sherborne, which was regarded as a principal key of the kingdom, was
surrendered to her, and at one time she made her temporary home at
Devizes. The chief strongholds in Wiltshire being held by the
adherents of the contending parties, that district became a prey to
rapine, bloodshed, and wide-spread misery, which was only terminated
by the treaty of 1153.

During the 15th and 16th centuries these three counties had a
breathing time, taking little if any share in the events which were
shaping our national history. At the period of Jack Cade’s rebellion,
1450, the ]%‘,p of Salisbury’s tenants rose and barbarously murdered the
prelate at Edington. In 1471 Margaret of Anjou and her son landed
at Weymouth and took refuge at Cerne ; shortly afterwards Edward 1V.
passed through Malmesbury on his way to Tewkesbury. In 1497 the
peace of the western counties was again disturbed by the invasion of
the pretender Perkin Warbeck and his adherents. Being confronted
with Henry VIL and his forces at Taunton, Perkin fled, and his forces
surrendered to the royal mercy. '

In the great civil war of the 17th century the western counties were,
with the exception of the great towns, firm in their loyalty to Charles I.,
and they became the scene of active warfare. In the early part of 1643
the Cornishmen took up arms for the king, defeated the Earl of Stamford
at Stratton, May 16, and advanced into Somersetshire. Numerous
sieges and engagements with various issue occurred. In May, Wardour
Castle was taken by Sir Edw. Hungerford, garrisoned by Ludlow, but
retaken by the royalists in March of the next year. In Sept.the Earl of
Essex was unexpectedly attacked on Albourne Chase by Charles I. and
Prince Rupert, and defeated with great loss. The same year the royalist
garrison of Malmesbury surrendered to Sir W. Waller, who had recently
made himself master of Chichester ; but it was speedily retaken, and in
July Waller was defeated at Lansdown near Bath, and at Devizes a few
days afterwards, by the royalist General Lord Wilmot. Shortly after
this serious loss, Prince Rupert made a fierce attack on Bristol, which
surrendered to him in three days. Corfe Castle sustained a determined
but unavailing siege from the Parliamentary forces. The following year
the sun of the king’s prosperity began to set in the west. Taunton
was taken for the Parliament by Col. Blake, but was soon afterwards
invested by the royalist forces. Lyme was besieged by Prince Maurice,
whose military reputation was seriously tarnished by the unsuccessful
issue of the attack, and in 1645 the Parliamentary forces of the new model,
animated by the sternest fanaticism, under the nominal command of Sir
Thomas Fairfax, but whose real leader was Cromwell, sweﬁm through
the west in an unbroken tide of conquest. Sherborne fell ‘after an
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obstinate defence of 16 days. Taunton, after enduring a siege of the
most extreme severity under Goring, was relieved, July 3, by the mere
tidings of their approach. Goring was defeated at Langport and Aller
Moor July 10: Bridgwater fell July 23, Bath July 30. These successes
cooped up the royalist forces in Devonshire and Cornwall, and precluded
them from sending any assistance to Charles. They were crowned by
the surrender of Bristol, after a very feeble defence by Prince Rupert,
Sept. 10. Devizes fell Sept. 23, and Cromwell, having done his work,
marched his forces to Donnington. Before this period armed associations
of Clubmen had been formed in the western counties, attaching them-
selves to neither party, with the object of checking the depredations
and violence of both armies. A large body of these were routed by
Cromwell on Hambledon Hill at the outset of his western campaign.

The peace generally prevailing through the Commonwealth was tem-

porarily broken by the abortive insurrection of Penruddocke in 1655.
- These counties were the theatre of the landing of the Duke of Mon-
mouth, his brief success, and disastrous defeat, followed by * the Bloody
Assize ” of Judge Jeffreys. Monmouth landed at Lyme, June 11,1685,
was proclaimed king at Taunton June 20, marched onwards by Bridg-
water June 21, Glastonbury June 22, Wells, Shepton Mallet, with the
view of seizing Bristol. Foiled in that hope, and finding the gates of
Bath shut against him, he turned towards Wiltshire, and, after a
skirmish at Philip’s Norton, reached Frome, his forces wearied and
dispirited. Without any settled plan of a campaign he returned to
‘Wells, and re-entered Bridgwater July 2, to sustain a complete overthrow
at Sedgemoor, July 6. The infamous cruelties of Kirke and the judicial
barbarities of Judge Jeffreys are inseparably connected with Taunton,
Dorchester, and the other towns which had the misfortune of welcoming
Monmouth.

Three years later these counties witnessed the triumphal progress of
William of Orange, and the last feeble attempt of James II. to secure
his throne and crown. Having landed at Torbay, Nov. 5, 1688, the
beginning of December saw William at Salisbury, occupying the same
apartments in the episcopal palace that James had left only a few days
before, on the resignation of his vain scheme of meeting the invader in
the field. The first blood spilt was shed in a skirmish at Wincanton,
On Oct. 6 he reached Hungerford, and held a conference with the Royal
Commissioners at Littlecote Hall. :

The annals of the counties during the last 180 years have been
happily uneventful.
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WILTSHIRE.

1. PuysicaL FEATURES,

' The chalk downs are so characteristic of Wiltshire, that the popular
notion of that county is one vast Salisbury Plain. But this, like other
rapid generalisations, needs considerable modification. If a line be
drawn from Bishopston in N.E. to Cley Hill in S.W. of the county,
for the most part parallel to, and about 4 miles distant from, the rail-
way from Shrivenham to Frome by Chippenham, all to S. or S.E.
of that line will be chalk and the kindred formations, and all to the
N.W. of it, will be more or less Oxford clay and Cornbrash—three-
fifths of the one to two-fifths of the other.

These are the two great natural divisions of the county, the one
“chalk,” the other “cheese.” .

The monarch of English chalk mountains, Inkpen Beacon, is on the
very confines of the county, 972 feet; and from his throne radiate two
great masses of chalk, one extending northwards from Marlborough
Down to the north of Norfolk and the Wash ; the other extending from
Salisbury Plain southwards as far as Dorchester, and eastwards over
the whole of the central part of Hampshire, with two long and distended
arms, the North Downs reaching to Deal, and the South Downs reaching
to Beechy Head, embracing between them the vale country of the
Kent and Sussex Weald.

The chalk in Wilts is divided into a N. portion (Marlborough Downs),
and a S.L}‘.r?a.lisbury Plain).

The 1borough Downs have a bold escarpment on each side.
Some of the eminences on N. are Charlborough Hill, Liddington Castle,
Barbury Castle, Hackpen, Oldbury, Roundway ; and overlooking the
vale of Pewsey on 8., St. Ann’s Hill, Walker’s Hill, Golden Ball Hill,
Hewish Hill, and the picturesque bluff of Martensell. Salisbury Plain
has no such bold outline. The most striking points in its N. and W.
circuits are Easton and Pewsey Hills, which command the vale of
Pewsey ; Cheverill, Edington, Bratton, and Westbury hills, with the
striking outlier of Cley Hill, Battlesbury, and Scratchbury camps:
Mere, Fonthill, Chilmark are on N. of Nadder valley, and Chiselbury
Camp and Whitesheet Hill on 8. of it.

The North-western or ““Cheese” valley rises gradually towards the
Cotswolds, & spur of which thrown out from the main range by way of
Rodmarton into the clay vale of Minety, between Tetbury and
Cirenceater, is the watershed between the sources of two considerable
rivers, turning the Avon to W. and the Bristol Channel, and the Isis,
or rather the Thames, to E. and the German Ocean. The former, the
Avon, with its affluents, drains almost the whole of the north-western
valley. Rising in a piece of ornamental water in Estcourt Park, it winds
through a narrow tortuous valley to Malmesbury, where it is joined by
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the Newnton stream, a not inconsiderable brook, from Badminton
through Easton Grey ; it next passes through Dauntsey and Christian
Malford, is joined above Chippenham by the Marden (a stream from E.,
which gathers contributions from the western slopes of the Marlborough
Downs, communicates with the lake at Bowood, and flows by Stanley
Abbey), and with a wide loop reaches Chippenham ; then, with many
a bend, passes Lacock Abbey, Melksham, Broughton Gifford (where
it receives the brook of that name from the west), Whaddon (where it
receives the brook of that name from the east), Bradford (receiving in
the interval the Biss from Trowbridge), and so passes out of the county
by Limpley Stoke and Freshford. The scenery of the higher portion of
the river is of a tranquil, and, a8 compared with that lower down, of a
tame character. The stream, strongly coloured by the alluvial de-
poeit through which it eats its way, flows between meadow banks ; the
reaches now straight, now winding, the volume of water, the dipping
willows, and bulky elms by the side, the banks gay with the purple
loosestrife, bulrushes, and broad flags, the sheltered nooks of the sur-
face, paved with the platter-like leaf and yellow flower of the water-
lily, the level meadows dotted with the large dairy cows, grazing
beasts, and a few sheep, the gentle slopes which lead the eye to the
distance beyond, on the right hand to the offshoots of the Cotswolds,
on the left hand to the barrier of naked downs, for the most part regular
in outline, but sharp and angular at Roundway, straighter along the
plain, terminating at last in the unmistakable. tumulus of Cley Hill,
the mid landscape on either side, consisting of different farm home-

factory chimneys, and church towers, reminding of the business
of this life and the happiness of a better—

“In the mixture of all these appears
Variety that all the rest endears.”

As the Avon approaches Bath, it passes through deep and green
valleys; further on still, at Clifton, through rock and wood. The
interest gradually increases, and culminates at the Leigh Woods.

The best points from which this north-western valley can be seen
are Liddington Castle, the descent of the road near C{iseldon, Bar-
bury Castle, the road above Cherhill, or Roundway. Spye Park and
Monkton Farleigh look face to face, the one W., the other E.; they
are two of the finest positions in N. Wiltshire, and command the most
beautiful part of this valley from Lacock to Bradford.

There are two other valleys in Wilts, both in shape not unlike those
ancient stone celts which are found on these downs and in the gravel
beds of the rivers; their broad ends are towards the W. The vale of
Pewsey extends across the centre of the county nearly to its eastern limit
at Hungerford, and divides the chalk, while the Nadder valley in the ex-
treme S. reaches from Donhead to Salisbury.

The chalk streams themselves do not follow the course of these
valleys; the streams run from N. to 8., the valleys from E, to W.
This seemingly perverse habit of chalk streams flowing‘in’gorges or
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transverse fissures, obtains here as further eastward, where the Chiltern
Hills are pierced by the Thames; the north downs by the rivers Wey,
Mole, Darent, Medway, and Stour; while the south downs are broken
through by the Test, the Itchen, the Arun,the Adur, the Ouse, and the
Cuckmere.

Thus in Wiltshire the central platean of chalk called Salisbury Plain
is pierced by the Bourne Brook, by the Southern or Hampshire Avon,
by the Wily, and by the Nadder—all of which meet in the neighbour-
hood of Salisbury (profanely called the Sink of the Plain), and there,
sometimes divided into two or more channels, sometimes united,

“ Like friends once parted,
Grown single-hearted,
Ply their watery tasks,”
in a tolerably straight line southward through a single valley, under
the name of the Avon, into the sea at Christchurch.

We have already seen how a low watershed in the N. turns the
streams E. and W.

But perhaps the most interesting hydrographical point in the county
is near its centre, where the Wansdyke so boldly crosses St. Ann’s
Hill. From this spot the waters reach three different seas. Three
miles N., Wellhead, near Silbury, may be considered the permanent
(the brook which springs from Cleveancy fields is intermittent) and
therefore the real source of the Kennet, which joins the Thames, and
at last reaches the German Ocean: at Bishop’s Cannings, two miles S,
is the source of the Hampshire Avon, which empties into the English
Channel : Blackland Brook rises four miles W. at Calston, and flows
through the Somersetshire Avon to the Atlantic. The sources of these
three streams are the three points of a nearly equilateral triangle, of
which each side is about 5 miles long,

John Aubrey, the Wiltshire naturalist and antiquary, whose name

must ever be held in the kindly remembrance of Wiltshire men, for
using his eyes and making his memoranda, where others were blind or
idle, noted these streams thus taking their courses * three several
waies.”
. The road which runs from E. Knoyle to Shaftesbury, in the extreme
S.W. of the county, marks another watershed, dividing the sources of
the Nadder and the Stour, though these streams ultimately unite,
after a severance throughout almost the whole of their course, just
above their outfall into the English Channel at Christchurch.

The natural and moral influences of North and South Wiltshire, the
“cheese” and the “chalk,” leading divisions of the county, cannot be better
summed up than in Aubrey’s words—* According to the severall sorts of
earth in England (and so all the world over) the indigence are respec-
tively witty or dull, good or bad. In North Wiltshire (a dirty clayey
country) the ndigence or aborigines speake drawlinge; they are phleg-
matique, skins pale and livid, slow and dull, heavy of spirit; hereabout
is but little tillage or hard labour; they only milk the cowes and make
cheese ; they feed chiefly on milke meates, which cools their braines too
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much, and hurts their inventions. These circumstances make them
melancholy, contemplative, and malicions; by consequence whereof
come more law suites out of North Wilts, at least double to the
southern parts. And by the same reason they are generally more apt
to be fanatiques; their persons are generally plump and feggy;
gallipot eies, and some black; but they are generally handsome
enough.” *Contrariwise on the Downes, &c., the south part, where ’tis
all upon tillage, and where the shepherds labour hard; their flesh is
hard, their bodies strong. Being weary after hard labour, they have not
leisure to read on or contemplate of religion, but goe to bed to their
rest to rise betime the next morning to their labour.”

II. GeoroGY.

The geology of Wiltshire is simple. The range of the rocks extends
to none older than the upper beds of the lias, nor to any newer than the
white chalk, except it be those small but important portions of tertiary
clays, sands, and gravels, the highest strata of which are some Brackles-
ham sands near Bramshaw, and the largest portion of which overlies the
chalk in Savernake forest. Moreover, there has been very little disturb-
ance in the strata, which lie one over the other in parallel beds, or, as
it is termed, “conformably.” But within this comparatively limited
range of rocks lie the oolites and the greensand, which are so fully dis-
played and easily studied in the railway cuttings and quarries. :

The North-western valley belongs to the oolitic system, the several
beds of which show themselves throughout its length from Highworth
in the E. to Bradford in the W,

The broad bend of the lead-coloured Oxford clay, sometimes less than
four, sometimes eight miles wide, extends over the Avon valley from
‘Westbury northwards to Minety, and thence eastward over the valley
of the infant Thames by Cricklade and Castle Eaton. The railway for the
most part runs along it from Wootton Bassett to Chippenham, and
thence to Westbury ; and on the Gloucester line from Purton to beyond
Minety. Much trouble it gave the contractors by the slips which took
place in the cuttings. It contains in great numbers the ammonite and
belemnite, the straight dart-like guard of which last animal, vulgarly
called the “ thunderbolt,” continually occurs in the gravel drift which
comes from this formation. Below it lies Kellaway Rock, so called
from its being well developed at Kellaways, north of Chippenham.
Above it on E. are beds of a ragged and crystalline limestone, called
coral rag, which lie between the upper and lower calcareous grit.
These formations compose a country of moderate elevation, stretching
away E. of the Oxford clay basin, from Westbury, through Steeple
Ashton, Keevil, Sandridge, Calne, Lyneham, Lydiard Millicent, the
Blunsdens, and Highworth. This range of coralline oolite is again
bounded on E. by Kimmeridge clay, of which we shall hear again in
Dorsetshire. As the coralline rag country was comparatively elevated,
8o the Kimmeridge clay runs parallel to it, in a continuous depression
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" between it and the escarpment of the chalk, from Westbury to Rowde,
and from Calne to Shrivenham Station. Swindon Junction lies in the
midst of it, and the railway passes through it from Shrivenham to
Wootton Bassett. This clay is overlaid by strata of sand and lime-
stone, which, from their large development further south, are called
Portland oolite: these are found at three spots in the county—Old
Swindon, Potterne, and the Nadder valley—where they are quarried at
Fonthill Gifford, Tisbury, and Chilmark. A bit of Purbeck limestone,
the highest bed of the oolitic series, is quarried at Old Swindon. But
the finest quarries are those of the great oolite which yield those mag-
nificent blocks of cream-coloured freestone, which are sent from Box
and Corsham all over England. These, several feet in thickness, and
without a joint, are the true oolite, being generally composed of small
rounded grains, resembling the roe of a fish. The cornbrash and forest
marble are full of fossil shells, much broken ; near Bradford thick beds
of clay occur between oolitic limestone beds, and in these are found the
crinoids, or lily-like animals now in stone; the rayed body or lily itself,
is mounted on the long tender stalk, which is still attached to the rock,
where the creatures were undisturbed, when potted in clay, for our
exhumation and admiration. The slaty or flaggy beds of the forest
marble are much quarried for roofing tiles, and their surfaces frequently
show the mark produced by the ripple of the waves upon them, as
they were being deposited. Drifted shells, the casts of sea-worms,
the tracks of crabs, the bones, teeth, palates, and scales of fishes and
saurians are also found in the forest marble, as may be well seen in’
the quarries about Wormwood, between Box and Atworth.

Rather more than half the surface of the county consists of chalk, the
upper beds being soft and with flints, the lower harder and without
flints. The lower beds of chalk contain some clay, and often form a sort
of lower terrace for that upper and thicker pure calcareous mass, which
consists almost wholly of carbonate of lime. Among the fossils of the
chalk are sponges, corallines, sea-urchins, bivalve and other shells; and
many forms of oyster, fishes’ teeth and palates are embedded in it, but
no bones of land animals, or land or river shells.

The upper greensand, gault, and lower greensand are disposed in
bands more or less parallel round the northern and western borders of
the Marlborough Downs and Salisbury Plain, and on the north and
south margins of the Nadder Valley. But the upper greensand is
more than a mere margin to the chalk. The whole of the Pewsey-
Valley (a remarkable section is in the railway cutting E. of Devizes), a
considerable portion of that of Nadder, as well as the small but broad
indentation which runs up from the Wily Valley by Warminster to
Maiden Bradley and Stourton, are scooped out of the upper greensand :
the latter makes Cley Hill a peninsula, and at Stourhead reaches an
elevation of more than 800 feet; on the edge of the escarpment King
Alfred’s tower is built.

The lower greensand in Wiltshire contains so large a proportion of
iron as to render many of its beds capable of smelting; thus traces
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of old furnaces have been found at Seend, Bromham, and Sandy Lane,
and these could be worked successfully as long as the neighbouring
forests of Melksham and Pewsham supplied the necessary fuel. That
being exhausted, the ore, however rich, became valueless, till the rail-
way afforded means of conveyance, either of coal to the iron or iron to the
coal. Accordingly smelting furnaces have been erected at Seend, where
Johun Aubrey found iron more than 200 years ago. * Underneath this
sand,” he says, speaking of Seend, “I discovered the richest iron ore
that I ever'saw or heard of. Come there on a certain occasion, at the
Revell 1666, it rained at 12 or 1 of the clock very impetuously, so that it
had washed away the sand from the ore, and walking out to see the
country about 3 p.M., the sun shining bright, reflected itself from the
ore to my eyes. The forest of Melksham did extend itself to the foot
of this hill. It was full of goodly oaks, and so near together that they
say a squirrel might have leaped frem tree to tree. It was disafforested
about 1635, . . . Now there is scarce an oak left in the whole parish, and
oaks are very rare all hereabout, so that this rich mine cannot be melted
and turned to profit.” Furnaces have also been erected cloge to the
Westbury Station, where the ore is found in the coral rag, which,
through a fault there, had been brought into contact with the greensand.

In the neighbourhood of Alderbury, Platford, and Damerbam are
tertiary remains—a spot of Bracklesham sand at Bramshaw being the
highest and most eastern stratum in the county.

Flints ate, as usual, found everywhere on the upper white chalk.
On many parts of the summit levels of the great chalk platform, parti-
cularly on the north, is plastic clay, notably in Savernake forest, and at
Great and Little Bedwyn: overlying this are insular beds, sometimes of
London clay, and sometimes of Lower Bagshot sands (on elevated points
of which last are placed Lord Ailesbury’s obelisk and Chisbury Camp).
All these are the remains of that wonderful aqueous action, which has
uncovered all else in the whole of this district.

But the most obvious results of this denudation, in some of the
hollows in the downs, about Marlborough and Kennet particularly, are
those well known and singular masses of hard white siliceous grit,
known provincially as Sarsen stones, grey wethers, or Druid sandstone,
from their having been employed in the construction of the supposed
Druidical temples at Avebury wholly, and Stonehenge for the most

These, no doubt, once belonged to the lower tertiary strata that
formerly covered the chalk, and were left stranded in the hollows, when
the looser materials of those beds were swept onward. They are almost
peculiar to the Wiltshire Downs, and their appearance is most striking.
One trail of them may be seen about four miles from Marlborough on
the Bath road ; nowhere are they more thick than in the hollow which
leads up to and beyond the Devil’s Den, but perhaps they show to
most advantage mixed with trees in Lockeridge Deme. They are now
largely used for pitching and other such purposes, the means of accu-
rately splitting them by breaking the outer skin being a recent
discovery ; the old mode was by fire and water. )

[Wilts, Dorset, &c.] o
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In the immediate beds of the streams are drift or alluvial deposits of.
gravel, flint and chalk rubble in the chalk streams, and of these mate~
rials, together with oolitic gravel, in the Lower Avon. In this last mam-
malian drift, so called, are the remains of red deer, ox, horse, elepbant,
hippopotamus, and rhinoceros, together with land and freshwater
shells. These remains are characteristic of the gravel of the valleys, as
distinguished from the drift of the hills. The railway west of Melksham
runs through this gravel for two miles, and has conveyed it thence for
the purposes of ballasting the line down to Weymouth. The geological
collections of Mr, Cunnington at Devizes, a local geologist with more
than a local reputation, of the Wiltshire Archaological and Natural

History Society also at Devizes, and of the Blackmore Museum at -

Salisbury, are of the greatest interest. A large, varied, and well-selected
series of specimens from different countries, belonging to the earliest
period of human occupation, or the “ Stone Age ” of antiquaries, renders
the Blackmore Museum unrivalled in this country.

III. DEscripTiON, COMMUNICATIONS, INDUSTRIAL RESOURCES.

Wiltshire, in the Saxon Chronicles Wiltunscir, in Domesday Wilte-
sctre, derives its name through the town of Wilton, from the Wil-saetas
(scetan = settlers or inhabitants) the West Saxon tribe, who made it
their home. Its shape is that of a parallelogram, with its longest
diameter from N. to S., and its northern corners rounded off. It is an
inland county, without any seacoast; bounded on N.W. by Gloucester-
shire ; N.E., Berkshire ; E., Hampshire ; S., Hampshire and Dorsetshire ;
‘W., Somersetshire. Its greatest length is 54 m., from N. to S; its
greatest breadth, 37 miles, from E. to W. It includes an area of
777,453 acres, or about 1215 sq. m. Its population amounted in
1851 to 254,221 ; in 1861, to 249,311 persons.

Wiltshire is now almost entirely an agricultural county; dairy
farming in N, corn and sheep in 8. The N.W. portion was formerly
one of the chief seats of the clothing trade; but this has migrated
in great part to the northern towns of England. The manufacture is
still carried on with some activity in the towns on the river Avon,
which supplies the water-power. At Wilton are carpet works. Swin-~
don is a vast railway workshop and depdt. There is a good deal of
malting and brewing carried on in several of the large towns. Kennet
ale is famous. Iron foundries are in active work at Westbury, and were
in operation at Seend. Altogether, the trad® of Wilts is considerable,
though it cannot compete with the great manufacturing districts.

The county is well supplied with railway communication. The
Great Western Railway enters the county near Swindon, and runs S.W.
by Chippenham and Corsham to Bath. A branch runs from Chippenham
by Melksham, Trowbridge and Westbury, to Weymouth, meeting the line
from Hungerford by Pewsey and Devizes, at Holt, near Melksham ; and
at Westbury, that by Heytesbury and Warminster from Salisbury. The
Great Western throws off branches from Swindon (by Minety to Chel-
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tenham, and from Chippenham to Calne. Salisbury is a railway centre,
communicating, besides the Westbury line already mentioned, with
London direct by the South-Western Railway by Andover, and with
Exeter by Yeovil ; with Southampton and Portsmouth by Romsey and
Bishopstoke ; and directly with Weymouth, Poole, and the whole of
the S. by Fordingbridge.

In the northern part of the county are three great lines of canal:
the Thames and Severn, the Wilts and Berks, and the Kennet and
Avon, The two former are joined by the N. Wilts Canal, between
Cricklade and Swindon; and the two latter unite S. of Melksham.
S. Wilts is almost entirely destitute of canals.

IV. AxrtiQuiTiEs—BRITISH, ROMAN.

No county in England can exhibit more numerous and more
interesting remains of its aboriginal inhabitants than Wiltshire. The
early population dwelt chiefly upon the hills, which everywhere
show evident marks of having been densely peopled, and subjected to
cultivation. The valleys, obstructed with dense forests and undrained
marshes, were as little suited for tillage as for defence, and would be
less salubrious than the uplands. Over the downs are scattered, in
profusion, British camps and earthworks, boundary ditches and track-
ways, and foundations of the groups of huts which formed the prima:val
villages. These elevations are also everywhere tumid with sepulchral
barrows and mounds, of varied shapes and dimensions, attesting the long
occupation of these grassy hills by the Celtic tribes who are supposed
to have first colonised Britain. Traces of their agricultural activity
are to be noticed in the “ lynchets,” or terraces, with which the sloping
sides of the downs are scored, evidencing the action of the plough.

The primeval antiquities of Wiltshire and the adjacent counties may
be brier enumerated under the following heads :—

Stone Circles.—Avebury, with its avenues (the first monolithic
example in England); Stonehenge.

Sacred Circles, formed by a bank and ditch, the ditch being inside
the rampart.

" Cromlechs, e.g. « the Devil’s Den,” and Temple Bottom, near Marl-
borough (now destroyed); Littleton Drew, near Castle Combe; the
sepulchral structures at Lanhill, Luckington, and Shurdington.

British Boundaries. The most remarkable are the Wansdyke and
Bokerley-ditch. The Wansdyke enters Wilts at Great Bedwyn ; goes
through Savernake, and over Marlborough Downs (on St. Anu’s Hill it
is most perfect) by Calstone, Heddington, Spy Park, Neston Park ;
crosses the Avon valley at Bathford ; makes a circuit on the high
ground to S. of Bath, over Claverton Down to Prior Park and English
Combe, where it is very conspicuous in the fields W. of the church. It
continues, marked by deep lanes, to Stantonbury, of which it formed the
N. boundary ; and thence by Publow and Bulleton to Maes Knoll;
crosses Highbridge Common, runs along Deep Combe Lane bang across
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the meadows to Wonesditch Lane ; crosses the Ashton Road at Ray-
mond’s Cross, enters Portbury Hundred, traverses Clapton Hill, and
ends at Portishead.

British Roads: particularly the Ridge Way, which runs N.E. from
Avebury by the camps of. Barbury and Liddington. They generally
pursue a course along the high land, which the Romans avoided as
much as possible.

British Villages, the sites of which are still to be traced on the slopes
of Marlborough Downs and Salisbury Plain. The British pit dwellings,
a mile N.W. of Salisbury, on the Devizes road may be mentioned.

Banks and Ditches, which marked out the lines of communication -
from village to village.

Barrows, studding all the chalk hills and valleys: which have been
classed in four divisions—the Long-barrow, probably the earliest sepul-
chral mounds in Britain, Bowl-barrow, Bell-barrow, and Druid-barrow
—the three first so named from their shape, the fourth consisting of
one or more tumuli, enclosed within a circular ditch, sometimes 100 ft.
in diameter., The Wiltshire barrows, particularly those which surround
the temples of Avebury and Stonehenge, rank amongst the most
ancient in England, and are supposed to date from a time preceding
the arrival of the Romans. They are also very remarkable for the
variety and symmetry of their forms. Nearly all the long barrows
stand E. and W., the wider end being towards the E. Out of 11
opened by Mr. Cunnington, 9 had skeletons reposing at the E. end.
In chalk districts, where stone was scarce, the bones usually rest on
the natural surface of the soil, after the removal of the turf; but where
stone is plentiful, the body was deposited in a chamber at the E. end
formed of large slabs, as at Littleton Drew and West Kennet. In a
few instances a rough pavement of flint nodules was found under the
bodies. At Winterbourne Stoke round hollows were found sunk in
the chalk, near the bones—perbaps as receptacles for food and drink,
Many of these sepulchral mounds were opened by Sir R. C. Hoare, who,
in his ¢ History of Ancient Wiltshire, has given us an interesting
account of their contents: how in one he found the skeleton of the
child clasped in the mother’s arms; in another the hunter, with his
faithful dog; in a third the maiden still encircled by her little beads
and trinkets ; in a fourth the warrior in the midst of his weapons, and
with the drinking-cup by his side. Three modes of interment appear
to have been pursued. In the first the skeleton reposes on the right
side with its head to the W. or N.W., and its legs drawn up; in the
second it is extended at full length; in the third the body has been
burnt, and the ashes deposited either in a cist cut in the chalky ground,
or within a funereal urn. With these relics of mortality are found the
arms and the personal ornaments of the dead—arrowheads of flint, rude
axes of stone, beads of glass, jet, or amber, and, occasionally, articles of
brass, gold, or iron. These have been more usually found in the bowl
ordbell-shaped barrows; the interments in the long barrows were more
rude,
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Entrenchments, viz.: 1. rectangular enclosures, probably the rude
defences of villages; 2. camps on elevated points, varying in size and
construction, and of which Old Sarum, Battlesbury, and Scratchbury,
near Warminster, are remarkable specimens.

Other camps that deserve mention are, Barbury and Badbury, near
Swindon, Bratton Castle, Figbury, or Chlorus’ Camp, Ogbury, Sid-
bury, Casterley Camp, and Yarnborough.

The two great centres from which Roman roads diverged were Aquse
Solis (Bath), and Sorbiodunum (Old Sarum). They ran thus:

1. ¥rom Bath one road (the Fosseway) went N.E. to Corinium
(Cirencester), and S.W. to Wells, where it divided into two branches,
one of which passed by Uxela (Bridgwater) to Isca (Exeter), the other
by Ischalis (Ilchester) to Moridunum on the 8. coast (perhaps Seaton).
2. Another road (Via Julia) from Bath went E. by Verlucio (Sandy
Lane, near Heddington) and Cunetio (Folly Farm, near Marlborough)
to Calleva (Silchester), and W. by Abona (Bitton), across the Severn
estuary to Venta Silurum (Caerwent). 3. From Sorbiodundm one
road went N.E. to Silchester ; another due E. to Venta Belgarum
(Winchester) : the continuation of both (Via Iceniana) passed through
Vindogladia (Gussage Cow Down near Blandford), Durnovaria (Dor-
chester), along the S. coast to Moridunum and Exeter. 4. Between
Cirencester and Cunetio,

V. ARCHITECTURE AND CHURCHES,
ARCHITECTURE. ‘

1. Military.—Of the castles of Wiltshire, so famous in the wars of
the 12th and 13th centuries, and invested once more with a temporary
interest during the Parliamentary wars, little remains beyond their
foundations and earthworks. The mounds of Old Sarum, Devizes,
and Marlborough are conspicuous for their bulk, and of the two
former sume small fragments of building in walls and vaults still exist.
Castle Combe is reduced to a heap of rubbish. So is Sherrington.
Trowbridge has completely passed away. Of Ludgershall only a small
fragment survives. The only castle of which there are any consider-
able remains is that of Wardour, and it is of considerable architectural
interest. Farleigh Castle, being just over the border, is claimed by
the county of Somerset.

II. Domestic.—Of domestic architecture few, if any, counties possess
s0 many and such admirable specimens. Besides the more remarkable
examples, of the chief of which a list is given below, a vast number of
old manorhouses are scattered over the county, usually degraded into
farmhouses, and more or less dilapidated, and, we regret to add, yearly
diminishing before the march of modern improvement. In N. Wilts
nearly every parish possesses one or more such specimens, with a long
gabled front, two-storied porch, stone-mullioned and labelled windows,
stone-tiled roofs, and the remains of handsome oak panelling within.

The following list gives the more important domestic remains :—
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Fourteenth Cent.— Stanton St. Quentin; Place House, Tisbury ;

‘Woodlands, Mere ; Barton farm, Bradford ; Wardour Castle.
Fifteenth Cent.—Great Chaldfield; Norrington; Pottern; Salisbury,

houses in the Close and City; South Wraxhall (remodelled in the

reigns of Henry VIIL, Elizabeth, and James).
Sixteenth Cent. and later.—Bradford, Duke’s House ; Charlton; Cors-
ham ; Littlecot ; Longleat ; Longford ; Wilton.

The magnificent modern mansions of Bowood, Wilton House,
Grittleton, Stourhead, Trafalgar, and Wardour, are celebrated as well
for their architecture as for the works of art some of them contain.

III. The Monastic foundations of Wiltshire have been almost
entirely swept away. Malmesbury preserves a large fragment of its
magnificent church, and some small portions of the conventual
buildings. Lacock retains its beautiful cloisters of the 15th cent.,
and its chapter-house and kitchen of the 13th. Bradenstoke has some
excellent remains of domestic buildings of the 14th cent. The traces
of Monkton Farleigh are very insignificant.

CHURCHES.

This county presents at least two different kinds of churches,
varying according to the locality and the nature of the material.
In the northern part, and some parts of the south-western district,
good stone abounds, and consequently the churches are large and fine,
with well-finished exteriors. In the southern and eastern parts, where
there is a chalk soil, flints are the common material, and the churches
are smaller and more homely in character. Wooden belfries or
diminutive steeples often occur; but the latter are sometimes un-
usually situated. Many are interesting from presenting early archi-
tectural features, both Norman and Early English. In some parts we
find both chalk and stone combined, and a very mixed character in
the churches.

In the north and western districts are several large churches,
approaching in their general features those of Gloucestershire and
Somersetshire ; and even in smaller examples the work is often good
and well finished. Among these are several which have the exterior
chiefly of Perpendicular character, and some lofty and rich towers, as
Cricklade St. Mary, Calne, and Devizes St. Mary.

Cruciforma churches are not very uncommon in this county; some
on rather a large scale, as Cricklade St. Sampson, Bishop’s Cannings,
Devizes St. John, Purton, Downton, Heytesbury, Great Bedwin.

Two churches in the county, Purton and Wanborough, present the
anomaly of two steeples, one in the centre, the other at the west end.
An elegant pyramidal bell-turret is not uncommon in the north-
western district, as at Acton Turvill, Sutton Benger, Corsley, Bidde-
stone, and Great Chaldfield.

Though in the district where good stone is used the prevailing
external features may be Perpendicular, there is abundance of work in
the earlier styles, of the best character.
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There are some steeples of the * packsaddle” form, at North and
South Wraxhall and Winsley. Stone spires are not very uncommon,
but, excepting the magnificent one at Salisbury, not very remarkable
for height or beauty. Examples are at Chilmark, Salisbury St. Martin,
Trowbridge, Chippenham, Box, Purton, Bishop’s Cannings, &c.

The finest Norman work is at the Abbey Church, Malmesbury, but a
good deal of this church is of transition to the next style. ‘Ihere is
also good Norman work at Devizes St. John, Devizes St, Mary, Cors-
ham, and Preshute; and transitional in Ogbourne and the nave of
Great Bedwin. At Britford and North Barcombe is some work which
has a Saxon appearance,

Salisbury Cathedral is of course unrivalled as an Early English
examfle, on a very large scale. Bishop’s Cannings and Potterne are
fine churches of this style, almost unmixed; and very good work may
be seen also at Purton, Downton, Ambresbury, Cricklade St. Sampson,
%}ilingbourne—Kingston, Salisbury St. Martin, and the chancel of Great

win.

There is a very fine Decorated work in Cricklade St. Sampson,
where the windows have beautiful tracery, but there is probably less of
this than of the other styles in this county.

Of Perpendicular work are the nave and tower of Devizes St. Mary,
Cricklade St. Sampson, the church of Salisbury St. Thomas, the tower
of Marlborough St. Peter, and the principal part of those of Bradford,
Trowbridge, and Mere.

Stone groining is not uncommon in this county — of Norman
character in the chancels of St. John and St. Mary, Devizes. Early
English, at Bishop’s Cannings, Urchfont, and Marlborough St. Peter.
At Urchfont is also a porch entirely of stone. There are several
Norman fonts. Sedilia are not very frequent, but piscinze of various
kinds and aumbryes are common.

VI. PracEs OF INTEREST.

Swindon.—G. W. Rly. Works; Camps of Barbury and Liddington Castle;
‘Wanborough Ch.

Chy m.-- Bradenstoke Priory; Draycot Cerne; Bowood (pictures);

Imesbury Abbey; Charlton Park (pictures); Castle Combe; Grit-

tleton House (pictures).

Calne—~Bowood ; Lansdown Column ; Maud Heaths Column; Bremhill;
Lacock Abbey.

Melksham.—Lacock Abbey; Spye Park; Bromham; Great Chaldfield ;
South Wraxhall.

Corsham.—Corsham Court,

Cricklade.— Down-Ampney.

Masrlborough.—Churches, College, Castle Hill; Savcrnake; Tottenham
House ; Littlecote; Avebury; Silbury Hill; Devil's Den; Wansdyke,

Devizes.—Churches, Castle Hill, Museum ; Roundway Down; Bishop’s
Cannings ; Pottern ; Urchfont.
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Bradford.—Church, Old Ch., (now the Free Schoolhouse), Duke's House ;
Bridge : Barton Farm ; Monkton Farleigh ; 8. Wraxhall ; Great Chald-
field ; Farleigh Castle ; Hinton Charterhouse ; Norton St. Philips.

Trowbridge.—Ch. ; Steeple Ashton Ch.; Farleigh Castle.

Salisbury.— Cathedral ; Close; Bishop’s Palace; Churches; Cross; Old
houses; Museum ; St. Nicholas’ Hospital. Old Sarum; Amesbury;
Stonehenge. Wilton House (pictures) and Ch; Bemerton ; Longford
Castle (pictures) ; Wardour Castle (pictures, ruins); Clarendon ;
Trafalgar House ; Bishopston Ch.; Groveley Works; Yarnbury;
Compton House.

Tisbury.— Wardour Castle ; Hindon ; Fonthill.

Heytesbury.—House (pictures) ; Ch. ; Cotleé Hill ; Knook Castle ; Scratch-
bury ; Battlebury; Oldbury; Boyton Ch.

Wan]r;inder.—Cley Hill; Longleat (pictures); Horningsham; Maiden

radley.

Westbury.—Ch.; Iron Fouundries; Bratton Castle; Edington Ch.; Hey-
wood House.

DORSETSHIRE.

I. PrysicAL FEATURES.

The classical division of the county of Dorset is into Felix, Petreea,
and Deserta,—the happy vales, the stony heights, and the deserted
heaths. The only doubt is as to the classification of the chalk ; but if
we may place it under the second head, we have a general description
of the physical features of the county ; and the three Latin epithets
may be geologically translated into the clays, the chalks, and the sands.

Felix.—The county has been blessed, perhaps, above measure. It
boasts of the title of “ the garden of England.” It has been described,
“both for rider and for abider, one of the pleasantest counties in
England ;” and a royal critie, who bad seen many lands, and never said
a foolish thing, declared, on returning from Plymouth, ¢that he had
never seen a finer country in England or out of it.” Charles IL was
returning from Plymouth—that is, took a western view of the county ;
and it is in the west that the eulogy is most deserved. There are the
rich genial marlstone soils in the neighbourhood of Bridport and Bea-
minster, drained by the Brit, in which nosystem of cropping is observed
because they can bear anything and grow anything. Nor need the
Marshwood Vale, drained by the Char, be excepted, though its clay be
cold and distinguished above all others in the county in stiffness, for it
is thence that the best Dorset butter is sent to London, The wheat is
excellent, and there i8 not a stone in the whole vale. “They are
obliged to send for stones to Bothenhampton to mend their roads.”
The oak timber in it is of a large growth and excellent quality., There,
too, i8 the vale of the Dorset feeders of the' Yeo about Halstock,
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Chetnole, and Yetminster, of the Yeo itself at Sherborne. There,
too, is the vale of Blackmoor, or the country between the hills about
Lillington, the Caundles, and Stalbridge on the N. and W., and the
Dorset chalk heights on the S. and E., watered by the W. and E.
branches of the many-branched Lidden, with the Cale between them ;
a fine rich grazing and dairy district, which will rear oxen as bulky as
those in the rich sandstone vales and alluvial marshes of Somerset, and
grow such oaks as may be seen at Hermitage, Middle Marsh, Glanville’s
Wootton, Buckland, Mappowder, and Melcombe Park, and hardly else-
where in the W.; but in the centre of it more suitable for hunting
than for residence. No towns, hardly any villages, are in it. Buckhorn-
‘Weston in N, Lidlinch at the bend of the valley, Holwell, Holnest,
Leigh, Chetnole in 8. portion of it, complete the catalogue.

At Parnham, near Beaminster, at Bewlish, Bingham's Melcombe,
and round Bridport, very fine elm timber is grown, which implies a lighter
soil than the oak. At West Woodyates is a magnificent walnut tree,
planted more than a century ago by the then Lord Londonderry, which
the tenant used to call his hundred-pound tree, as it yielded him 5
per cent. in walnuts annually.

The river system corresponds with its vales; that of Blackmoor
watered by the Lidden and Cale; those of the Yeo, which flows N. into
the Parrett and the Bristol Channel; of the Axe, which bounds the
county on W. for some miles ; of the Char, which rises near Pillesdon
Pen and empties at Charmouth ; of the Brit, which rises on the 8.
chalk slopes near Beaminster, and flows into Bridport Harbour; of the
Bredy, which has a similar origin, and joins the sea at the W. end of
the Chesil Bank. Felix is perhaps one-fourth of the county.

Petrea—The chalk enters the county between Cranborne Chase and
Shaftesbury in N.E., extends to Beaminster in the S.W., thence to
Abbotsbury in 8., and touches the sea at Swyre Head (near Lulworth)
and Ballard Down (separating Swanage and Studland bays), two note-
worthy points, 18 miles apart, on either side of the Isle of Purbeck. The
central mass, about one-third of the county, is divisible, like that in
‘Wilts, into N. and 8. downs, the river Stour being the boundary, and
Blandford the capital of the N., Dorchester of the S. portion. The chief
eminences on the N. escarpment are Hod Hill, Hambledon Hill, Okeford
Hill, Bell Hill, Bulbarrow (927 feet), White Hill, Great and Little
Ball, Revels, Dogberry, High Stoy (891 feet), Evershot, Rampisham
Down, Horn Hill (this, with the exception of some outlying masses,
indicating its former more extensive prevalence, is the W. extremity
of the chalk). Along the 8. escarpment are Chilfrome Down, Eggar-
don, Little Bredy Down, Black Down (817 feet), Whaddon Down,
Bincombe Down, Chalbury, Chaldon Down. The highest hills in
the Purbeck portion are Swyre Hill (669 feet), Nine Barrow Down
(642 feet). . Corfe Castle is, from its isolation, the most striking.
Pillesdon Pen, W. of Beaminster (934 feet), is the highest point in the
county. The chalk hills, though to some extent similar in feature to
those of Wiltshire, have not the same broad flat downs, butbo%nsist of
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comparatively narrow ridges, from the tops of which the sea can be seen
to the south, and the hills of North Dorset and Somerset to the north,
They are crowned, as elsewhere, with camps and earthworks, such as
Maiden Castle and Poundbury, near Dorchester ; Weatherbury Castle,
near Milborne St. Andrew’s ; Hambledon and Hod hills, not far from
Blandford ; Badbury Rings, near Sturminster Marshall ; Rawlsbury near
Bulbarrow, and others.

If to the chalk you add the sea-coast, S. of a line drawn from Bridport
in W. to Ballard Down in E. (though you must except and assign to
Deserta the belt of Hastings Sand between Worbarrow and Swanage
bays) you have Petreea, or half of the county.

As usual, the streams pierce the chalk. The Stour is the chief
river of the chalk, and of the county. Rising on the borders of Wilts,
Somerset, and Dorset, at Stourhead, it receives the two branches of the
Lidden and the Cale, and enters the chalk by a transverse fissure
between Okeford Hill and Hod Hill at Stowerpaine, passes directly
through the chalk by Blandford to Wimborne, where it is joined by
the Allen, which also has made its way through the chalk from Cran-
borne Chase and Pentridge Hill in N. by St. Giles and the Crichels.
Almost parallel with the Stour, 10 miles W., is the Trent or Piddle,
rising in Alton on the S. side of the N. escarpment by Little and Great
Ball Hill, giving its name to Piddle- trenthide, -hinton, and -town, Tol-,
and Aff-, in its course. Again, further W. the Frome, similarly rising
in 8. side of N. escarpment between Corscombe and Evershot, receives
tributaries from Rampisham Down on W.; and the Cerne from Revels
Hill on E. passing Dorchester, unites with the Piddle on entering Poole
Harbour, the common estuary of the two rivers, having between them

Wareham, which gives to them the name of the Wareham N. and -

‘Wareham . streams.

Deserta is another quarter of the county on E., ¢ a thousand furlongs
[once] of sea, [now] of barren ground, long heath, brown furze, any-
thing.” It is an equilateral (18 miles either side) triangle, of which
the points are Cranborne, Dorchester, Studland. Wareham is in the
centre of it. The N. portion of it drains through the Stour into
Christchurch Bay, the remainder through the Piddle and Frome, all
chalk-streams in their origin, into Poole Harbour.

II. Georoagy.

In one particular Dorsetshire geology is noteworthy. Three purely
provincial names—Kimmeridge clay, Portland oolite, and Purbeck
stone —are typical formations, and have taken their place among
geological terms. The range of rocks is not so extensive as that of
§omersetshire, but is perfect and continuous, as far as it goes, from the
Bagshot sands down to the lias—that is to say, throughout the lower
eocene, the cretaceous, and the oolitic systems ; there is not an important
member of the series missing. The economic uses of -these rocks are
various. The quarries of Portland have provided a breakwater at their
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foot, the casing and forts of which are also built of it. They have given
to London many of its finest buildings— St. Paul’s Cathedral, and many
other of Sir Christopher Wren’s churches, Goldsmiths’ Hall, and the
Reform Club House. The dark colour and high polish of Purbeck marble
may be seen in the slender shafts and columns of the Temple Church,
St. Mary’s Redcliffe, Wells, Gloucester, and Salisbury Cathedrals, in
which last, however, though not exposed to the outer air, it has been
found to scale, and is being replaced by Devonshire marble. The free-
stone at Marnhull has been used in the neighbouring churches, and the
greensand of Shaftesbury, Cerne Abbas, and elsewhere on the margin of
the chalk, affords good building materials. The chert is used for rough
building purposes, and is excellent material for roads. The clay pits
between Wareham and Corfe yield annually thousands of tons of fine
clay to the manufacturers of Statfordshire and Scotland, and even of
Spain and Holland. The Smedmore shale of the Kimmeridge clay
used to furnish both naphtha for lamps and carbon for the disinfection
of manure; but in the former respect it has been superseded by the
American oils. The chalk makes the best of lime. The lias also has
an economic use in making hydraulic cement. But it is in its fossil
remains, whether animal or vegetable, such as the saurians in the lias
at Charmouth and Lyme, or the oolite bed of Portland, that the geo-
logy of Dorset is most interesting.

The lower lias and marlstone are found in the W., flowing round the
chalk of the Blackdown Hills, Pillesdon Pen, Lewson Hill, Coneygore
Hill, Stonebarrow Hill, and some other such islands, to the sea from
Lyme to Bridport. To this belong the valleys of the Char and Brit.
The lower oolitic sands, rubbly freestone, forest marble, and cornbrash,
in the E. of the county, descend from Somerset in a waving band
between Stalbridge and Sherborne. A low line of hills E. of Yeovil, of
which Babylon Hill is the centre, belongs to them. They pass south-
ward by Bradford Abbas, Lillington, Ryme, Yetminster, Closeworth,
Melbury, and Halstock, skirt the chalk by S. Perrot, Mosterton, Bea-
minster, and Powerstock, and so to the sea at Burton Bradstock; then
along the coast by Puncknoll, Langton Herring, and Radipole.

At the halfway house between Yeovil and Sherborne there is a
quarry, which should be visited for its intrinsic interest, and as offering
a typical section of the lower oolite in Dorset. Underneath the super-
ficial mould are 9 feet of freestome, called by the quarrymen * white
lamas” and beneath that a fossil band of about 2 feet; then a bed
of hard blue stone about 4 feet, with sands underneath them.

The line of road, from 2 miles N. of Wincanton, in Somersetshire, to
1 mile S. of Stalbridge, in Dorsetshire, about 12 miles, traverses
exclusively, with two unimportant exceptions, a narrow band (less than
half a mile broad) of cornbrash, passing through the villages of North
and South Cherington, Horsington, Templecombe, and Henstridge.

There is a valley, about 4 miles broad, stretching from Wincanton
southward for 9 miles; then turning westward for 11 miles as far as
Melbury Osmund, and lying for 15 miles between: oolitic’hills,—the
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cornbrash road just mentioned on the W., and coral rag where the
Stours (W. E.and Provost), Marnhull, Sturminster Newton, and Hasel-
bury are situated on the E.; and for 5 miles between oolitic hills
on N., and chalk and greensand on S. This valley, in fact the Black-
moor vale, watered by the Cale in the portion leading southward, by the
western branch of the Lidden in its western portion, is Oxford clay.
There are inconsiderable spots of Oxford clay on the S.—indeed, Mel-
combe Regis is on it—but this favourite watering-place owes its popu-
larity to other causes than its geological position. Weymouth and
Wyke Regis, close by, are on the coral rag.

In the N. bulge of the county, and between coral rag and chalk, is a
mass of Kimmeridge clay, in which Gillingham, Motcombe, and Shilling
Okeford are situated. Here is the E. branch of the Lidden, uniting
with the Cale at Stalbridge Mill, and with the W. Lidden at King’s
Mill, and thence pursuing its course through Sturminster Newton and
Blandford. But the spot from which this rock derives its name is on
the E. part of Weymouth Bay, reaching as far as St. Aldhelm’s Head.
It is also the base on which the Portland stone rests, and is seen at
Portland Ferry and in N. of the island. It contains an inflammable oil,
which renders it so combustible that it is called Kimmeridge coal, is
used as fuel, and even sometimes takes fire spontaneously.

Besides the coral rag and calcareous grit already mentioned, there
are sections of these strata on the coast at Weymouth and Wyke Regis,
and a band of it about a half mile broad, overlooking Weymouth Bay
from Abbotsbury on W. to Jordan Hill on E.

The Portland oolite, with the Portland sands underlying it, is found
in the island whence it takes its name, in spots of Weymouth Bay, at
Ringstead, Durdle Door, and the portals of Lulworth Cove. The fossil
contents of the Portland oolite—shells, saurian bones, and coniferous
wood—are of the highest interest. The Purbeck marble next occurs in
the so-called isle of that name, first in a narrow band on the W., then
spreading from Kingston and Worth Matravers to Durlstone Bay and
Peverel Point. T'o the N. it is bounded by a band, about a mile broad,
of Hastings sand and Weald clay, from Worbarrow Bay on W. to
Swanage Bay on E., with Corfe Castle in the centre. Between them
the chalk, greensand, and Weald clay are parallel and nearly straight
lines, running W. and E. across the Isle of Purbeck.

The greensand makes well-nigh the circuit of the county, in the
usual irregular and ragged fringe to the chalk. Entering from Wiltshire
at Shaftesbury in N., it proceeds S. for 9 miles as far as the bottom of
Hod Hill and the 2 Okefords (Child and Fitzpaine), thence westward
for 34 miles to the very limits of the county at Pillesdon Pen, the
highest point in the county; then turning S.E. by Beaminster, and
running for 48 miles, it makes its exit at the N. side of Swanage Bay.
A line drawn from this point to Hod Hill measures 22 miles. In the
N. slopes, where it enters the chalk, the fertile nooks and valleys of
the greensand are full of interest and beauty. One such valley is
traversed by the railway from Evershot to Maiden Newton, whence
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branch others to the W.; another such valley extends from Minterne
to Cerne Abbas; another contains the two Melcombes. The central mass
of Dorset chalk occupies one-third of its area, extending from Pentridge
in the N.E. to the neighbourhood of Beaminster and Abbotsbury in the
S.W. (this country is full of faults); thence proceeding 8., it touches
the sea at Swyrehead and Ballard Down. Its course from Abbotsbury
to Swyrehead, 15 miles, is determined by a great W. and E. fault,
which brings it into contact with Purbeck beds, Portland stone and
sand, and Kimmeridge clay. These two points, 18 miles apart, are
noteworthy. Thence, with a curve inland, it reappears and forms the
gold head of St. Aldhelm, extending along the coast as far as Durlston
ead.
The tertiary system corresponds with Deserta, which has already been
described as an equilateral triangle, of which the sides (each 18 miles)
are from Cranborne to Piddletown Heath (within 2 miles of Dorchester),
thence to Studland, and thence to Cranborne again. It consists of
plastic clay bordering the chalk all the way from Cranborne to Piddletown
Heath, and thence to the sea at Swyrehead and Studland. To this
succeed London clay and Bognor beds, also in bands and spots,
‘Wimborne Minster occupying one of them. In the centre of the
triangle, with a base extending along the coast from Studland to Poole,

are Bagshot sands.
The local museums at Dorchester and Weymouth should be visited.

III. DescrIPTION,. COMMUNICATIONS, INDUSTRIAL RESOURCES.

Dorsetshire —in the Saxon Chronicles Dorseta, in Domesday
Dorsete—takes its name from the original inhabitants, the Dorsaetas;
who, in turn, derive their appellation in its Latinized form of Duro-
triges, waterside dwellers, from the two British words, Dwr = water,
and ¢rigo, to dwell ; probably because the head-quarters of the tribe
were by the side of some inlet or piece of water ; perhaps the Poole inlet,
running up to Wareham. Oun the N.E, it is bounded by Wiltshire ;
on the E., by Hampshire ; on the N.W., by Somersetshire ; and on the
W., by Devonshire. The sea is its southern boundary. The length
from E. to W. is 55 m., and its breadth from N. to 8., owing to its
irregular outline, varies from 5 m. to 40 m. It contains an area of
615,783 acres, or about 962 sq. m. Its population in 1851 was
184,207 ; in 1861, 188,789 persons.

The chief resources of Dorsetshire are agricultural. The dairy pro-
duce is large; and there is a great deal of corn grown. About
Bridport hemp is much cultivated, to supply the rope and twine works
of that town. There are silk-throwing mills at Sherborne, and else-
where. The ship and yacht builders of Poole are favourably known.
Poole is the chief port of the county. Its trade is almost entirely
coasting. The quarries of Purbeck and Portland are of great celebrity
for their excellent building stone. There is a very extensive fanu-
facture of pottery and tiles in the vicinity of Wareham and Poole, and
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tters’-clay and pipe-clay are largely dug, and exported from the same
istrict.

The southern part of the county is traversed from E. to W. by the
South-Western Railway, which runs by Wimborne and Wareham to
Dorchester ; where it is joined by a branch of the Great Western from
. Yeovil, which continues 8. to Weymouth and Portland. Branches are

thrown off to Poole, and at Maiden Newton to Bridport. The Somer-
set and Dorset liné traverses the western part of the county from N.W.
to S.E., running from 'emple Combe, by Sturminster and Blandford,
to Wimborne. The main line of the South-Western Railway runs

through the N. of this county for a short distance, in the neighbour-
hood of Sherborne. . :

IV. AxriQuITIES—BRITISH, ROMAN.

Few parts of England can shew so many remnants of primitive
antiquity as Dorsetshire, or indicate so clearly what Britain must
have been before the invasion of the Romans. No less than 25
hill fortresses of (probably) pree-Roman date are enumerated by
Hutchins. The grandest specimen of these—hardly to be equalled
in England—is Maiden Castle, near Dorchester. After this, we may
mention Badbury Rings, near Wimborne (Mons Badonicus), Eggardon,
near Bridport ; Flowers Barrow, near Lulworth ; Rawlsbury Rings, near
Bulbarrow ; Hodhill and Hambledon Hill, overlooking the valley of the
Stour; Woodbury and Weatherbury ; and Pillesdon.

The hills are studded with sepulchral barrows, which have been,
almost without exception, opened and ransacked. A full account of
them may be found in Mr. Sydenham’s paper on ‘The Dorsetshire
Barrows’ (‘Archaologia,’ vol. xxx.), and Mr. C. Warne’s ¢ Celtic Tumuli
of Dorset.” The “ Agglestone,” near Studland, and the “ Cerne Giant,”
may also be mentioned as probably of Celtic date. The Dorsetshire
tumuli are distinguished for the paucity and simplicity of their con-
tents; some few, which are non-sepulchral, are simple cenotaphs.
The body was either buried entire or burnt, and the few whitened
bones encased in a cist or urn, and placed in the centre of the mound,
sometimes covered by a flat stone, or packed round with flints. The
prevailing form is the bowl-shaped tumulus, frequently surrounded by
a shallow fosse, with a slight external vallum. The bell-shaped tumulus
is less common, Twin barrows are of occasional occurrence. The most
beautiful form is the Druid or disc-shaped barrow, of which the best
examples are at Woodyates, Longbredy, and Winterbourne. The lon
barrow is seldom seen, but it is found at Bere Regis, Blandford, an
Pimperne, at Chettle and the Gussages. The whole are purely Celtic.
A complete Necropolis at Rimbury, in the parish of Sutton Poyntz,
was examined by Mr. Warne, when nearly 100 urns were exhumed,
and a large number of skeletons found placed singularly under the urns.
This was evidently the burial-place of the powerful tribe which occu-
pied the adjacent hill-fortress of Chalbury.
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Dorsetshire abounds in. the traces of the dwellings of the original
Celtic or British inhabitants. ‘These are sometimes mere pits or
hollows in the turf, which formed the base of a wattled hut. The best
examples are found at Bondsleigh, Ibberton Park, and near Jackman’s
Cross. The traces of more extensive villages are seen at Melcombe
Horsey, and on the Downs of Affpiddle, Askerswell, Cattistock, East-
bury, or Tarrant-Hinton. Those on Blandford Down, E. of the old tele-
graph, and the site Vindogladia (Gussage Cow Down), may be dignified
with the appellation of towns. Of fortified towns the best examples
are Badbury, Bindon Hill, Buzbury, and Chalbury.

Roman remains are frequently to be met with scattered over the -
county. The Via Iceniana (Icknield way) traversed the county from
Sorbiodunum (Old Sarum) to Durnovaria (Dorchester) and thence
westwards to Exeter, with vicinal ways to Ischalis (Ilchest,e? on the
Fosseway, Moridunum (perhaps Seaton), and Clavinium (Jordan Hill,
Weymouth), and Lyme. The best preserved castra are at Cattistock,
Duntish, Hodhill (within the Celtic camp), and Milborne. Dorchester,
by its plan and the remaius of its fortifications, declares itself Roman
‘““castra stativa,” The amphitheatre of Maumbury is undoubtedly a
Roman work. Poundbury Samp may be 8o also, butis perhaps Danish.
The tessellated pavements at Dorchester, Weymouth, Sherborne, Dew-
lish, Rampisham, and Frampton, speak of a long and peaceful Roman
occupation. Mosaic pavements have been also discovered at Lenthay
Green, Halstock, Preston, &c.

There are few unmistakeable marks of the Saxon settlement beyond
the local names, and there is still less that can be assigned to the
Danish marauders, though Wareham and its vicinity so frequently
suffered from their devastating inroads. The finest Saxon tumuli are
on the Downs at Woodyates. The walls of Wareham have been attri-
buted to the same period, but are more probably British.

Poundbury is ranked by Mr. Warne among Danish camps, and the
Long Bury Barrow near Slaughtergate in Gillinghham parish among
Danish barrows.

V. ARCHITECTURE AND CHURCHES.
ARCHITECTURE.

1. Military.—With the magnificent exception of Corfe, one of the
very finest remains of military architecture in England, the castles of
Dorsetshire bave almost entirely passed away, leaving little be-
yond grassy mounds and some fragments of walls. At Dorchester
and Shaftesbury we bave merely the.site; at Wareham one angle of
a rectangular enclosure, and slight remains at Sturminster-Newton.
Sherborne still preserves considerable remains of Bishop Roger’s Norman
Keep and Gatehouse; and a considerable portion of Bow-and-Arrow
Castle, Portland, is standing. Portland Castle, Sandsfoot, and Lulworth
are of the 16th cent. :

II. Domestic.—Dorsetshire is very rich in picturesqueé stone houses.
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Almost every village offers some examples of more or less value, nor
are there wanting buildings of high architectural interest. The chief
are—

Fourteenth Cent. — Woodsford Castle, a most interesting and perfect
example, sufficient to atone for the absence of others of this date.

Fifteenth Cent.—Parnham ; Sherborne, houses.

Stxteenth Cent.—Athelhampton; Bingham’s Melcombe, Bere Regis ;
Canford Manor (part); Clifton Maubank; Maperton; Melbury ;
Melcombe Horsey; Sherborne, Almshouse, &c.; Wimborne St.
Giles ; Winterborne Herringstone; Wolveton, Hanford, Cranborne,
Lower Walterston, Chantmarle, Upper Cerne.

Of more modern mansions, some of much architectural value, we
may name Bryanston, Canford Manor, Charborough, Kingston Lacy,
More Crichel, Over Compton, Sherborne Lodge.

III. Monastic—Sherborne Minster deserves the first place among
the monastic foundations of Dorsetshire. The magnificent church
is perfect, and some interesting remains of the conventual buildings are
incorporated in the grammar school. Of Wimborne only the church
exists; of Milton Abbas the church and the abbot’s hall, The
foundations are all that remains of Bindon Abbey. Of Cerne Abbey
we have part of the abbot’s house, a fine gatehouse, and barn. At
Abbotshury, the gatehouse, dormitory, and barn. Ford Abbey pre-
serves, in the fabric of a modern house, large portions of the cloister and
conventual buildings of a Cistercian foundation.

CHURCHES.

Here the prevailing style is Perpendicular. Several churches secem
to exhibit no earlier work, yet good specimens of the other style may
be found without difficulty, at least in individual features. In some
parts of the county there is abundance of good stone, and the churches
are often well finished externally ; but in others flints are much used,
sometimes chequered with stone.

In the Isle of Purbeck, and near the coast, Norman work often
occurs, and there are a few small churches, which are pretty complete
specimens of that kind, as Studland and Worth. There is also good
Early English work to be found, especially in chancels, as at Buckland
Newton.

Of Decorated there seems to be less than of any other style, though
there is a fine example of it in portions of Milton Abbey.

On the borders of Somersetshire, the Perpendicular is richer
and the execution better. The towers there approximate to the
ornamental character peculiar to that county, but they are generally of
a good style throughout Dorset, almost invariably having a turret on
one side and often pinnacles. The spire is very rare. lwerne Minster
is perhaps the only specimen. Panelled arches are very common in
the western district, and also rich and elegant pierced parapets.

The churches are not generally very large, with the exceptions of
Sherborne and Wimborne, which last has a central and a“western
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tower, and they often have but one aisle. There is usually a chancel
arch, but in most cases the clerestory is wanting. The roofs are often
coved, and are sometimes of a rich character, as at Marnhull. There
is not much screen-work, and perhaps no rood-loft, though the rood-
steps are generally found. There are several instauces of hagioscopes,
but the sedilia, piscine, &c.,are not usually of remarkable character. Some
tolerable pieces of painted glass are to be found, and several early fonts.

Sepulchral brasses are rare, but there are some fine tombs and some
good monumental effigies.

VI. PLACES OF INTEREST.

Shaftesbury—8t. Peter’s Ch.; Views from Park, and Castle Hill; Cran-
borne Chase.

Wimborne.—Minster; Canford Manor; Merly House (pictures); Badbur
Rings; Charborough House; More Crichel ; 8t. Giles’ Park; Wood-
lands ; Monmoutlh’s Ash ; Horton.

Poole.—Harbour ; Tile Works ; Branksea Island ; Bournemouth. Excur-
sion to Swanage and Corfe.

Wareham.—Ch.; Engraved Stones; Walls. Corfe Castle ; Creech Barrow ;
Creech Grange; Swanage. Bere Regis. British Village on Aff-
piddle Heath.

Wool.—Bindon Abbey; Lulworth Castle; Winfrith ; Lulworth Cove.

Dorchester.—8t. Peter’s Ch.; Fordington Ch.; Tessellated Pavement in
Gaol; Walks round Walls; Museum; Amphitheatre; Poundbury;
Wolveton ; Charminster; Maiden Castle; Herringstone; Blackdown;
Hardy’s Monument; Nine-Stones; Hellstone; Bridehead ; Kingston
Russell. Woodsford Castle (near Moreton Station). Cerne Abbas,
Remains of Abbey; Puddletown; Athelhampston.

Weymouth.—Sandsfoot Castle; Wyke Ch.; Chesil Bank; Isle of Portland ;
Breakwater; Quarries; Convict Establishment; Portland Castle ;
Bow and Arrow Castle ; Caves Hole. Abbotsbury; S8wannery ; Decoy ;
‘Bt. Catherine’s Chapel. Chalbury; Osmington. Excursion to Lul-
worth Cove, and Swanage.

Isle of Purbeck.—Swanage; Studland Ch.; Agglestone: Corfe Castle;
Godlingstone ; Quarries ; Tilly Whim; St. Aldhelm’s Head and
Chapel; Encombe; Kimmeridge; Gadcliff; Worbarrow Bay; Lul-
worth Custle; Flower's Barrow; Arish Mell; West Lulworth Cove;
Durdle Door.

Bridport.—Ch. ; Old Houses ; Rope Walks. Eggardon Hill; Burton Brad-
stock ; Charmouth ; Whitchurch; Vale of Marshwood.

Beaminster.—Ch.; Parmmham House; Broad Windsor; Lewesdon and Pil-
lesdon hills.

Lyme Regis.—Ch.; Cobb; Saurian Remains; Pinhay Landslip; Conie
Castle; Lambert’s Castle; Uplyme. v P

Maiden Newton.—Ch. ; Frampton Ch. and House; Wynford Eagle; Ram-
pisham Ch.; Chantmarle House; Melbury House and Park.

Blandford.— Bryanston ; Camps of Hod Hill, Hambledon Hill, Buzbury,

rawford Castle. Iwerne }I)Hinster; Fontmell Magna ; Milton Abbey ;
Bulbarrow ; Rawlsbury. :
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Sturminster.— Castle ; Marnhull Ch.; Nash Court (pictures).

Stalbridge.—Ch.; Cross; View from Park; Vale of Blackmoor.

Sherborne.—Minster; Grammar School ; Hospital; Castle; Lodge (pic-
tures); Cemetery. Lewston Park; Dungeon; Round Chimneys ;
Glanville’s Wootton.

SOMERSETSHIRE.

1. PrysicAL FEATURES.

The county, though its physical aspect is much varied, naturally
arranges itself in three main divisions; a central basin between two
hilly districts, one on the W., the other on the N.E. The Mendipsand
Quantocks are the E. and W. boundaries of the central portion, which is
in fact co-terminous with the physical basin watered by the Parrett, the
Brue, and the Axe, or the Bridgwater Level, as it is sometimes called ;
and contains no elevations other than the low-lying Polden Hills (about
300 feet high, and 20 miles long), and such islands as Brent Knoll,
Glastonbury Tor, Wearyall Hill, Wells Tor, and the like, rising out
of the flat alluvial deposit. It is generally describable as an irregular
parallelogram, about fifteen miles either way, divided into two parts by
the Poldens. The division between the Polden Hills and the Mendips
includes Glastonbury turf-moor, while the other division, to the west of
the Polden Hills, contains King’s Sedgemoor.

The hilly district on W. consists of the Quantock Hills, of which
Will’s Neck, the highest point, reaches 1270 feet. The other chief
heights are—Thorncombe Barrow, Huxley Beacon, Danesborough (1022
feet), Fire Beacon, Bagbarrow Station, Cothelston (1060 feet), and Ban~
combe Hill. The Quantocks are about 14 miles long, and 4 or 5 wide.
The steep escarpment on the western face is in a great measure occupied
by woods and plantations. The eastern slope is more gradual, and is
intersected by the beautiful valleys of the Seven Wells and Hunter’s
Combe. Also in W. are the Brendon Hills, among which are Haddon
Hill (1140 feet) and Dunkery Beacon, the highest point in Somerset

1697 feet). The Brendons are connected on N. with the bold head of

ington Beacon, Porlock Hill, and the coast line; on the W. with

the forest of Exmoor, the connecting ranges of which are the Winsford
and Hawkridge hills.

The elevation of Dunkery, though in itself inconsiderable and of an
easy gradient, is relatively commanding. From its top you may see
right through Somersetshire, from end to end, some 60 miles. The
curious physical feature of central Somerset, islands of hill rising from
the flat, such as Brent Knoll, Glastonbury Tor, Brean Down, and Worle
Hill, is conspicuous. The entire coast line from Weston to Lynton is
traceable, except where Minehead interrupts it.
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The N.E. hilly district is very different in its character from that in
the West. With the exception of the Mendips, it does not consist of
distinct lines of hill, but of irregularly disposed heights which gradually
slope away to the rivers Frome and Avon, which drain the district on
the north. The Mendips from Whatley, near Frome, in E., to Brean
Down in W., are about 34 miles long, rising in some parts to more
than 1000 feet. Their chief heights are V&orle Hill, near Weston,
Banwell, Sandford, Dolberry, Burrington Ham, Wavering Down, 8hut-~
shelve, Blackdown, North Hill, Pen Hill, Milton Hill (above Wells),
Maesbury Castle, and Beacon Hill (above Shepton Mallet). The straight
sky-line of the Mendips, interrupted in W. by the Cheddar gorge, is one
of the most striking features to the eye. The chief of the irregular hills
are in the neighbourhood of Bath and Bristol, such as Falkland Knoll,
near Norton St. Philip, Lansdown (813 feet), Claverton, Combe, and
0dd Downs, near Bath, Dundry (790 feet), Broadfield Down (with its
Cleve and Brockley combes), S. of Bristol, and Leigh Down W., with
its St. Vincent’s Rocks.

‘What Dunkery isin the W., Lansdown Racecourse is in the E. The
great oolitic escarpment trends thence N.E. along the Cotswolds, S.W. to-
wards the Mendips, which meet it at right angles : due W. the eye rests
on the outlier of Dundry ; due E. it passes over the N.W. Wiltshire valley
to the chalk downs hung like a curtain on the horizon. Along the
sea coast there are not many bold headlands, but rather easy lines of
beach and bay ; sometimes wooded, as at Quantock’s Head, almost to
the water-line, or ending in a face of low cliff, as at Watchet and Cleeve,
The point of Brean Down, a bold bar of mountain limestone, running
athwart the six miles of sandy beach which begins at Burnham Church,
and Minehead Hill, with its tongue-like termination of Hurlstone Point,
are exceptions to this series of soft scalloped curves of coast line.
—(Sat. Rev.)

The watershed line, sometimes in Somerset, sometimes in Dorset,
enters the former county at Alfred’s Tower, on the chalk ; passes on the
oolites between Wincanton and Bruton by Bratton, turns south at
Milborne Port by Purse Caundle and Glanville’s Wootton, rejoins the
chalk again above Glanville’s Wootton and follows it by Evershot,
Corscombe, Mosterton, Shave-lane Hill, Wind-whistle Hill, Chard,
Combe St. Nicholas, and the Blackdown Hills on the kindred green-
sand ; where, leaving the cretaceous series, it passes through the new
red sandstone to White-ball Hill, through carboniferous limestone at
Hockworthy, joins the Devonian rocks at Clayhanger, and so by the
Brendon Hills to Dunkery Beacon and Porlock. Thus are the waters
which flow through Somerset and Dorset divided between the Bristol
and English Channels.

The main system of drainage is that of the central basin watered by
the Parrett (the principal river in the county, and rising 1 mile beyond
its S. border), with its tributaries :—1. The Ile on the left bank ; 2. The
Yeo (one source being in Dorset, and the other in Somerset) on the
right bank; 3. The Tone (rising in the 8. slope of Brendon™ Hill, and
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flowing through Taunton Dene) on the left bank ; 4. The Cary (rising
near Castle Cary) on the right bank. The Brue, also rising on the
borders of Dorset and Somerset, and flowing by Bruton and Glaston-
bury, cannot indeed be called a tributary of the Parrett, but yet empties
into the same estuary as that river, from which it is separated by the
low line of the Poldens. The Axe may be said to be appurtenant to
the Mendips, rising in Wookey Hole, flowing at their foot, and passing
into the Bristol Channel between Uphill and Brean Down.

The W. hills are watered by the brooks which flow into the sea at
Watchet, Dunster, and Porlock. The two sources of the Exe (the
Barle and the Exe) are in Exmoor on the very confines of the county.
The N.E. district is drained by the Avon and its tributaries. On
entering the ceunty, and before reaching Bath, it receives the Box
Brook, the Midford Brook, and the Frome. The Chew joins below
Bath above Keynsham.

II. Geovroay.

' The geology of Somersetshire includes specimens of nearly all the
formations which appear on the surface of England from Wales to
Norfolk—the Devonian in the hills of Exmoor, Brendon, and Quantock ;
the old red sandstone and mountain limestone in Mendip; the coal-
measures among the hills south of Bath; the new red sandstone and
marls in the vale of Taunton Dene and at the base of many of the hills;
the lias, which bounds the Bridgwater level like a sea-cliff, or rises out
of it in patches like islands, as Brent Knoll; the oolite formations,
extending over the south and east of the county; the greensand and
chalk, which appear yet further S. in the Crewkernc and Chard hills,
in the Blackdown Hills, and in the tableland between Somerset and
Devon ; and, lastly, an extensive alluvial deposit, partly covered by
peat and fen land, which fills up the Bridgwater Flat.

This alluvial deposit is partly marine (though this part is small and
intermittent), flat mud-banks by the sea-shore, such as the Bridgwater
Flat, properly so called ; but chiefly estuarine and fluviatile, such as the
Burnham Level, Huntspill Level, the flats from Portishead to Aust
Passage, Nailsea and Kenn moors, and others, which extend from
Weston to the inland ranges.

The chalk formation in Somerset occurs but in three outlying
patches, extending into the county from Wilts and Dorset, one of
greensand just capped with chalk (Roddenbury Hill) on the east side
of the Somerset and Weymouth Railway between Frome and Bruton ;
another more considerable, of which Cricket St. Thomas is the centre,
to the west of Crewkerne, separated by the tributaries of the Axe
from the third and larger mass of chalk and greensand, which occupies
the country about Chard, and extends over the Blackdown Hills.
In these last are found concretionary layers 12 or 18 feet thick,
affording the scythe and hone stones which form an important branch
of manufacture, and are sent all over the kingdom. Kimmeridge clay
forms a narrow ribbon, bordering the chalk from'morth ‘of'Witham
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Park to south of Pen Selwood. The Oxford clay occupies a considerable
extent of the eastern part of the county, from Standerwick E. of
Frome to Henstridge and ;Stalbridge, though nearly cut into two parts
at Wincanton by the approximation of the cornbrash and coral rag.
The lower oolites are found in the isolated hill of Dundry in the .
north, in the district round Bath, descending in a band, more or less
interrupted and irregular, between the Oxford clay and the lias, enter-
ing Dorset between Stalbridge and Sherborne, and passing to the south
by Yeovil and South Petherton as far as Ilminster. They make eleva-
tions rounded or flat topped, such as Dundry crowned by its church,
Lansdown to the north of Bath, Odd Down to the south of it, Small
Down N.E. of Evercreech, and Cadbury Castle, both of which last, capped
with Roman entrenchments, overlook the vale land of Mid-Somerset.
The lias occupies an imlgortant position in the centre of the county;
the flat lands around Dundry, Keynsham, Bath, Timsbury, Stone
Easton, N."and S. of the Mendips, Shepton Mallet, Pilton, Glastonbury,
Somerton, Curry Rivell, are a large semicircle of places on the N. edge
of the lower lias, which stretches back to the S. as far as Bruton, Castle
Cary, Yeovil, Crewkerne, and Iiminster. The Poldens are a tongue of
lower lias mounds, rather than hills ; while there are upper lias eleva-
tions in the Pennards, Glastonbury Tor, Brent Knoll, and the higher
grounds about Yeovil, South Petherton, and Ilminster, all more or less
outliers which indicate in their isolation the extensive denudation to
which this whole district has been subjected.

“The district round Ilminster presents considerable variety in its
geological character. A bird’s eye view, taken from N.W. of the town,
would show at no great distance the lofty range of the Quantocks of
Devonian age, while at their base stretching towards Ilminster might
be found the variegated and red marls of the Keuper. On these,
5 miles distant, at Beer Crowcombe, are Rheetic beds. Resting on the
latter succeed the Saurian and other limestones and marls of the lower
lias, which, though in great part covered by drift, reach to the foot of
the hill W. of Ilminster. Within balf a mile E. the middle and upper
lias, on which the observer stands, may be seen passing under the
oolitic sands and the inferior oolite, while 2 or 3 miles to the S. the latter
are covered by the range of greensand and chalk, which, passing from
the neighbourhood of Crewkerne round Chard, is then continued in the
Blackdown hills of Devonshire. . . . . . -The best districts for a study
of the upper members of the Triassic group in the W. of England are
along the numerous escarpments bounding the moorlands of Wedmore,
S.W. of the Mendips, along the whole line of the Polden Hills to Bridg-
water, and again from Compton Dundon by way of Somerton, Langport,
and Hatch Beauchamp, towards Taunton. Throughout the greater

rt of these districts the lower lias occupies the table-land, the Rheetic
ﬁds coming in immediately beneath, and skirting the edge of the
escarpments.”—( C. Moore).

The stones in the lower lias are quarried, the large flat slabs at
Kineton are used as sides to cowsheds or piggeries, floors to barns-and
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farm-kitchens, and pavements to streets; there is a fine grained blue
limestone, which will take a polish, and is handsomely marked ; below
it is a bed of hard whitish limestone or white lias, belonging to the
Rheetic beds, which is used for mantelpieces by us, and was fashioned
by the Romans into the tessera of tessellated floors.

An important section in the railway cutting at Queen Camel shows
a succession of 260 beds, 375 feet thick, every one of which may be
identified, and where at one view is seen the passage upward of the
Keuper, Rheetic, and Liassic beds. The distinction between the two
last is so marked, that you may at once place your hand on the upper-
most Rheetic white lias. It extends uninterruptedly from Lyme Regis
throughout Somersetshire, and a geologist travelling by express train
may readily detect it in the railway cutting at Saltford near Bath.—
(C. Moore).

The new red sandstones (upper and lower occugy the country
between Dundry and the Mendips; the Upper Yeo and the Chew flow
through them. Crossing the Mendips on the south of the range, they
contain Wells, Westbury, Cheddar, and Axbridge ; then, running along
the southern base of the Poldens and bordering the lias, they envelop
the Quantocks, extend to the N. beyond Minehead, occupy the country
of which Taunton and Wellington are the centres, and finally leave the
county, wrapping round the edge of the Blackdown Hills, and filling a
great part of the fine vales which are seen stretching in every direction
from those heights. The dolomitic conglomerate is found at Bristol, in
patches N. and 8. of the Mendips, and at Milverton.

The Somersetshire coalfield extends from Bristol to the neighbour-
hood of Frome on the one hand, and from the suburbs of Bath to the
Mendip Hills on the other, covering in all an area of about 150 square
miles; the chief pits are in the Nailsea (now out of work), the Rad-
stock, and Paulton districts. Coleford, N. of Leigh-on-Mendip, rests
on a band of the millstone grit, nowhere a quarter of a mile broad.
¢ The northern part of the Bristol and Somersetshire coal-field forms
a trough lying ﬁnd S., narrowing towards its northern limits, and
expanding towards the opposite direction, till E. of Bristol it reaches
a width of seven miles; the beds rise at high angles along and beyond
the edge of the basin. South of Bristol the boundary of the coal-field,
marked by the range of the limestone hills, sweeps round to the west-
ward, and is lost under the sea beyond Nailsea Moor, near Clevedon,
in Somersetshire. South of this the coal-measures underlie the liassic
formation of Dundry Hill, and encircle the large mass of carboniferous
limestones near Congresbury. Over the greater part of this area the coal-
formation is buried at moderate depths under newer horizontal strata.”—
(E. Hull)

The carboniferous limestone is one of the most striking formations
in the county; in the north it occurs on the coast from Portishead
to Clevedon, then turning east to Leigh Down, and bending in a
northerly direction, leaves the county at Leigh Woods, where it is
pierced by the gorge of the Avon. There is a group of limestone hills
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between Blackwell and Wrington ; but the great stretch of this rock
is in the Mendips, from Frome on the E. to Brean Down, Worle Hill,
and Middle Hope, on the W. by the sea; continued to the Flat and
Steep Holms now actually in the sea; and to different points in Gla-
morganshire on the other side of it. The limestone is full of caves and
fissures, produced by the action of rain-water full of carbonic acid gas
dissolving its substance ; and in several of these cavities bones of extinct
animals have been found, as at Banwell and Wookey Hole. The old
red sandstone is seen at Little Elm, on the E. extremity of the Mendips,
whence it is continued W. for some miles, and is the oldest formation
and most elevated portion of this range. Its largest development is
N. of Shepton Mallet and Cranmore, and, again, on North Hill and
Blackdown. '

The backbone of the Mendips, corresponding to what is now called
the “ Ridgeway,” consists of Old Red, and extends from Shepton Mallet
on E. to Whatley on W, Against this saddleback rests carboniferous
limestone at a great angle, in some places vertical. To this succeed the
coal-measures at the same angle, with numerous faults running through
them ; Old Red, Rbeetic, and Liassic beds are successively deposited
horizontally on the upturned edges of the limestone. The mighty
agent, which caused this disturbance, and uplifted these formations,
some 20,000 feet thick, in one place upheaving and doubling back the
coal-measures on themselves, so that tﬁe coal 18 worked beneath carbo- -
niferous limestone, was a volcanic dyke, of which the discovery belon
to Mr. Moore. It emerges from beneath the old red sandstone at E.
end, near Stoke Lane; and E. and W. of a line of which that place is
the centre, there is for a distance of 7 miles an uninterrupted anticlinal.
From the general physical character of the Mendips, the dyke is pro-
bably coextensive with the range.

To old red sandstone also belong the Quantock Hills and all the
country W. of Stogumber and Wiveliscombe, including Haddon Down,
Brendon and Croydon hills, and so westward to Exmoor.

The geological collections at Bristol, Taunton, and Bath, should be
visited, particularly the latter, which owes its existence and excellence
to Mr. C. Moore, a distinguished geologist, no mean * citizen of no mean
city.”

I11. DescriprioN, COMMUNICATIONS, INDUSTRIAL RESOURCES.

Saxon Chronicles Sumersetescir ; in Domesday
ame from its early inhabitants, the Sumersaetas,
bounded on the N.W. by the Bristol Channel ;
ire ; on the S.E.and S., by Dorsetshire ; and on
Its form is so irregular that it is difficult to
its length and breadth. It comprises an area
77 sq. m. Its population was in 1851, 443,916
'3

in agricultural produce. Its dairy farms are
ie, especially that which takes-its: name from
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Cheddar, of high excellence. The warmer valleys, especially towards
the W., near Taunton, abound in orchards, and a large quantity of
cyder is produced. The principal manufactures are those of woollen
cloth, worsted, and silk, at Frome, Twerton, and Wellington ; of
gloves, at Yeovil, Martock, and Taunton ; of lace, at Chard; of linen,
at Crewkerne ; crape, at Dulverton, and Shepton Mallet ; of glass, at
Nailsea ; of bricks, draining-tiles, and the celebrated Bath-brick, at
Bridgwater, where are also large engineering works.

The northern part of this county is traversed by the Great Western
and Bristol and Exeter Railways frony Bath to Wellington, by Bristol,
Bridgwater, and Taunton; which send off branches N. to Portishead,
Clevedon, Weston-super-Mare, Burnham, and Watchet; and S.E. from
Durston to Yeovil; and from Taunton to Chard. The centre of the
county is intersected by the Somersetshire and Dorset line from High-
bridge, by Glastonbury to Temple Combe, whence it proceeds to Wim-
borne and Poole, uniting the Bristol and English Channels. The S.E.
th of the county has rly. communication by means of the Great

estern branches from Frome to Yeovil and Axminster, and from
Witham, by Shepton Mallet to Wells. There is a line for coal traffic
only from Frome to Radstoke.

The Kennet and Avon Canal enters the county from Bradford, and
joins the Avon at Bath. The Somersetshire Coal Canal has two
branches, one commencing at Paulton, the other at Radstoke, and both
communicating with-the Kennet and Avon Canal.

Somersetshire is rich in quarries and mineral productions. The
Bath quarries supply one of the best building-stones in England. There
are lead-mines near Wellington, and on the Mendip range, where also
calamine was formerly dug. Coal is found at and near Radstoke in
East Mendip. There are slate quarries at Wiveliscombe.

IV. AxTiQuITIES—BRITISH, ROMAN,

This county is excelled by very few in the number and interest of
its primseval and Roman remains. The crests of many of the hills
are strengthened with earthworks forming encampments, often of great
extent. It is difficult, if net impossible, to assign a date to these
works ; but it is probable that many of them are of immense an-
tiquity, long anterior to the Roman invasion, in their original form-
ation, and have been occupied in ‘succession by the forces of the various
contending parties during the early ages of English history. Con-
spicuous and characteristic examples of these encampments may be
seen at the two Cadburys, Dolbury, Maesbury, Hamdon Hill, Neroche
Castle, and Orchard Castle. The vestiges of British villages are to be
seen on Ben Knoll above Wookey, Worlebury, and Pen Selwood, &c.
The Wansdyke may be traced in its course in many places, especially
at Englishcombe, near Bath. The stone circles of Stanton Drew are
monolithic, with avenues, of the same type as that of Avebury. The
other (so-called) Druidical remains that deserve mention are the
Fairy’s Toot in Nempnett parish and the Littleton'Sepulchre,
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The chief vestiges of early habitations are those on Hampton Down
above Bath, on Dundry Hill, 8. of the ch., at Charterhouse on Mendip,
on the hill above Bleadon and Hamden Hill.

Groups of sepulchral barrows stud the ridges of many of the hills.
Near Priddy, on the Mendip, are two groups, one of 9, another of 8
barrows. Maes Knoll, on Dundry Hill, is a barrow of immense size.

British roads traversed the county in the form of ridgeways, many
of which can still be traced.

(1.) Crossed the Avon between Burghwalls and Stokeleigh camps,
and pursued its way along Leigh Down to Cadbury camp above
Tickenham, where it was joined by a road from Pertishead, and

ed 8, across the vale to a camp above Yatton ; thenoce crossing
the marsh, it traversed Mendip from Sandford by Shutshelve to Cross ;
thence over the Axe by Brent Knoll to Pawlet, at W. extremity of
Polden Hill, where it joined a branch of the road from Old Sarum to
Uphill. Here it crossed the estuary of the Parrett to Combwich, and
near the fort on Cannington Park Hill it coincides with the turnpi
road from Bridgwater to Stowey, and climbs by a valley S. of Over
Stowey to the top of the Quantocks; descended and climbed Willet Hill,
and ran along the ridge of Brendon Hill, and thence into the valley
of Exe, and to Barnstaple.

(2.) The British trackway from the Humber to Axmouth entered the
county at-Threeshire Stones, 1. W, of Colerne, Wilts, and went by the
base of Little Solsbury Hill to Bath, where it crossed the Avon under
Beechen Cliff, and climbed the hill by Holloway, crossed Wansdike
near Odd Down turnpike, and, ascending and descending, ran along the
high ground to Radstoke, near which it took the line of the turnpike-
road to Shepton Mallet and Wells. It descended into the great vale
of Somersetshire, and took a direction to Ilchester, leaving the Belgic
and British fort on Hamdon Hill to 1., crossed the Parrett, and split at
Watergore ; one branch ascended Whitedown, near Windwhistle, and
proceeded by Tytherleigh to Streetford Bridge over the Axe, and to
Axminster, The other crossed the Ile to Ilton and Broadway, and
thence to Castle Neroche.

(3.) Another trackway went from Minehead to Neroche, and thence
over Buckland Down to Streetford.

(4.) The last to be noticed led from Neroche to Honiton. This was
paved, and was dug up some years since, and the material used for the
turnpike road.

The chief British fortresses are those of Stantonbury, Maes Knoll at
Dundry (both on the Wansdyke), Cadbury Camp, those of Portbury,
Portishead, Dolsbury, Dinghurst, and Brent Knoll. The camps of
Hampton, above Bath, Little Solsbury, Blackness Hill (near Mells),
Tedbury, Wadbury, and Newbury, the Beacon on Mendip, Maesbury,
Worlbury, Danesbury commanding the Parrett, Dunkery Beacon,
Cadbury, Hamdon, and Neroche.

The Romans availed themselves of the old British trackway, to con-
struct the Fosseway through Bath and Ilchester, to Moridunumbon the

[ Wilts, Dorset, dec.] e
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S. coast. The via ad Axium, connecting Axium on the Bristol Channel
with Sorbiodunum or Old Sarum, runs from Uphill to Oldmixton, is
very indistinct over Bleadon Hill, on 8. side of Wenthill. It crosses
the road from Bristol to Bridgwater at 14 m. between Churchill and
Cross; and runs beneath Banwell Hill direct to Shipham, leaving Dol-
bury L. ; shortly after, it arrives at a rocky cleft, cut to allow it to
pass, tmversmg a valley carried alongside of the Blackdown ridge,
then to Charterhouse, where it makes an.angle to S., passes many:
tamuli, and leads direct to a solitary inn, known as the Castle of
Comfort,” near which are 4 large British circles, a group of 9 barrows
and a group of 8, crosses the road to Wells at Green Ore Farm, goes
by Maesbury camp, crosses the Fosse at Beacon Hill. Here it is very
indistinet for a considerable distance, but is supposed to go by
Gear Hill, Maiden Bradley, Kingston, and Monkton Deveril, and
crosses the toad from Shaftesbury to Warminster, near. 6 m. from
W. - Near this it goes round the tumulus N. of Lower Pertwood
Farm. 15 m. from Old Sarum the road is perfect. It runs through
Great Ridge Wood, crosses the Western Road between Deptford
Inn and Chicklade'in extensive earthworks at Stockton Wood corner,
thence through Grovely Wood; crosses the river Wily; proceeds
through Chilhampton ; crosses the Avon, runmncr through Stratford to
Old Sarum.

The Roman remains at Bath are of unusnal magnificence, and have
been found in great abundance. .Ilchester supplies copious marks of
its Roman origin, and the traces of Roman ocoupation are plentifully
scattered over the surface of the county. Tessellated pavements
have been found at Camerton, East Coker, Pitney, Whatley, &ec.
'Fhe lead-mines of Mendip were worked by the Romans, of which
we have evidence in the pigs of lead with Roman inscriptions found at
Wookey, Blagdon, &c

V. ABCHITECTURE AND CHURCHES,

Ancm'mc'rlmn:

1. Military.—The castles of Somersetshlre, always a peaceful county,
were fow, and they have almost entirely disappesred. Of Bristol,
just over the border, for many centuries one of the strongest and most
important in the kingdom, no more than the name and site, and some
few fragments of walls and buildings, remain. Of Castle Cary, famous

in the civil wars of Stephen’s time, nothing is to be seen beyond
some grassy mounds. Taunton preserves its gateway and hall bat
in a state of great degradation. Of Bridgwater all has passed away
but the name, Dunster was rebuilt. in the reign of Ehzabeth, bnt
preserves several portions of earlier work., The chief remains are at
Nunney, of the 14th cent., and Farleigh Hungerford, of the 15th.

TL. Domestic—This is the richest district in England for domestic
remains, especially those of the 15th cent. . In some parts of the county
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every village has one or more houses, or parts of houses, worthy of
notice. Owing to the excellence of the stone, they have been better
preserved than in many parts of England. The following list gives the
most remarkable examples, to which the unrivalled specimens at Wells
must be added :—

Fourteenth Cent.,— Meare (manorhouse and fishhouse), Martock ;
Compton Dundon; Doulting; Lytes Cary; Chapel Cleve; Cleve-
don Court ; Clapton-in-Gordano (partly destroyed).

Fifteenth O'ent.—%anwell Court ; Beckington; Blackmoor, near Car-
rington ; Chew Stoke (parsonage); Congresbury (parsonage) ; Cross-
combe ; Glastonbury ; Hinton St. George ; Hutton ; Kingston Sey-
mour; Lytes Cary (part); Nailsea; Norton St. Philips (George

* Inn, &c.); Norton-sub-Hamdon; South Petherton; Stoke-under-

" Hamdon ; Tickenham ; Yatton.

Sizteenth Cent.— Barrington Court; Brympton; Bristol (houses);
Dunster ; Halsway; Stogumber ; Montacute; Nettlecombe ; Quan-
toxhead ; Sandford Orcas. i
ITI. Monastic.—Of the magnificent foundation of Glastonbury the

remains are lamentably small. A portion of the church ; the abbey

gateway ; abbot’s kitchen, and barn, comprise the whole. The less
important religious houses of Cleve Abbey, Hinton Charter-house,

Muchelney, and Woodspring, retain a larger portion, comparatively,

of their buildings, and deserve more attention (especially Cleve

Abbey) than they have hitherto met with. A small fragment is all

that stands of the Priory of Taunton. The chapel of the small

Austin priory of Stavordale is incorporated with a modern farmhouse.

CHURCHES.

The churches of Somersetshire, previous to the Perpendicular period,
appear to have been of no great pretensions. They seem usually to
have wanted both clerestories and aisles. They were often cruciform,
and an octagonal tower, sometimes central (as at N. Curry), sometimes
at one side (Somerton), was frequent in some districts,

There is abundance of fine stone used in the churches of this county ;

o ) soarser material of bine lias is employed, which

work. These two materials often appear in the
south-east district, it is the fashion to white-
exterior. ’ A
e only one aisle, as Pilton, Huish, &c.; and
which the tower is between the nave and the
ndications of Norman work, e. g. Butleigh and
es there are transeptal chapels, of the same
8 Glastonbury St. fohn; and sometimes there
on Beauchamp, Fivehead. When the tower is
is generally of perpendicular character. There
wrches, with central towers, as Bath Abbey,
Milborne Port, Ilminster, Dunster,  Ditcheat,
c? ’
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South Petherton, &c. Barrington is also cruciform, with a central
octagonal tower and aisles. Others are cruciform, with a western
tower, as Bridgwater, Weston Zoyland, &c. Octagonal towers may
be seen at Somerton, Doulting, and Barrington ; at Barton St. David,
Tintinhull (on N. side), Ilchester (west end of the nave), South
Petherton (in centre of cross), Podymore (at west end), and Bishop’s
Hull. Taunton St. Mary Magdalene is remarkable for having double
aisles on each side. .

This county has a peculiarly distinctive character in its ecclesiology,
displaying itself in a general prevalence of Perpendicular work, often of
a richly ornamental character, but especially so in the toweis, many of
which are noted for their magnificence. The more elaborate have often
pierced battlements and piuvnacles, the latter of very exquisite work-
manship, and occasionally multiplied to the number of twelve or
sixteen. The belfry windows are generally double, and sometimes
triple, and filled with elezant stonework pierced with quatrefoil panel-
ling—an arrangement which, if not quite peculiar to this county, is
scarcely found except in those which adjoin it, as Gloucester, Dorset,
and Wilts,

“The Perpendicular work of the county,” writes Mr. Freeman, ¢ is
of the most magnificent character. The typical form is a lofty and
elaborate W. tower, disengaged from the aisles, often vaulted within,
and nave and aisles with or without clerestory; very commonly a S,
porch a8 high as the aisles, a high roof, and a comparativcly insigni-
ficant chancel of earlier work, with Perp. chapels on each side. Poly-
gonal turrets are frequent. The roofs are various, but different forms
of the coved roof are typical. The interiors are rich in screens and
other wood work. The work is generally superior in the N, to that in
the S. part of the county, owing to the superior quality of the stone
admitting more delicate chiselling. The towers, which are the great
glory of the county, may be ranked under three typical forms. (1.)
The Taunton type, with a staircase turret at one corner, and double
buttresses at the others, all the pinnacles being of equal height, the
tower being divided into stages by horizontal string-courses. Ezamples
—St. Mary Magdalene and St. James, Taunton, Ile Abbots, Bishop’s
Lydiard, and Huish. (2.) The Bristol type, with a prominent turret,
crowned with a single spirelet rising above the rest, St. Stephen’s and
St. Werburgh’s, Bristol, Yeovil, Banwell, Cheddar. (3.) The Wrington
type, which dispenses with the staircase turret and horizontal divisions,
and is panelled with two enormously lofty belfry windows, with pin-
pacled turrets of the same height; Wrington, St. Cuthbert’s Wells,
St. John’s Glastonbury, and North Petherton. Spires are very un-
frequent, and where they exist are often.imperfect, as at St. Mary’s Red-
cliffe, Yatton, Shepton Mallet, Minchinhampton. ~ Perfect spires exist
at Congresbury, Bridgwater, Frome, Croscombe, Castle Cary, Trent.”

But though the Perpendicular is the prevailing style of Somersetshire,
and most churches, externally at least, seem to belong to it, there will
often be found early work in the chancel, generally &, transition from
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Early English to Decorated ; and some chancels are wholly of that
character. Norman work is uncommon; but there are a few fine
specimens,

There is some singular work in Milborne Port, which exhibits some
vibs and straight-sided arches, apparently Saxon. There is Early
Norman work in the same church; some of a rich and singular
character, at Compton Martin, and portions of the same style at East
Stoke, West Harptree, Bathford, Montacute Swell, and Uphill.

The tower of Clevedon, and portions of West Harptree, partake of
both Norman and E. E. character.

There is E. E. work in the transepts of Barrington, at Montacute,
Tintinhull, Shepton Beauchamp. Of the same style are Pilton, Ched-
zoy, Portishead, Portbury, Keynsham, East Stoke, West Quantocks-
head, St. Martin Fivehead, the chancel of Martock, the arcades of
Shepton Mallet -and St. Cuthbert, Wells. Transition to Decorated
appears in the chancels of St. Decuman’s, Wellington, Ruishton, &c.
The Decorated work in this county is not generally of a very rich
kind. Specimens will be found in the churches of Frome, Shap-
wick, Butleigh, Meare, Priddy, West Charlton, Shepton Beauchamp,
Wookey, Compton Dundon, Somerton, perts of Yatton, and a fine
porch at Bridgwater. In many of the Early English and Early
Decorated windows the interior arch has a kind of feathering, like
that which sometimes occurs in Oxfordshire.

The Perpendicular examples are so numerous that it is difficult
to specify them. The finest and most considerable churches of this
style are Bath Abbey, Taunton St. Mary Macdalene, Glastonbury
St. John, Yeovil, Crewkerne, llminster, Cheddar, Martock, Kings-
bury, North Petherton, Bridgwater, Long Sutton, Leigh-on-Mendip,
Mills, Dunster, which last has, however, some earlier indications. At
Low Ham is a chapel, built in 1624, having a chancel, aisles, and rood-
screen. The parapets are usually embattled, sometimes with good
open panelling. The arrangement of the Perpendicular piers is very
uniform. They are lighter than in Devon, but the capitals of the
shafts are less richly sculptured. Large porches are very common,
sometimes with good groining, Panelled arches are of constant occur~
rence.

The rood-turret is generally a marked external feature; and this
county has several fine rood-screens of wood with parcloses to the
north and south aisles, on some of which the loft still remains. Ex-
amples are found at Kingsbury, Long Sutton, Norton Fitzwarren,
Bridgwater, Curry Rivell, West Quantockshead, &c.

Very fine and rich specimens of carved bench-ends are found at Bishop’s
Lydiard, Crowcombe, Stogumber, Kingsbury, Curry Rivell, Norton
Fitzwarren, Weston Zoyland, Cheddar, &. At Croscombe is a good
deal of wood screen-work, and carved benches of later character. En-
riched wooden pulpits remain at Bridgwater, Long Sutton, Queen’s
Camel, North Petherton, and stone pulpits at Cheddar, Stogumber; Glas-
tonbury St. Benedict, Shepton Mallet, Baltonsborough, Shapwick, &c.

- A



liv Places of Interest. Introd.

There is some good late stained glass at Cheddar, Kingsbury, Curry
Rivell, and of earlier character at St. Decuman’s.

Enriched roofs abound, as at Taunton St. Mary Magdalene, Martock,
North Petherton, Long Sutton, &e. ’

The lychnoscope, or low side-window, is rare, as the aisles areso often
continued along the chancel; but the chancel arch is generally wide,
and springing from corbels. - There are some instances of hagi X

There are several early fonts, and a good many of the Perp.
period, but there is no very distinctive character about them.

There are not many sepulchral brasses, but at St. Decuman’s are
some curious ones of late date.

- Some fine and rich tombs occur at Yatton, Cheddar, Backwell,
Dunster, Long Ashton, &c., but chiefly of Perpendicular date.

There are sacristies at the east end of the chancel, and below the cill
of the east window, at Ilminster, Crewkerne, North Petherton,
Kingsbury, &c.

VI. PrAcEs oF INTEREST.

Bath.—Abbey Ch.; Baths; Pump Room; Literary Institution; Roman
Remaing; Assembly Rooms; Circus; Crescent. Lansdown: Prior
Park; Combe Down; Kelston Round Hill; Wiek Roeks; Claverton ;
Wellow; Stony Littleton; Bitton.

Bristol.— Cathedral : St. Mary Redcliffe; Mayor's Cbapel; St. Stephen's;
St. James’s; Institution; Old Houses; Walls; Floating Harbour ;
Basins; Blind Asylum; Miiller's Orphan House; Clifton Downs;
Suspension Bridge; Gorge of Avon; Leigh Woods; Leigh Court
(pictures); Blaise Castle (pictures); Kings Weston; Penpold Point.

ndry ; Stanton Drew; Chew Magna. Ashton Court; Portbury;
Portishend.

Clevedon.—Clevedon Court; Old Ch.; Walton Castle. Weston-in-Gordano ;
Clapton-in-Gordano; Tickenham; Cadbury Camp; Brockley Combe ;
Cleve Combe. .

Yatton.—Ch.; Parsonage. Congresbury Ch. and Parsonage. Wrington
Ch. ; Barley Wood. ’

Weston-super-Mare.—Worle Hill; Kewstoke ; Woodspring Priory ; Uphill
Old Ch.; Brean Down. Banwell Ch.; Bone Caves; View from hill.
Hutton Cave.

Azbridge.—Ch.. Cheddar Ch., Caverns and Cliffs. The Mendips, mining
operations ; Combes; Burrington ; Blagdon; Wedmore; Brent Knoll.

Wells.—Cathedral ; Bishop’s Palace; Deanery; Archdeaconry; Close ;
Vicars' Close; St. Cuthbert's Ch. Wookey Hole ; Ebber Rocks.

Glastonbury.—Abbey Ruins; Abbot's Kitchen and Barn; Tor; Wirrel
Hill ; Churches; George Inn. Sharpham; Meare Manor-house and
I(;i)sh-honae; Street, manufactures and Saurian remains; Butleigh

urt.

Somerton.— Ch.; Lytes Cary ; views from Kingsdon Hill, Somerton Hill.

Ilchester.—Ch. ; Roman remains; Lymington.
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Yeovil.—Ch.; Old Houses; Summerhouse Hill. Trent, Old House, Ch.,
Rectnry (pictures). {lympton Montacute, House, Ch., Priory, 8t.
Michael’s Hill. Hambhill ; 8toke-sub-Hamdon ; Bradford Abbas Cb. ;
Clifion Maubank.

Martock.—Ch. ; Old House. Kingsbury Ch.; South Petherton, King Ina’s
Palage ; West Stoke.

Langport.—Ch., Huish Episcopi Ch., Hanging Chapel, Museum. Mu-
chelney Abbey, Low Ham Chapel ngnhgnnm Aller ; Parkfield.
Bridgwater.— Ch. ; Bath-brick Works; Eager. Sedgmoor; Chedzoy. :

Weston Zoyland Cannington, Nether Stowey; the Quantocks
Enmore Castle; Halswell House. Boroughbridge; Othery; Isle of
Athelney ; Burnham.

Taunton.—St. Mary Magdnlenes Ch. ; 8t.James's Ch.; Castle ; Museum ;
Shire Hall. Court ; Cothelstone Crowcombe (pictures) ;
Willsneck ; Wntchet Blue Anehor Cleve Abbey N. Curry.

Wellington.—Ch.; Monument on Black Down; Robin Hood’s Butts;
Nynehead Court ; Cothay Manor.

Ilminster.-—Ch. ; Barrington Court; Donyatt Ch. and Manor; Jordans;
Dowlmhwa.ke Broadway ; Castle Neroche; Ilton; Ile Abbots.
Chard.—Ch. ; Lace Factories; Ford Abbey ; Snowdon (view); St. Rana’s

Hill (view).

Crewkerne.—Ch. ; Hinton Bt. George; Cricket St. Thomas.

Frome.—Ch. ; Cloth Mills; Card Mill; Vallis; Nunney Castle; Lulling-
ton Ch.; Longleat; Mells; Ammerdown (view); Marston House; Or-
chardleigh ; Witham.

Bruton.—Ch.: Grammar School ; Hospital. Redlynch ; Stourhead ; Alfred’s
Tower ; Bau:ombe Jack's Castle.

Wincanton.—Stavordale Priory ; Roundhill ; Pen Selwood ; Penpits ;
Orchard Castle.

Castle Carey.—View; Alford Ch.; Cadbury Camp; North Cadbury Ch.;
Queen’s Camel Ch.

Shcpt(m Mallet.—Ch.; Manufactories; Cross. Doulting Quarries; Ch.;

Barn. Evercreech Ch.; Pilton Ch. and Bam; Maesbury Camp,
Gurney Slade. Croscombe Ch. ; Old Houses.

Dunster—Ch.; Cross; Castle; Gmbhurst Hill (view); Cone Hill
(view). Minehead ; Holnicote ; Porlock ; Dunkery Beacon ; Bossing-
ton Beacon ; Culbone Exmoor.

Dulverton.—Mount Sydenham ; Exmoor; Pixton Park; Haddon Down;
Bampton ; Waterwood.
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ROUTE 1.

LONDON T0 BATH—GREAT WESTERN
RAILWAY — BY SWINDON, WOOT-
TON BASSET, CHIPPENHAM [BO-

i WOOD, CALNE]), [MALMESBURY]}

' CORSHAM, AND BOX. °

ArTeER an almost uninterrupted
ascent from London by easy gra-
dients, shortly after -leaving the
Shrivenham Station, the Rly. crosses
the little river Cole, and enters Wilt-
shire 73% m. from Paddington.

Just outside the Wiltshire border,
in the county of Berks, on the road
from Farringdon to Swindon, stands
Coleshill House (Earl of Radnor), built
1650, one of Inigo Jones’s latest and
Yeast altered works, containing a fine
hall, and many good family portraits,
including several by SirJ. Reynolds.
The adjoining church contains a mo-
nument, by Rysbraeck, to one of the
Bouveries, and some marble effigies
of the Pleydells and Pratts, Lord
Radnor’s maternal ancestors. It has
a handsome Perp. tower, an excellent

* 'W. door, and in the nave some late
Norman and good Dec. aré¢hitecture.

In the Bouverie aisle window are a
digree of the family and a view of
leshill in coloured glass. The E.

window, representing the Nativity,

was brought from Angers, in 1787.

(See Hdbk. for Berks.) The village

consists of cottages erected by Lord

Radnor, conspicuous for their ele-

gance as well astheirsizeand comfort.
2 m. from Coleshill, 6 m, from

Swindon, is Highworth (Inn: King

and ;Queen), an old town, on’ a hill,

commanding views over the counties
of Gloucester, Berks, and Wilts.

The church (St. Michael’s) may in-

terest the stranger by its antiquity,

It is on an elevated site, like most of

the edifices dedicated to the arch-

angel, and contains monuments of
the Warnefords of Warneford Place,
near Sevenhampton, popularly known
as Sennington, Highworth Ch. was
fortified and held for the king in the

Civil Wars, but was taken by Fair-

ax’s army on their march from

Naseby westwards, June 27, 1645.

“The soldiers,” writes Sprigge, “had

good boo?' in the ch., took 70 pri-

soners, and 80 arms.,” 2m.N.W. of
the town is a pretty village, called

Hannington, built in-the'form of a Y.

The ch. has a Norm. S, doorway.




Wiltshire.
Hannington was the birthplace,
1638, of Narcissus Marsh, Primate
of Ireland, whose father had migrated
hither from Kent. 2 m. W. is
Blunsdon Castle Hill, so named from
a small circular British camp.

74. m, the rly. crosses the Roman
road from Silchester to Cirencester,
and % m. rt. passes Stratton St. Mar-
garet’s, taking its name from its posi-
tion on the Roman Street, where was
an alien Benedictine priory, granted
by Henry VI. to King’s g«mege,

ambridge.

77} m. Swindon Junction Station,
the summit of the main line, 270 ft,
above the Paddington Terminus, and
292 ft, above that at Bristol. The
South Wales division of the railwa,
here branches off rt. to New Milford,
208 m, and having numerous branches
connecting it with various towns on
the route, with the northern division
of the Company’s lines, and with the
various South Wales coalfields.

The refreshment-rooms at this
station are the best on the line, and
in order to enable passengers to avail
themselves of the accommodation,
every train stops here ten minutes.

There are two towns bearing the
name of Swindon: “one centuries
old, looking off from a hill on the
surrounding world. The other Vul-
canic, rectangular, and rigidly uni-
form ; a tremendous smithy for the
Gt. Western Rly. and its branches,
- LI Weedy. P - are
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Route 1.—New Swindon. 3

been built in the Swindon works are
probably the finest in the world, the
only limit found to their speed being
the power of the permanent way to
stand it.

The new (R) shop built in 1864,
and containing the principal part of
the machinery, has an area of 3694
square yards, and is considered one
of the finest and best arranged in the
country,

The Rail Mill contains furnaces,
steam-hammers, &c., for the entire

{ process of manufacturing rails, from

the puddling of the pig iron to the
final punching and straightening, and
is capable of supplying 400 tons of
rail per week. The usual guantity
averages about 320 tons.)

Opposite the locomotive works S.
of the main line an immense prison-
like building concentrating the car-
riage and waggon work of the Com-
pany covers an area of 12,483 square
yards ; the floor is laid out partly for
machinery and partly for sidings,
with self-acting traversing-tables for
carrying the vehicles in and out of
the shop. The locomotive works and
rail mill together employ nearly 2000
hands, who are paid every alternate
Friday from £4000 to £5000. The
area of the Company's works here is
about 115,000 square yards. Swindon
is also the chief depdt for the Great
Western Railway stores department.

On account of the distance of the
old town from the railway, it became
necessary for the Company to build
cottages for the employés nearer the
works. Round this nucleus a new
town, called for distinction New
Swindon, has arisen, inhabited almost
exclusively by servants of the Com-
pany. Pop. in 1861, 4167.

The Mechanics’ Institution, erected
together with the Market Hall by a
private company, is a fine building,
and contains a large lecture-room and
library, comprising 4200 volumes,
with a circulation of 15,000 in a
year—a commodious and well-sup-

plied reading-room, and sun
n 2
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class-rooms, chiefly for evening in-
struction. The members of the
Institute number about 1200,

Every workman in the Company’s
works at Swindon contributes to a
medical fund, the object of which is
to support a doctor, and maintain
baths and other sanitary arrange-
ments, Out of this fund a Turkish
bath has just been added to the wash-
ing baths, and a new swimming bath
100 ft. by 30 ft. erected.

The sanitary affairs of New Swin-
don are conducted by a local board.
The rate of disease and mortality is
considerably less than in its appa-
rently more healthily situated neigh-
bour, Old Swindon, owing in great
measure to the efficient system of
drainage laid down by the Great
‘Western Rly. Company.

The church is a handsome stone
structure in the Decorated English
style, with a tower, surmounted by
a crocketed spire 140 ft, high. It
cost the Company 6000/. Adjoining
are the vicarage and a commodious
school-house built at a further cost
0f 1700, Near the ch. a large piece
of ground is laid out as a park and
cricket-field.

[1 m. 1, on the summit of the hill,
is the old market-town of Swindon
(Inn: Goddard Arms; Pop., includ-
ing NewSwindon, 6836),a rather pic-
turesque town with old houses of red
brick and stone, commanding exten-
sive prospects over Berks and Glou-
cestershire. The church was rebuilt
on a new gite by Scott, with a fine
spire. Abp. Narcissus Marsh was
vicar here for one year, 1662. There
is a town-hall, market-house, and
corn-exchange. The Lawn (A. L.
Goddard, Esq.) is a handsome Italian
residence, 13 m. S.E., on the Lid-
dil:fmn road, the reservoir of the
Wilts and Berks Canal forms a fine
lake of 70 acres, abounding in fish,
in a beautifully wooded district. The
quarries of building-stone (Portland
oolite containing fossils), and the view

from the tower of the corn-exchange,
are the chief points of interest. The
view is very extensive, commanding
to the E. the great chalk ridge, with
its entrenchments and barrows, *the
scene, probably, of the early Celtic
settlements, of the final struggle of
that people against the Saxons, and
subsequently of some of the most se-
vere contests between the Saxons and
the Danes.” Four camps are visible:
2to N,, Blunsdon and Ringsbury, near
Purton; 2 to S., Badbury or Lid-
dington Castle, and Barbury. This
ground forms the N. limit of that
range of chalk which extends in a
compact mass as far as Salisbury,
and branches thence through Dorset
to the sea, including among its lonely
hills some of the most stupendous
Celtic works now extant. In the
plain to the N.W. will be observed
Coleshil (Earl of Radnor), and 24 m.
S., on the flank of the Marlborough
Downs, Burdrop Park, seat of the
Calleys; 5 m. distant are Barbury
and Liddington Castle, fine specimens
of British castrametation, the one on
the old and the other on the new
road to Marlborough (see post). On
the Lambourn Downs, E., is Weland’s
Smithy (see Hdbk, for Berks), a cham-
bered sepulchre of some ancient
chieftain, It is commonly called
Wayland Smith’s -cave, from an old
legend of which Sir Walter Scott
makes a romantic use in ‘Kenil-
worth,” ‘about an invisible smith re-
placing lost horse-shoes there. We-
land was the Vulcan of the Anglo-
Saxons (see Dr. Thurnam’s Memoir,
Wilts Archseol. Mag. vol. 7); close by
is the White Horse.]

[Two roads run from Swindon to
Marlborough, the old, W., and the
new, E., bothabout 11 m. The former
crosses a wild hilly district, and is a
rough one for carriages; the latter is
the coach-road, and runs most of the
distance through a valley,| -On foot,
a traveller bound to Marlborough by
the old road can shorten the way by

Wiltshire.r
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pursuing the new road as far as the
turnpike, where he will turn rt. into
a green lane, floored with Bagshot
sandstone, which will lead him to
the old road at Burdrop (i.e. Bury-
Thorp) Park (Henry Calley, Esq.).
He will there find himself in a high
open country, in view of the greater
part of N. Wiltshire, and of Swindon
crowning an outlying eminence.

Proceeding towards Marlborough,
he should glance about him at the

" following points,

3 m. Where the road approaches a
crescent of hills, some 10 m. from
horn to horn, roughened rt. and 1. by
the prominent camps of Barbury and
Liddington Castle. The hills are un-
enclosed, and bare of trees, with the
exception of some beech-clumps,
mere dots on the landscape,

4 m. Burdrop Racecourse. Here the
road has reached the crescent, and
climbs a formidable hill. The tra-
veller should diverge to the rt. by
crossing the British Ridgeway by
Hackpen Barn, and ascend the turfy
down to

Barbury
excellent preservation,
circular, } m. round, and girdled by
a double ring of ditch zv.ngl rampart
enclosing 12} acres; the inner very
strong, the massive rampart sloping
full 50 ft, to the bottom of the ditch.
The entrances are E. and W., and
the diam. of the area 2000 ft.

Beran Byrig, or Barbury, is con-
sidered to have been the scene, in
556, of an obstinate and sanguinary
action between the Britons and the
Saxons under Cynric and Ceawlin,
The savage warriors fought from the
rising to the setting of the sun, when
victory declared for the Saxons, and
the camp was stormed. This defeat
was decisive of the fate of Wiltshire,
which became a province of Wessex.

6 m, Here, at Hessick Barn, the tra-
veller reaches the culminating point
of the road, in a country wild and
lonely. Around him are the grassy
sides of the hills, down which he

This is a large camp, in
t is nearly

Route 1.— Wanborough.
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may trace the long descent to Marl-
borough, and at a little distance the
plantations of Rockley House (rt.), for-
merly the seat of the Baskerville
family, lately of Sir John Smith,
and now of Mr. Tanner; to the W,
of which lies a stony valley, called
Temple Bottom, containing the remains
of a cromlech; on the heights of
Hackpen, overlooking the remains of
Avebury, near Glory Ann, is a curious
concavity, set with stones, called Bal-
more Pond. In about 3 m. the tra-
veller arrives at Marlborough Race-
course, immediately above the town.
(See Rte. 4.)

On the new road
may be noticed—

1 m, rt. the reservoir of the Wilts
and Berks Canal, a sheet of water
nearly 1 m, in length.

3 m. on a hill to 1. is Wanborough,
the burgh or stronghold of Woden,
formerly the key of Wessex, where
591 Ceawlin was defeated by his
nephew Ceolric.

‘¢ All the great highways of Wes-
sex converge to a point in the neigh-
bourhood of Wanborough. When
posted at Wanborough, tie King of
Wessex had Roman roads whereby
to communicate with Winchester and
Old Sarum, the capitals of his two
Rgncipal shires; while another

man road came to him from Sil-
chester throughthe heart of Berkshire,
and the Icknield Street bronght him
the men of Chiltern and of Oxford-
shire.” ¢“After one of the fiercest
and bloodiest battles recorded in our
annals, Ceawlin was defeated, and
two years after died in exile.” —
Dr. Guest.

Fairfax’s army halted at Wan-
borough, in their march westward,
June 28, 1645,

Wanborough ckurch is remarkable
as having two steeples; one with a
small spire at the E. end of the nave,
and at the W. end a later sq. tower,
erected (as recorded by a tablet affixed
to the wall) A.p. 1435, by Thomas
Polton and Edith his wife (to whom

.from Swindon
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there is a stone in the S, aisle, giving
the date “ Anno Virginis’”), and their.
son Philip, Archdeacon of Gloucester;
for whom and their 15 other child-
ren, and other contributors to the
building, the prayers of the faithful
arerequested. The village tradition,
groundless, of course, is to the effect
that the church was erected by two
maiden sisters, who being unable to
agree whether it should have a tower
or a spire, decided the point by build-
ing both.

4 m, S. a rough road over the
Downs leads from Wanborough to
Liddington, 1 m. S, of which 18 the
strong circular earthwork of Badbury
or Liddington Castle, & British en-
trenchment, containing ' 7§ acres
within a rampart 40 ft, high., An
erroneous theory identifies this fort-
ress with the “ Mons Badonicus” of'
history, where King Arthur, with his
Round Table knights, defeated the
Saxons under Cerdic, A.»n. 520 (see
post, Badbury Rings, Rte. 12).

2 m, rt., Chisleden church, contains
monuments to the Mellishes and
Calleys, At the Rod House thé road
crosses the Ridgeway, an old British
road running N.E. into Berks, still
used by the Welsh cattle drovers,]

Proceeding on our route—at

80 m, 3 m. 1. is Basset Down House,
once the residence of Dr, Maskelyne,
the astronomer-royal, and afterwards
of his daughter, the late Mrs. Storey
Maskelyne.

14 m. rt. Lydiard Tregoz (4 m,
from Swindon, 3 from Wootton Bas-
set), so called from its ancient
owners, the Tregoz family; from
the reign of Hen. VIL the seat of
the St. Johns, Viscounts Boling-
broke and Barons St. John. The
plain stone mansion stands in a park
finely wooded with old oaks, The
Church deserves notice. The windows
of the chancel contain a good deal of
stained glass, among other devices ah
olive tree, in allusion to Oliver St.
John, from the boughs of which

Route 1.—Wootton Basset.
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hang the shields of the different
heiresses through whom the estates
came to the St, John family. One of
the monuments, to Katharine, d. of
Sir John St. John, wife of ‘Sir Giles
Mompesson (said to have been the
original of Sir Giles Overreach of
Massinger, himself a Wiltshire man),
whose monument is over the chancel
door, There are gorgeous monu-
ments of the St. John family, one
enclosed within folding doors, painted
with life-size figures, and the family
g}edigree. Among them are those of

icholas and Eliz. St. John, 1589,
kneeling figures under a Corinthian
canopy. ward, d. 1645, in gilt
armour; Sir John and his two wives
and children adjoining the altar;
John Viscount St. John, d. 1748.
From the number and richness of
its monuments it is called by the
common people “Fine Lydiard.”
The t Lord Bolingbroke was
buried at Battersea.

1m. W. is Midghall Farm, an old
moated house, once the Grange of
Stanley Abbey.

823 Wootton Basset Stat, The
town (Znn: Royal Oak; Pop. 2200)
occupies the summit of a hill ; it was
once the inheritance of the Bassets of
‘Wycombe, its first name being cor-
rnpted from Wodeton, «“ Woodtown.”
It is an insignificant market-town of
a single street nearly 4 m. long, dis-
franchised by the Reform Act of
1832, Lord Clarendon, the historian,
was first returned to Parliament as
its member.

The church is of a very unusual
plan, of 2 long aisles spanned by one
roof, without distinction of chancel.
The roof is elled, and has the
original painting. The tower, at the
W. end of the S. aisle, is low and .
small, The prevailing features are
Perp. The S. porch bas a parvise
and good groining.

In the town-hall are preserved the
remains of a Cucking or Ducking Stool,
bearing the date 1668, once

“ The dread of every scolding quean,”
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This was an arm chair on wheels,
with 2 long poles or shafts, to the
ends of which were fastened ropes.
The mode of punishment was as fol-
lows. The woman who was supposed
to have merited immersion was tied
into the chair, and the machine
wheeled to a pond, over which it was
made to project. The shafts were
then released, and the chair with its
unfortunate occupant tilted into the
water. When the ducking had been
duly performed, the stool was again
raised by a pull on the ropes.

A great number of septaria or
cement-stones are found here in the
Oxford clay, a stratum of the middle
oolite. Farther N. are the coral-rag
hills, and, bounded by their woods,
the old cam%of Ringsbury, 3 m, on the
road to the Purton Stat.

[Broad Hinton, 5 m. S.E. towards
Marlborough, surrounded for miles
by open downs, was the residence of
the great lawyer Sir Jokn Glanville,b.
1590, near Tavistock. ¢ His seat,”
says Evelyn, in his ¢ Diary,” 1654, “is
at Broad Hinton, where he now lives,
but in the gatehouse; his very fair
dwelling having been burnt by his
own hands, to prevent the rebels
making a garrison of it.”

Cliffe Pypard, 4 m, S, of Wootton,
on the slope of the steep greensward
cliff running E. by S. from Lidding-
ton to Highway, oommandx;::g lovely
views, was severely visited, Sept.
1856, by a remarkable whirlwind,
which, descending from the high
land, destroyed several hundred trees
on the grounds of the Manor House,
seat of H. N. Goddard, Esq. The
S. aisle of the ch. contains a brass,
with effigy of a knight, probably a
Quintin of Bupton. It has a good
8q. tower, and a carved oak roof,
with a large marble monument to a
native worthy and benefactor, Thos.
Spackman. The ch. of Winterbourn
Basset, situated on the downs, 2 m,
S., of the time of Edw. III., was re-
stored 1857, The tower is Perp,

and the N. window of the N, chapel
of the best period of Dec.]

Leaving Wootton Basset, the line
proceeds at first along an embank-
ment, descending 50 ft. in a mile,
commanding a wide view of the
valley of the Avon, with its com-
panion canal, and then enters a deep
cutting, crossed by a bridge carry-
ing a road from Malmesbury towards
Cliffe Pypard.

873 m, Dauntscy Stat. On the 1. is
Bradenstoke Hill, one of the highest
oolitic ranges of N. Wilts, crowned
by the remains of the priory (now a
farmhouse), and Clack Hill, with its
earthworks, including a central
mound for a beacon-fire,

Bradenstoke or Broadstoke was one
of 4 religious houses which stood
here in early times on or near the
banks of the Avon; the others were
Malmesbury, Stanley, and Lacock.
“ Its remains,” says the poet Bowles,
‘“ yet appear conspicuous on the edge
of that long sweep of hills which
formed the S.W,. bounds of the
ancient forest of Braden, from whence
the Danes descended like a storm to
lay waste the country about Chippen-
ham and Lacock. It may be distin-
guished by its massy buttresses and
battlements far off in the sunshine.”
Bradenstoke was founded, A.p, 1142,
for Augustine or Black canons, b
Walter d’Evreux, father of Patric
Earl of Salisbury, and great-grand-
father of Ela, Longespée’s wife, At
the Dissolution, it was granted to
Rich. Pexhall, and afterwards be-
longed to the Danvers, and Methuens,
now to G. Goldney, Esq. The re-
mains of the priory are well worth
inspection. They consist chiefly of
the walls and roof of a 14th cent,
hall, c. 1320, now cut up into several
rooms. The very finely carved oak
roof, with the Dec. ball-flower on
the beams, can only be seen in the
garrets. . At one end of the hall are
the prior’s chambers, with ‘corner
staircase and garderobe turret. A
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boss in the ceiling of the chief room
bears the initial of Snow, the last
prior. Beneath are vaulted cellars
temp. Rich. II. Close to the house
is a plain 15th cent. barn with mo-
dern roof.

The pillar seen conspicuously on
the ridge of the hill 1. commemorates
Maud Heath of Brembhill (see post).

Davuntsey lies 2} m. to rt, 4} m.
S.E. of Malmesbury. The ch. con-
tains a very interesting monument to
Sir Henry Danvers, d. 1643, created
Baron Danvers by James 1. and Earl
Danby by Charles I. He and his
brother gir Charles Daiivers were
the principals in the extraordinary
assassination of Henry Long at
Corsham (fully narrated by Canon
Jackson in Wilts Arch. Mag. vol.i. p.
806), for which for some unexplained
cause they were never brought to
justice. 8ir Charles was afterwards
attainted and beheaded for his share
in Essex’s plot, 1600. Lord Danvers
was a patron of George Herbert, and
it was to Dauntsey (“ A noble house
which stands in a choice air”—
Walton’s Lives) that the poet retired
in 1629, when threatened by con-
sumption, and here he met his wife,
daughter of Mr. C. Danvers of
Baynton. (Lord Daaby founded
the Botanic Garden at Oxford, and
built the entrance gateway from a
design of Inigo Jones.) The monu-
ment records that he died full of
¢« honours,
The epitaph on the E. side is from
Herbert's pen. He was succeeded
by his brother John, one of Charles
I1.’s judges, whose estates, being for-
feited to the Crown, formed part of
Mary of Modena’s dowry, and were

nted by Queen Ann to Mordaunt,

1 of Peterborough. The last Earl
was buried here in 1814. There is
also a brass to Sir John Danvers, died
1514, with his wife, and one also to
the lady Anne herself, who was
daughter to Sir John Dauntsey, c.
1585. The Manor House is modern.
90 m, rt, Christian Malford, on the

woundes, and daies.” [

Wiltshire,

bauks of the Avon, which the rly.
now crosses and keeps it on the 1.

914 m. Tytherton Kellaways may be
seen on 1, which gives its name to the
Kellaways rock, one of the limestone
beds of the Oxford clay, almost en-
tirely com) of fossil shells, which
is seen at Kellaways’ bridge.

933 m, Cln‘ppmzam Junction Stat,

[Here the Wilts, Somerset, and Wey-
mouth Railway passes off on 1. to
Dorchester and Weymouth. From
Westbury a branch, opened 1856,
runs by Warminster to Salisbury,
and there joins the line to Southamp-
ton. Another branch, completed
1857, goes from Holt to Devizes, and,
more recently, one to Calne.]

CHiPPENHAM (Inns : Angel, George;
Pop. 7075). This is an agricultural
and manufacturing town, sending
1 member to Parliament, situated
on the Avon, here a clear winding
stream, working various mills. It is
celebrated for its cheese and corn
markets. The former, now one of
the largest in England, is held under
an extensive covered building, erected
for the purpose by the late Joseph
Neeld, Esq., of Grittleton. The
cloth made at Chippenham was
deemed worthy of the first prize in
the first Great Exhibition ; its silk-
weaving is still a considerable busi-
ness; and its two large iron-foundries
supply not only the Great Western
but several lines of railway in the
N. of England. The town has also
2 tanneries on a large scale.

Chippenham is a town of great an-
tiquity and historic interest. As its
name implies (A.-S, ceapan, to buy),
it was a market-town in Anglo-Saxon
times, and here the kings of Wessex
had a manor and hunting seat. Here
Alfred resided, and his sister ZEthel-
swyth was married to Burhed, King
of Mercia. Chippenham was taken
bz the Danes in 878, who made it
their head-quarters, whence they
ravaged the whole adjoining country.
Alfred’s reappearance from hisretreat
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at Athelney (see Rte. 19) and his
victory at Ethandun was followed by
his return to Chippenham, which he
bequeathed to his daughter ZEifryth,
wife of Baldwin, Count of Flanders,
for life. It returned to the Crown,
and was one of the manors held by
Edward the Confessor *‘ in his own
bhand.” The subsequent history of
the town is of no particular interest.

It was the birtbplace of Dr. John
Scott,1.1688,author of *The Christian
Life,’ who upon personal scruples
twice refused a bishopric. he
old Bath and London road passes
through the town. In 1742 Sir
Robert Walpole, finding himself in
a minority of 16 on a question re-
lating to a Chippenham election,
resigned, having been then Prime
Minister of England for 21 years.

The Church (St. Andrew) is a large
edifice of mixed architecture. The
tower, which bears the coat of arms
of Lord Hungerford, lord of the
manor temp, Henry VI., was taken
down and rebuilt, with a spire, in
1633, at the cost of 320L, to which
Sir F. Popham, M.P. for the borough,
contributed 40L. ; an act of generosity
commemorated by a shield contain-
ing his arms over the W. door. The
walls of the chancel and a small
window on N. are of the original
work, c. 1120. The elaborate Nor-
man chancel arch of large span, c.
1120. Near it is a rich Dec. ha-
gioscope. There is a pretty Perp.
chapel on S., covered with the cog-
nisances of the house of Hungerford.
A monument to Sir Gilbert Prynne,
1627, deserves to be noticed. The
view from the E. end of the ch.-yard
is very pleasing.

The objects of chief interest in
this neighbourhood are — Bowood,
Malmesbury  Abbey-church, Charlton
Park, the manor-house of Draycot,
Castle Combe, Grittleton, Corsham
Court, Lacock Abbey, Spye Park Gate-
house, and Bradenstoke Priory. Ave-
bury, N. Wrazhall, and Bromham Ch.,
are also within reach.

Route 1,—Chippenham, 9

Maud Heatk’s Causeway,leading from
Chippenham N_.E. for 4} miles by the
village of Tytherton Kellaways [where
is a Moravian establishment founded
by Cennick], to the top of Bremhill-
wick Hill, traversing a low tract of
heavy clay land and crossing the N.
Wilts Avon. It is a stone pitched
path, made and still maintained by
the benefaction of a benevolent dame
(popularly said to have been a mar-
ket woman), in the Wars of the
Roses, ¢, 1474, Her memory is
preserved by rhymed inscriptions
on stones at either extremity of the
path, and on the bridge midway, as
well as by the monumental column
on the ridge of Bremhillwick Hill,
crowned with a statue of Maud Heath
herself, erected by Lord Lansdowne
and the Rev. W, Lisle Bowles (see
paper by Canon Jackson, Wilts Arch.
Mag. i, 251). This position and the
adjoining drive on Wick Hill com-
mand one of the finest and most ex-
tensive views in Wiltshire, including
‘W, Monkton Farleigh Tower at Brad-
ford, and Beckford’s Tower at Bath,
and the Badminton Woods; and E.,,
Roundway Down, Compton House,
the White Horse, the Cherhill Co-
lumn, and the Wansdyke.

In the vicinity of the town are
Ivy House; Monkton House, Graham
Moore Esmeade, Esq.; Notton, Rt.
Hon. Sir J. W. Awdry; Lackkam,
formerly the seat of Lieat. Col.
Montagu, the naturalist; now of the
Stapletons ; and Hardenhuish Park
(commonly called Harnish). The
church of Hardephuish was built by
Wood of Bath. The cemetery con-
tains a monument to the celebrated
financier David Ricardo, father of
the late Mrs. Clutterbuck, buried
here 1823; and to John Thorpe, the
learned editor of the °Registrum’
and ¢ Custumale Roffense.’

About 4 m. N.E. at Foxham, near
the canal, stands Caden/iam, a manor-
house of the Hungerfords,  whose
arms, with the Seymours’, it bears on

| the garden front. It is a small and

B3
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rather poor house, erected in the
17th century. Evelyn was a visitor
here in 1652, and was “long and
nobly entertained.”

[4 m. N. is Draycot Cerne (Earl
Cowley) an ancient seat of the Cernes

and Longs. The house contains
many objects of interest, paintings,
Sevres china, curious fire-dogs, and

candelabra presented to the Longs
by Charles 1I. after the Restoration.
The park is one of the finest in N,
Wilts, richly studded with ancient
oaks, crowning a hill commanding an
extensive prospect, The monuments
of the Cernes and Longs in the ch.
are interesting, including a knight in
chain-armour said to be Sir hilis
Cerne, a brass to Sir E. Cerne an
lady, c. 1893, and a rich altar-tomb
to Sir Thomas Long, and some mo-
dern monuments,

24 m. N.W,, at Lanhill Farm, in
the hamlet of Allington, close to the
Bristol road, is a tumulus known as
Hubbas Low, and traditionally known
as the burial place of the Danish
leader Hubba, but considered by
Dr. Thurnam to be a British work,
1t was constructed of stones laid with
the hand, and contained rude sepul-
chral cells formed by large rough
slabs of the stone of the country.]

he great object of attraction at
Chippenham is the Marquis of Lans-
downe's seat at Bowood, 34 m, S8.E.
1t is also accessible from Calne from
which it is distant 2 m. S W. Itis
a mansion in the Italian style, com-
bining splendour and taste with com-
fort. Itisnotshown exceptby a per-
sonal order from Lord Lansdowne.
The gardens are, however, accessible
during the absence of the family, and
the park is freely open. Bowood owes
many of its most interesting associa-
tions, as well ag much of its beauty,
to its late distinguished owner, Henry
3rd Marquis of Lansdowne, K.G.,
‘(died 31 January, 1863); who not
only enlar, and embellished the
ornamental grounds, and filled the
house with a noble collection of pic-
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tares, books and various works of art
and taste, but made it the hospitable
resortofthose who were distingnished
in science, literature, and art. The
]él;]ijncipal entrance of the park is from

i , by an arched gateway,
ﬂanted by a tower after a design by
Barry, and ornamented on the inner
wall by two reliefs by M, L. Watson,
Opposite the gilt gates is the pretty
little village of Derry Hill, full of
modern half-timbered houses, a nice
small Hotel, and a ch. with lofty spire
built in 1848, The drive to the
house is nearly 2 m. through luxu-
riant woodg, an occasional view being
obtained of the Lansdowne Column
and the white horse cut on the slope
of the Cherhill downs. From Calne
the park-road skirts the en for
the distance of a mile. Having ar-
rived at the house, the visitor will
observe how well it harmonizes with
the surrounding scenery, with which,
indeed, it is in a measure blended
by the beautiful tints of the stone.

e principal front, adorned by a
Doric portico, faces the S., and at-
tached to it is a long low wing, con-
taining a conservatory opening on a
succession of tel gardens, and
built in imitation of a wing of Dio-
cletian’s palace at Spalatro, The
view from this 8, front is exceed-
ingly beautiful; the lake winding
through the woods, the ferry to the
rustic cottage just peeping from the
trees, the prospect over the forest
upland to the purple hills of Round-
way and Beacon Down.

Among the various apartments are
distributed the pictures, which in-
clude specimens * of the best masters
of the Italian, Flemish, Spanish,
French, and English schools. They
are arranged upon walls of crimson
silk, which has an excellent effect.”
—Waagen. Among them may be
enumerated—

Inthedrawing-room: Salvator Rosa,
portrait of himself; 2, portrait of
the Marchese Ricciarelli. > Rembrandt,
his_famous mill, viewed at sunset ;
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the finest landscape Rembrandt ever
painted; there is a dark solitary
deur about it. L. Carracci,

e Virgin and Child. Domenichino,
a small landscape. Wutteau, 2 pic-

tares. G. DBassano, the Entomb-
ment. Gainsborough, cattle returning
at sunset.  Sir Joshua Reynolds, Dr.

Johnson, when an infant; 2. the
Strawberry Girl, ¢ with all his glow
of coloar;” 3. Love nourished b
Hope; 4. Mrs. Baldwin, ina Turkis|
dress, purchased at the sale of Sir
Joshua'’s pictures by Phillips, R.A.,
as a study of colour; 5. Mrs. Sheri-
dan (Miss Linley, the singer) as
St. Cecilia. J. Ruysdael, a storm at
sea, representinga vessel beating in to
aharbour. “ Amongthe few pictures
of this class by Ruysdael, this, in
point of grandeur of conception and
astonishing ~truth, is one of the
finest.”— Waagen ; 2. view of a town
upon a stream, of charming light and
shade. P. Wourermans, a landsca
J. F. Navarete, called El Mudo, head
of Donna Maria. de Padillas ; a por-
trait of exquisite beauty. * This
brings before usin a most lively way,
and with a Rembrandt glow of colour,
the genuine character of those Spa-
nish women whom Calderon loves to
describe.” — Waagen. A. Cuyp, 2
charming seapieces; 3. sunset view
on the Maas, cost 12501, Titian,
Virgin and Child, “ painted in the
clear golden tones of his earlier

riod.” Hobbema, a landscape, most

nions and beautiful; also 2

small landscapes. B. Luini, a Mag-
dalen,  Hogarth, portrait of Peg
Woffington, the actress. Murillo,
Portrait of an ecclesiastic; one of the
finest pictures by the master. Berghem,
a landscape. 4. Carracci, landscape,
“a grand composition of mountains,
sea, and lofty trees.” Claude, view
of a seaport by the morning-light ; a
concentration of the painter’s excel-
lences.  Wilkie, a Capuchin monk
confessing.

In the library: Raphael, St. John
the Baptist preaching in the wilder-
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ness; perhaps the most valuable
picture in the collection. Itisa spe-
cimen of Raphael’s transition from
his Perugian to his Florentine style,
painted in 1505, “The youth in a
reen cap is evidently the portrait of
phael himself.”—Waagen, The
figures are in the costume of the
time, S, del Piombo, a monk with a
skull.  Giorgione, a shepherd, evi-
dently a portrait of the master him-
self. ~ Domenichino,a small landscape,
with Abraham and Isaac going to
Mount Moriah. ¢ The poetic com-
position, fine transparent colour, and
singularly careful execution render
thisa tﬁel‘fect jewel.”— Waagen,

In the cabinet: Wilkie, the Jew’s
harp; 2.Grandmamma’slap. L, Back-
huysen, a seapiece. Van der Heyden,
a Dutch town, remarkable for depth
of colour; 2. A town gate, with
figures, by A. Van de Velde, P.
Wouvermans, a silvery landscape, a
perfect gem. Zeniers, the Tempta-
tion of St. Anthony, and 8 other pic-
tures., A, Cuyp, a landscape with
cows; full of sunshine. Greuze, a
girl watching a cat playing with a
ball. N. Maas, a child in its cradle.
J. Steen, the doctor and his patient,
Rembrandt, a landscape in rainy
weather, ¢ of astonishing truth of
effect.”  Velasquez, two horsemen ;
2. a lady seated, and other figures,
W. Vun der Velde, a calm sea. J,
Ruysdael, a hilg landscape ; “this

icture shows the intensest feeling
or nature.”’ — Waagen.

In the corridor: E. Landseer, the
Deerstalker’s return, a procession
over a bridge. Van der Capella,
a seapiece; ‘“ome of his best pic-
tures,”’— Waagen. Jan Both, build-
ings, with figures. Tenicrs, a peasant
woman approaching over a hill.
Rembrandt, a landscape. W. Van der
Velde, a calm sea, with shipping;
“of singularly delicate aérial per-
spective.,” A, Calcott, the Thames,
with shipping, one of his best works,
Goodall, a sick  room, (Cope, going
to church, Huristone, Cupid. Etty,
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the Prodigal Son. Leslic, Sir Roger
de Coverley going to church. S.
Newton, the Vicar of Wakefield re-
ceiving back his daughter Olivia; 2.
Captain Macheath ; “ How happy
could I be with either.,” E. W,
Cooke, view of Mont St. Michel.
F. Albano, St. John preaching in the
wilderness.

In the dining-room: Stansficld, 6
landscapes, chiefly views of Venice
and of the coast about Naples. East-
lake, pilgrims in sight of Rome,

Among the sculpture are Camilla,
and a bust of the 3rd Marquis, pre-
sented by his friends in 1853, and
Westmacott’s celebrated Hagar in the
Desert, with the dying Ishmael in
her lap. The cabinets contain a col-
lection of miscellaneous china.

The gardens are admirably kept,
and abound with the noblest and
choicest trees, such as the cedar of
Lebanon, the oak, and the cork.
The park derives beauty from the
undulations of the ground, its bound-
ary including as many as nine dis-
tinct valleys. Hill and dale are
intersected in every direction by
green roads. The lake, containing an
island with a heronry, is a a’rm
object, issuing from the Great N
It terminates in a cascade; which,
tumbling over mossy stones, very
fairly represents the variety, grace,
and abandon of nature. ' :

Bowood, in early times, formed
part of the ro({al forest of Pewsham,
which adjoined that of Chippenham,
The estate was purchased by John
Earl of Shelburne, father of the first
Marquis, from Sir Orlando Bridge-
man : it had belonged to the crown
till the reign of Charles I.

On Home Hill within the woods
near the Devizesroad is a mausoleum,
the private burial place of Bowood.
It was built in 1764, from the design
of Mr, Adam, one of the “ Adelphi,”
who also designed Lansdowne l-ﬂ)use
in Berkeley Sq., for Lord Bute.

Outside the Park to the W, ina
little glen, is a prettily sitnated old
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house called Lock’s-well, from a
most copious spring which there
rushes forth, Here was the original
site of Stanley Abbey, afterwards
removed to the vale below, of which
nothing now remains, The spring
was at that time called ¢ Fons Dro-
gonis,” or Drown-font,

Beyond the Park on the S. is
Whetham, an old seat of the Ernle
family, and beyond, adjoining the
old London road that formerly went
by Sandy Lane to Beacon Hill,
stood old Bromham House, the seat
of the Bayntons. It .was so injured
in the wars of Chas, 1., that the
family never restored it, but built
a new one at Spye Park.]

[From Chippenham a branch line
goes 1. to Calne, 6 m., following the
course of the river Marden, an afflu-
ent of the Avon, 2 m. from Chip-
penham it passes 1. the site of Stan-
ley Abbey, founded by Hen. II. and
his mother the Empress Maud, for a
body of Cistercians from Quarr in
the ¥sle of Wight, in 1151, at Locks-
well (see ante), and removed 1154 to
Stanley.

CALNE (Inns: Lansdowne Arms;
White Hart ; population 5098.) A par-
liamen! borough returning one
member, which has been represented
by Dunning, Lord Henry Petty
(afterwards Lord Lansdowne), Mr.
Abercromby, sometime Speaker of
the House of Commons, Lord Ma-
canlay, and Robert Lowe,

This is a strange old town of small
houses built of stone, which are
either much weatherstained or white-
washed. Calne has the aspect of a
place decidedly past its prime. It had
once a busy manufacture of cloth, but
this has left it for the northern coun-
ties, and its numerous factories are
closed. The chief business carried
on now is bacon curing,

Calne is a borough by prescription,
and dates its origin from the time of
the Saxons’; 'but' the ‘only ‘historic
event at all connected with it is a
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synod held here by St. Dunstan in
978, on the question of the celibacy
of the clergy. It was rendered me-
morable by the falling in of the floor,
when, with the exception of St.
Dunstan, the whole party were pre-
cipitated, and more or less injured.
The chief influence in the borough
has long been exercised by the lord
of the neighbouring Bowood.

The Castle House keeps u
cord of the Castle, of whicg all re-
mains have long since disappeared.

The Ch. is a fine large building with
double aisles to the nave, and aisles
to the chancel, N. and S. porches,
and a tower on the N. side, and a cor-
responding transeptal chapel to the
8, The tower, which seems origin-
ally to have been central, fell on the
chancel and crushed it ¢, 1645; both
were rebuilt in a much better style
than we should expect from the
date. The piers and arches of the
nave are massive Trans.-Norm.
Some of the arches are plain, others
have the billet and dogstooth or-
nament. The whole ch., was ad-
mirably restored by Slater, 1864,
mainly through the exertions of its
late vicar, Canon Guthrie, and con-
tains several fine memorial windows.
The great W, window was the gift
of Lord Crewe.

Dr Priestley, the chemist, resided
at Calne between the years 1770-
1780, nominally as librarian, but
really as literary companion to the
Earl of Shelburne.,

The “sights” of Calne, “par
excellence,” are Bowood and the
view from the ZLansdowne Column,
Other places, mentioned below, may
also be visited from it.]

[The Lansdowne Column crowns a
lofty promontory of the chalk range,
33 m. distant, It is erected within
the area of Oldbury Castle, an en-
trenchment, to which, in the opinion
of Milner, the Danes retired after
their defeat by Alfred in the battle-
field of Ethandune, which this an-
tiquary places at Heddington.

the re-

Route 1.—Bremhill.

On
1

13

the adjoining slope is the Cherhill
White Horse, cut on the chalky
ground about the year 1780, by Dr,
Alsop, a physician resident at Calne,
It is in a spirited trotting attitude,
157 ft. from head to tail, and visible
at a distance of 30 m. The Wansdyke
will be observed on the downs to the S.
Maud Heath’s Column (see ante) is about
2 m. from Calne across the fields.

[Bremhill, 2 m, N.W., was the v~
ing of the poet Bowles (d. 1850),
whose residence has been thus de-
scribed by Moore in his ¢Diary :’—
‘“His parsonage-house at Bremhill
is beautifully situated ; but he has
frittered away its beauty with grot-
toes, hermitages, and Shenstonian
inscriptions: when company is com-
ing he cries, ‘Here, John, run with
the crucifix and missal to the her-
mitage, and set the fountain going.’
His sheep-bells are tuned in thirds
and fifths. But he is an excellent
fellow, notwithstanding ; and if the
waters of his inspiration be not
those of Helicon, they are at least
very sweet waters, and to my taste
pleasanter than some that are more
strongly impregnated,” The *her-
mitage” is now in ruins, but the
vicar most courteously allows any
who care to do so to visit the very
picturesque grounds, where they may
still see some of the columns erected
by Bowles; some fragments from
Stanley Abbey; and the dripping
well whose waters are received into
a shell given him by the author of
‘ The Pleasures of Memory.” The
Ch. will repay a visit. The N.E,
angle of the tower shows “long and
short work,” presumed to be Saxon.
The chancel arch and the arcade of
the nave (rebuilt when the ch. was
¢ restored” in 1850), and the round
font are c. 1180. There is a good
stone groined Perp. S. porch, with
room over, and a sancte bell cot
on the extremity of the nave roof,
Several epitaphs and inscriptions in
the churchyard are from the pen of
Mr. Bowles.]
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24 m. N.E., Compton Basset,

', Basset House, beautifully situated
on a wooded slope of the downs;
with large lawn and pleasure-ground
at the back, was built by Sir John
Weld, who d. 1674, and has been re-
stored by the present owner. There
are some family pictures; one
of Mary Button, an heiress, in curious
costume. Inthe Ch. is a remarkable
double rood-screen of stone, with

modern figures of the Apostles. The |

vaulting between the 2 screens sup-
rted the rood-loft; an hour-glass
in its frame is attached to the pulpit.
The chancel was restored 1865,
Highway Ch.,, 4 m. N.E., rebuilt
1867, preserves a stone rood-screen
and the rood-beam. The hills above
the village command fine views.
Thomas Moore, the poet, passed his
later years in this neighbourhood, at
Sloperton, a cottage near Bromham,
He was a frequent guest at Bowood.
He died at Sloperton 1852, and is
buried in Bromham churchyard.]
Lacock Abbey is 6 m. W, from
Calne, 4 m. N. from Melksham,
3 m, S.E. from Corsham, and 8 m,
S. from Chippenham, from which it
is most wify visited (for descrip-
tion see Rte. 3). The road to it from

Calne runs between the parks of Spye-

and Bowden, and commands a fine
view to the W. The old gatehouse
of Spye is an excellent subject for
a sketch, and it is a pleasant walk
through it to Bowood park and Great
Wood, distance 5 m,

The country about Calne is pretty.
Those who explore it will be charmed
by the picturesque irregularity of the
cottages, but may be inconvenienced
by the stiles peculiar to this neighbour-
hood. They consist of two curvin,
timbers, fixed a few inches apart, an
for a well-developed leg afford a pas-

that is but barely sufficient,
lm‘FChippenham is the best place for

the traveller to diverge to Malmes- | Wi

bury, 10§ m. N. An omnibus per-
forms the journey every afternoon,
returning in the morning,

Route 1.—Kington Langley.
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1 m. 1. Hardenhuish Park.

2 m. The cross roads, Plough pub-
lic-house,

1 m, rt. stands the hamlet of
Kington Langley, very prettily scat-
tered on a hill, with a new chapel,
St. Peter’s. The rise to the vi
is called Fitzurse Hill, from an ad-
joining farm so called, which was
anciently held under Glastonbury
Abbey by the Fitzurse family, one
of whom was one of the murderers
of Thos, & Becket,

1 m. 1. from the Plough is the vil-
lage of Kington St, Michael. The
manor-house has been rebuilt by H.
Prodgers, Esq, Anold Almshouse in
the street was founded by a native,
Isaac Lﬁte. Alderman of London, d.
1672, His arms are over the door.

The Ch. of 3 equal, gabled aisles,
restored 1857, has a good Tr. Norm,
chancel arch, and an E. E. North
arcade, with other remains of early
work:; The tower, blown down in
the great storm of 1703, was re-
built in a meagre style in 1725, It
contains a monumental window to
Aubrey and Britton, two worthies
who, living at an interval of 150
years, were remarkable for simi-
larity of taste and parsuits, as well
as for their strong attachment to,
and garrulous reminigcences of, their
native parish, Kington St. Michael
had formerly a nunnery, of which
there are some remamns. ¢ Old
Jaques,” says Aubrey, “who lived
on the other side, hath seen 40 or
50 nunnes in a morning spinning
with their wheels and bobbins,”

Farther on, 1 m,,in thig parish,is the
small hamlet of Easton Piers (com-
monly now called Percy), in which,
on the site of a farmhouse now called
Lower Easton Percy, was formerly an
older houge, the property of Jokn
Aubrey, the antiquary (1626), who,
though stigmatised by Anthony
as *‘ a ghiftless person, roving
and maggoty-headed,” has left us
many valuable -works; 'including a
¢ Perambulation of the County of
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Surrey,” ¢ Monumenta Britannica,’
¢The Nat. Hist. of Wiltshire,” ¢ A
Description of the N. Division of
Wiltshire,” and the ¢ Lives of Emi-
nent Men,” compiled in aid of Wood’s
Athense Oxonienses, He lived 72
years, through the Civil War, Com-
monwealth, Restoration, and Revo-
lution, and for some time at Broad
Chalk in S, Wiltshire. Jokn Britton,
the antiquary, to whose labours
English Gothic architecture and an-
tiquities are so much indebted, was
born at Kington St, Michael in 1771,
His father was a baker, maltster,
shopkeeper, and small farmer.

44 m. on 1. Stanton St. Quintin.
The Ch., restored a few years ago,
containg good Norman arches, door-
way, and font. The estate belon,
to Visc. Folkestone. A curious old
manor-house of the St. Quintins
was lately taken down. The park
that belonged to it was afterwards
planted, and is now a well-known
cover in the Duke of Beaufort’s hunt.
In this wood in 1764, Geo. Hartford, a
sailor, was murdered by Wm. Jaques,
a shipmate, who was hanged for it on
Stanton Common, now enclosed. At
the back of the Rectory House (Rev.

F. Buckley) are some stone shields. ]

1. See of Wells impaling Thos.
Beckington; 2. Fitzhugh, and 3.
One like Pulteney, with an ear of
barley in chief. At the farther side
of the parish towards Draycote is
“The Hermitage,” a square piece of
ﬁ::mnd with old moat about it, the
istory of which is unknown.

6. m. Corston, The estate is Lord
Folkestone’s. Here is a little church
witharemarkable Perpendicular Bell-
turret rising upon the west gable.

To rt. 1 m. on the hill Rodbourne
(Sir R. H. Pollen, Bart.). At his
house is a curious paintingeof Sir
Walter Hungerford, of Farley Castle
near Bath, temp. Q. Eliz., inscribed
to the effect that ‘‘ he had challenged
all England for 8 years together to

roduce a better war-horse, grey-
ound, or hawk than he possessed,

Route 1.—Malmesbury,
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and were refused for all,” This is
engraved in Sir R. C. Hoare’s ¢ Mo-
dern Wilts,

8m. onl. Burion Hill(C. W. Miles,
Esq.). The house having been burnt
down some years ago, was rebuilt by
the late owner, John Cockerill, Esq,

10 m. MALMESBURY (/nns: King's
Arms ; George), a town remarkable
for its abbey-church, one of the most
valuable architectural relics in Eng-
land. Malmesbury itself is a de-
cayed place of some 2000 Inhab,
(returning 1 M.P. since the first
Reform Act), prettily situated on a
peninsular ridge flanked on either
side by running streams which unite
at the S. extremity of the town to
form the lower Avon, answering
to Leland’s description, “the toune
of Malmsburie stondeth on the very
toppe of a ‘great slaty rock, and ys
wonderfully defended by nature, for
Newton water comith 2 miles from
N. to the town, and Avon water
comith by W. tothe town, and meets
about a bridge at SE.” In the
market there 18 a cross (of Perp,
Gothic) erected for shelter by the
townspeople, “in hominum memo-
rif,” writes Leland, who justly terms
“it a right faire peace of work.” Itis
octagonal in form, with flying but-
tresses supporting a pinnacle bearing
sculptures. The groined roof is rich.

The view of the town and abbey
ruing is good from almost all points.
There is a steep slope to the N., and
from the rising ground opposite the
effect is very fine.

Malmesbury in British times was
known as Caer Bladon ; under Anglo-
Saxon rule it became Ingelburne,
and was an important frontier mili-
tary post of Wessex. The name of
Malmesbury (Maidulfesburgh) is de-
rived from an Irish missionary
named Maidulph, or Maldulph, who
in the early part of the 7th,century
planted a hermitage underthe shelter
of the fortress, and gathereda school
around him, Among his scholars
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was the famous Aldhelm, afterwards
first Bishop of Sherborne (A.p. 705),
a member of the royal stock of
Wessex, who, after pursuing his
studies in the schools of Hadrian
the African, and Theodore of Tarsus,
Archbishop of Canterbury, returned
to Malmesbury, and became the first
abbot of the monastery founded
there, A.D, 680, by the grant of Leu-
therius, Bishop of Winchester, to
whom the land round Ingelburne
Castle belonged. Aldhelm’s is one
of the greatest names in the earl

ecclesiastical literature of England.
He was the first Anglo-Saxon on
record who wrote in Latin, and the
fame of his classical knowledge,
¢ vestree Latinitatis panegyricus ra-
mor,” was widely spread not only
in his native land, but on the con-
tinent, and reached the ears of
dwellers in remote Frankish pro-
vinces. Bede says of him, that he
“ was a man most learned in all re-
spects, for he had a clear style, and
was wonderful for ecclesiastical and
liberal erudition.” Though so skil-
ful in the composition of Latin verse,
“in which,” says Bede, “he wrote a
notable book on Virginity,” he did
not altogether neglect vernacular
poetry ; and seeing with sorrow
the little effect the services of reli-
gion had on the peasants, who
Iistened to sermons with indifference,
and forgot them as soon as heard;
he placed himself on the bridge
over the Avon which they had“to
cross on their way home, in the
garb of a minstrel, and when he had
arrested the crowd and fully en-
thralled their attention by the sweet-
ness of his song, he gradually intro-
duced into his po};ular lay some of the
solemn truths of religion, and thus
won many hearts to the faith.” Mil-
man, ¢ Lat. Christ.’ ii. 96. The usual
legends are told of him—of his
lengthening by his prayers a beam
that was tooshort—hanginghisclothes
to dry on a sunbeam, and the like.

On his death, in 709, his body was

Route 1.—Malmesbury.
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brought to the monastery he had
founded, and buried in St. Michael’s
chapel; but was afterwards trans-
lated and placed near the high altar,
William the Conqueror instituted a
feast of four days in his honour, still
observed in Leland’s days, 5 cen-
turies afterwards, which drew such
crowds from all the country round,
that soldiers were required in the
town to keep order.

Another early teacher, “ John the
Scot,”” Abbot of Athelney, A.p. 887,
met with a far less favourable recep-
tion at Malmesbury, ‘being,” says
Leland, “slayne of his own disciples
thrusting and striking hym with
their table pointelles’” (query, steel
pens?), “ This,” he adds, “ 1s John
Scott .that translated Dionysius out
of Greek into Latin.” He was also
author of ‘A Treatise on the Divi-
sion of Nature” The great patron
hero of Malmesbury is *“the glorious
Athelstan,” who rebuilt the monas-
tery from the ground, and enriched it
with large grantsof land and thebones
of St. Samson, besides a portion of
the True Cross and Crown of Thorns,
The “commoners” of the borough
still hold a large tract of land, said
to have been granted to them by
Athelstan for their services in his
battles against the Danes. * Athel-
stan’s Day” is observed annually on
the second Tuesday after Trinity
Sunday. At his death, in 941, he
was buried near the altar of St,
Mary in the Tower. Another bene-
factor was St. Dunstan, who, out
of love for St. Aldhelm, presented
the Ch. with an organ with metal
pipes. Bishop Roger of Sarum, the
all-powerful favourite of Henry I.,
built a castle to the * great indigna-
tion of the monks,” in the very
churclgyard, not a stone’s throw from
the church. In the civil wars of
the 12th centy. Stephen held Malmes-
bury, which, after various changes
of fortune, was attacked by Henry
of Anjou, A.p. 1152, and taken, with
the exception of the keep, in Ste-
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phen’s absence. The king hastened
to relieve his fortress, but * the stars
in their courses fought against him,”
and the snow driving in his men’s
faces determined the day in Henry’s
favour, and the castle fell. It was
razed to the ground by the monks
in the reign of John, to enlarge
their monastery, the buildings of
which at ther{)issolntion extended
over—not 45, as absurdly stated—
but 6 acres. Inthe reign of Edw. III.
the Abbot received a seat in the
House of Peers, and a mitre was
added by Richard II.

The Abbey Ch. is the fragment of a
building which, when perfect, must
have stood very high among our
ecclesiastical edifices. Its plan was
of the fullest cathedral tyl;:e, and its
scale surpassed several churches of
cathedral rank, while its architecture
is of a very high degree of merit.
Originally it was a complete cross
ch., with central and W, towers. The
central tower, crowned with a lofty
spire, “a marke to al the countrie
about, fell daungerously,” according
to Leland, “in hominum memorid c.
1500, and since was not re-edified.”
The other, “ a greate square toure at
the west end of the chirche” stood in
the centre of the W. front, as at Wim-
borne, Shrewsbury, Furness, &c.,
aud appears to have fallen soon after
Leland’s time, crushing the whole
western portion of the nave. The
portion now in use consists of the 6
eastern out of the 9 bays of the nave,
walled up at the E.end. Thus exclud-
ing to the W, the remains of 3 bays,
with the relics of the W. front, and
to the E. 2 of the Norman lantern
arches, originally supporting the cen-
tral tower, with a portion of the
W. wall of the transepts, Of the
eastern limb the merest fragment
remains attached to the N. lantern
arch, The W. front of rich Norman
work was a show facade (the proto-
type of that of Salisbury), with angu-
lar turrets and a screenwall masking
the ends of the aisle. A large Perp.

Route 1.— Malmesbury.
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window had been inserted in the
centre. The external elevation™ of
the nave is very fine, chiefly from
the great height of the clerestory, a
Decorated addition, and the fine series
of piunacles and flying buttresses.
The N. side, being concealed by the
cloisters, was plainer. The most
striking feature of the ch. is the 8.
porch of surpassing richness, the

rofusion of ornament-work exceed-
ing that of any other part of the
building.”— Rickman. It is of the
same character as the W. door of
Iffley, near Oxford, and instgad of
shafts with capitals supporting the
arch, it has 8 concentric' boutells,
Three covered with continuous bands
of sculpture of the most elaborate
character, and 5 with interlaced pat-
terns, The sculptures, which have
been fully described by Prof. Cock-
erell (‘Sculptures of Wells Cathe-
dral’) appear to represent on the 1st
arch—the history of the Creation,
Fall, Cain and Abel ; on the 2nd the
Deluge, Offering of Isaac,'scenes from
the history of Moses, Sampson and
David ; on the 3rd, scenes from the
history of our Lord, the Annuncia-
tion, Nativity, Flight into Egypt,
Last Supper, Crucifixion, Burial, Re-
surrection, &c., with intervening
bands of elaborate foliage. The inner
doorway has “a Majesty” in the
tympanum, and the Apostles on either
side of the arcaded porch. The whole
was recased externally in the Deco-
rated age, There is a smaller and
plainer Norm, door to the N., origin-
ally opening into the cloisters.

The fabric of the ch. is ascribed to
Henry 1.s all-powerful favourite,
Roger, Bishop of Sarum, and is
placed by Mr, Parker between 1115
and 1139. It is a very early ex-
ample of Transition Norman work,
with as yet but few traces of the
approaching change beyond the ob-
tusely pointed arches of the nave.
The piers are massive cylinders, about
2 diameters high, with imposts hardly
deserving the name of capitals, from
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which vaulting shafts rise, spreading
out into-an elaborate groined roof
with rich bosses, a Decorated work
of the same date as the clerestory,
the windows of which are of a some-
what unusual pattern. The triforium
shows a semicircular arch embracing
4 smaller ones. “ The whole eleva-
tion must have been one of the very
grandest in England, It has all the
solemn majesty of a Romanesque
building, combined with somewhat
of Gothic aspiration. The bays are
tall and narrow, the triforium large,
the clerestory still larger.”—E, A.
Freeman. ‘The aisles retain their
Norman vaulting, and, for the most
part, their windows. A singularstone
gallery, ﬂerhaps a watching chamber
or for the exhibition of relics, of
P. date, projects from one of the
bays of the S, triforium.

At the crossing 2 of the Norman
lantern arches remain; that to the
W. blocked, and that to the N. (singu-
larly and awkwardly stilted to bring
its apex to the same height with its
wider neighbours,) standing free, and
forming a striking object in all views
of the abbey. The roodscreen re-
mains, its central door being blocked,
and forms the reredos of the present
ch. At the S. end of each aisle is a
short screen of P. date, but with Dec.
tracery. A tomb supporting a mu-
ti crowned effigy, called Athel-
stan’s, and which may very possibly
be his, though of a much later age,
and removed from its original site,
stands to the S. of the present altar.
Some incised coffin-lids are still pre-
served in the ch., and in the vestry
are some specimens of encaustic
pavement,.

The preservation of the abbey re-
mains is mainly due to one Master
Stumpe, ‘““an exceeding riche clothiar
that boute them of the king,” who
gave the nave to the parish and
erected his looms in the vast de-
serted monastic offices, not sparing
even ‘“‘the little church” to the S,
of the transept (the traditional scene

Route 1.—Malmesbury.
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of John Scot’s murder by his pupils),
where Leland found them busily
working ¢. 1538. Stumpe should
live in the memory of every lover
of architecture as *the chef causer
and contributer to have the abbe

chirch made a parish chirch.” This
was carried into effect by Abp. Cran-
mer’s licence, 1541. The old parish
church of St. Paul’s standing as
usual close to the abbey, was dis-
used, and the E. end, in Leland’s
time, served as a town-ball. The
tower, crowned with a broach spire,
still serves as a campanile for the
parish. The last remains of the ch.
were takefn g;)wn in 1852, (For f‘llxlller
details of this interesting building,
the r of Mr, E. A. lgreemn.n 1811
the Wilts Archeol. Mag., vol, viii.,
from which the above account is
mainly drawn, should be consulted.

Maivmesbury was continually being
taken and retaken by the contending
forces during the great rebellion.
Aubrey says that one of the pillars
of the tower and part of the super-
structure were br:;fht down by the
volleys of shot fired in rejoicing on
Charles I1.’s restoration.

To the N.E. of the ch, is an Eliza-
bethan house built on the substruc-
ture of part of the abbey buildings,
probably the abbot’s house. This
substructure was a lofty crypt with
a row of pillars down the centre ; the
windows have foliated rear arches.

There are several other fragments
of antiquity in and about Malmes-
bury. ql‘he Corporation Almshouse, at
the S.E. end of the town, includes a
pointed arch walled up, and part of
a hospice of St. John of Jerusalem.
In this building Henry VIII. was
entertained b He the clothier,
and Charles.f. feasted by the corpo-
ration. The White Lion Inn, lately
destroyed, was an hospitium of the
abbey, and retained some bits of old
stone and wood work.

The historian William of Malmes-
bury derives his name from having
been educated in the monastery here,
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of which he became librarian and
precentor, and refused the dignity of
abbot, d. c. 1143,

Oliver of Malmesbury, a Benedictine
monk and astrologer, d. 1060, is men-
tioned by Fuller as having attempted
a flight from one of the abbey towers,
He had fastened wings to his hands
and feet, but the iroved unequal to
his weight, and he fell, breaking
both his legs.

Malmesbury was the native place
of Thomas Hobbes, the philosopher,
author of the ¢Leviathan,” b, 1538,
at Westport, a suburb of ‘the town
of which his father was vicar, A
small house, with a low arched door-
way, opposite the W, end of West-
port church, is pointed out as his
birthplace, but erroneously, for the
cottage, distinctly marked by Aubrey
on a plan of the town preserved
among his MSS,, stood at one side of
the Horse-fair, and has been pulled
down.

The Minety station of the Chelten-
ham Railway is 7m. distant (Rte. 2).

2 m, N. of Malmesbury is

Charlton Dark (EaerSuﬂ'olk and
Berkshire), a stately old mansion, of
Jacobean architecture, of which the
oldest part was built by Sir Thos.
Knyvet, temp. James I. The E,
front was added in 1773 by Henry
Lord Suffolk, Secretary of State in
the American war, The W, front
is attributed to Znigo Jones. The
open court in the centre has been
roofed over and converted into a hall ;
The interior is modernised, excepting
one long gallery with oak parelling,
and its original stucco roof, with
pendants. It is hung with interest-
ing portraits, curious as historical
memorials rather than fine as works
of art, excepting the 3 children of
Charles 1. (a sketch—half-lengths),
and Elizabeth Countess of North-
umberland, by Vandyck.

Here are Richard Sackville, Earl of
Dorset, Mytens; Sir Jerome Bowes,
ambassador to the Czar of Muscovy,
L, de Heere ; Sir Edward Sackville,
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Earl of Dorset, who slew Lord Bruce
in a duel, and fought at Edgehill,
Mytens; James 1., Mark Gerard;
Queen Elizabeth, Charles I, Lady
Emily and Gertruade Howard, Corn.
Jansen ; George Villiers, first Duke
of Buckingham, Van Somer; Diana
Countess of Oxford, Mytens; Bea-
trice d'Este, queen of James I1., Lely ;
John Hampden; and many more,
Here is a roomful of Charles ILs
beauties, by or after Lely, includin,
Moll Davis, who originally, it is said,
was the daughter of a villager at
Charlton,

There are, besides, some vexz good
paintings by old masters. Among
them, by ZLeon. da Vinci, that com-
position so well known by the name
of “La Vierge aux rochers,*”’ of
which there 1s a repetition in the
Louvre. Dr. Waagen is of opinion
that “ this alone is to be considered
the original picture. The decisive
evidence consists in the incomparably
nobler expression, in the greater deli-
cacy of drawing, and in the masterly
modelling of the heads.”” Domeni-
chino, St. Cecilia; 2, whole-length
portrait of the widow of Cosmo II.,
Grand-Duke of Tuscany. Ann. Car-
racci, a large landscape, with the
Flight into Egypt*: 2, a male por-
trait, Guido Reni, the Adoration of
the Shepherds*, Holbein, Catherine
Howard, queen of Henry VIII,
Bagnacavallo, the Virgin borne by
Angels to Heaven, IPietro F, Molu,
a landscape with Hagar and Ishmael,
Agost. Carracci, a landscape, with the
Baptism of Christ. Claude, 2 small
landscapes. Gaspar Poussin, 2 small
landscapes®. D. da Volterra, Christ
lamented by his Disciples. Murillo,
the Ascension of the Virgin; 2, the
Coronation of the Virgin. W. Van
de Velde, a calm sea®, ¢ of singular
delicacy and transparency.” Van der
Heyden, interior ofa Dutch town with
figures*—the latter by A. Van de

clde. F. Milet, a landscape, “in
the taste of his' great model Gaspar
Poussin,” @. Poussin, a landscape,
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with the Temple of the Sibyl at
Tivoli, and the Flight into Egypt.*
Paul Brill, a large poetic landscape.
Paul Veronese, a ¢ Flight into pt,
here called a Lorenzo Lotto, I am
inclined to attribute to this master.”
— Waagen. The 8 pictures marked
with asterisks, together with an Ecce
Homo by Guido, and a Virgin and
Child by Proccaccini, were stolen out
of the two drawing-rooms in a most
daring manner on the night of Oct.
10, 1856, by a discarded servant.
Fortunately they were recovered, and
in the summer of 1858 were amon
the works of the Old Masters exhi-
bited at the British Institution.

den, who married a daughter
of the Earl of Berkshire, was a fre-
quent visitor at Charlton, His letter
to his wife’s brother, the Hon. Sir
Robert Howard, giving an account of
his ¢ Annus Mirabilis,” is dated from
Charlton, Nov 10, 1666.

Qreat Sherston, 5% m. W, of
Malmesbury, is considered to be the
Sceorstan of Henry of Huntingdon,
where, in 1016, Edmund Ironside
fought an obstinate but indecisive
battle with the Danes under Canute.
It was a place of some consequence
in early times, and has a large Nor-
mau church with a debased central
tower. Great part of the picturesque
village is bwmlt within a fortified
earthwork on a point of land be-
tween 2 streams, the most perfect
part of which is to the W. of the ch.

At a short distance N.E. is an en-
trenched camp, probably constructed
at that time by the Saxon army.
Near the village is Pinkney Park,
W. H. Cresswell, Esq. ; and 24 m. S,
close to the Roman road, a spot called
Etm and Ash, after 2 trees which appa-
rently grew from one root, and in the
popular belief had sprung from the
stakes driven through the body of a
suicide who had been there interred.

West of Malmesbury runs the Ro-
man Fosse Way, almost in a direct
line from Cirencester to Bath, The
station of Mutuantonis, or White Walls,
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occupied the high ground near Easton
Greyf)s m. due %V g

Foxley, 2 m, S.W., gave the title
of Baron Foxley to Lord Holland:

Bradfield, 8. of Foxley, is an old
manor-house with pointed windows,
One of its former owners was Wm.
Collingbourne, author of the rhymes
reflecting on Richard 1II. and -his
ministers Catesby, Ratcliffe, and
Lovel—

The Cat, the Rat, and Lovell the Dog,
Rule all England under the Hog.
for which he was executed.]

[From Chippenham the traveller
may also visit Castle Combe, 6 m.
N.W,, and

2} m. further Grittleton House, with
its interesting collection of pictures.

Castle Combe originally belonged to
the Dunstanvilles, from whom it was
purchased by the Badlesmeres ; thence
by marriage it passed ¢. 1322 to the
'lyiptofts, and c. 1385 to the Scropes,
whose seat it had been for nearly
500 years, until 1867, when it was
bought by E. C. Lowndes, Esq.
Here lived Lord Scrope of Bolton,
Lord Chancellor of England in the
reign of Richard II., and in our
time William Scrope, . author of
those well-known books, ¢ Days of
Deer Stalking,” and ‘Days and
Nights of Salmon Fishing,” and till
1867 G. Poulett Scrope, .» M.P.,,
author of the ¢ Extinct Volcanoes of
France.’ The situation is romantic.
“ The house lies deeply embosomed
among steep and wooded slopes, in
an angle of one of those narrow cleft-
like valleys which intersect and drain
the range of limestone hills called in
Gloucestershire the Cotswolds, and
which extend southwards as far as
Bath. A small but rapid stream runs
through the village, and after a
course of some miles joins the Avon
near the village of Box, whence it is
known as the Box brook.”’ Above
this stream rises the wooded hill on
which the original- castle was built
by Ithe’ Dunstanvillés," now- reduced
to mere mounds of ruhbish, In
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the village stand an ancient market-
cross, square, with high-peaked roof
and terminal pinnacle ; and numerous
old houses constructed of the rubbly
limestone of the surrounding hills,
retaining the gable-fronts, the la-
belled and mullioned windows, and
the wide stone fireplaces of early
times. Of these the manor-house,
with its terraced garden, and the
dowry - house, are very interestin,
specimens; the one on the old roa
to the castle, the other at the end of
High-street, on the road leading up
the hill to the N.

The earthworks of the castle con-
taining 9 acres, with strong ditches
and banks, seem to prove that a
British stronghold existed here, cen-
turies before the Norman castle was
built. The Ch, was rebuilt 1851, with
the exception of the fine pinnacled
tower with fan-traceried roof, erected
in the first half of the 15th centy.,
partly at the expense of the wealthy
clothiers of the place, partly of Sir
J. Fastolf, second husband of Lady
Milicent Tiptoft. The E. E. east
window, a fragment of the original
ch., deserves notice, as well as the
chancel arch with 6 figures sculp-
tured in high relief, and an altar-
tomb with an effigy in chain-mail.

Near Nettleton, 1 m. W. of Castle
Combe, is the very interesting tumu-
lus, known as Lugbury, 180 ft. by 90,
containing stone cists with skeletons,
and a cromlech with a table-stone 12
ft. by 6, leanin%vagainst 2 uprights.

About 1 m. W. of Castle Combe,
and the same distance N.E. of North
Wraxhall, in 1859, the remains of a
Roman villa, with baths and hypo-
caust, and a cemetery were dis-
covered, and laid bare by the ex-
ertions of Mr. Poulett Scrope, M.P.

2 m. S.W, North Wraxhall Ch. has a
Norm. door, and E. E. chancel and
tower, the latter covered by a saddle-
back roof. It contains the monu-
ments of the Methuens,

34 m. N.W, of Corsham Stat., on a

branch of the Avon, lies the hamlet of

Route 1.—Grittleton House.

21

Slaughterford. The hill immediately
above it, in the parish of Yatton or
Eaton, and called Eaton-Down before
its enclosure, is supposed by Whitaker
and others to have been Ethandune,
the scene of the defeat of the Danes
by Alfred. In Bury Wood, 3 m. fur-
ther W., in Colerne parish, 4 m. from
the Foss Way, are the remains of a
strong camp of about 25 acres, se-
cured on S.W. by a deep‘double ram-
part, and on the other sides by a pre-
cipitous ravine and small stream.,
Within the areais a small subsidiary
earthwork of about an acre; to this,
in the opinion of the same authori-
ties, the discomfited warriors re-
treated, and here they ultimately
surrendered. A tower erected by
Mr. P. Scrope on the hill above
Slaughterford commemorates this
victory : which, however, more pro-
bably, was gained at Eddington (se¢
Rte. 3).

2 m. beyond Castle Combe, by a
%{'fetty drive through the grounds, is

est Kington, Bp. Latimer’s rectory.
¢ In the walk at the parsonage house,”
says Aubrey, ¢ is a little scrubbed oak
where he used to sit.” The oak is

one, but in the lately restored ch.

1s the pulpit from which he used to
preach. He used to see ‘‘the pil-
grims come by flocks out of the west
country along the Fossway to many
images, but chiefly to the Blood of
Hailes,” i.e.,, Hales Abbey, Glouces-
tershire.

2} W. of Castle Combe is

Grittleton House, purchased of Col.
Houlton, 1828, by the late Joseph
Neeld, Esq., and now the property
of his brother Sir John Neeld, Bart,
The newly built mansion, designed
by Mr.James Thomson, and com-
pleted 1857, contains a fine collection
of works of art, including a gallery
of sculpture, a large collection of
paintings of several schools, some
beautiful bronzes, &c. Permission
to see them is given on application
at the house.” ‘The principal pictures
are as follows :—
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ZEntrance Hall.—Some animal paint-
ings by Ward; Orgueil Castle, Jer-
sey, by J. T. Serres; and a curious
picture of a cock, at Titherton Lucas,
that changed its plumage three
times,

West Gallery.—Some very choice
Dutch cabinet paintings: Le Corset
Bleu, Metzu; Temptation of St. An-
thony, Teniers; Girl at Window, G.
Dow; the Birdcatcher, Berghem;
Travellers at Door, J. Ostade; La
Fontaine de Venus, Wourermans;
the Waterwheel, Decker and J. Os-
tade ; Potiphar's Wife, Rembrandt;
Portrait of Rembrandt, by himself ;
Dautch Family, and Burgomasters of
Amsterdam, Van der Helst ; Vertum-
nus and Pomona, Netscher ; Sir Thos.
Gresham holding an orange, Sir A,
More; Lady Jane Grey the Night
before her Execution, Northcote ; Ann
Boleyn, Holbein ; and many others.

Vestibule between Galleries.—Cor-
naro Family ; Dr. Johnson without
his Wig, Opic; Tenducci, a singer,
Gainsborough ; Spanish Family, Gon-
zales ; President West, by himself ;
Joseph Neeld, Esq., Sir M. A. Shee;
Sir John Neeld, and others of the
family.

West Gallery.—Chiefly Italian pic-
tures: Interior of St. ¥eter’s, Pan-~
nini ; Venus (from Villa Borghese),
Titian ; Mater Dolorosa, Guido ; Vir-
gin and Child, Andrea del Sarto; an-
other, Garofalo ; another, Paduanino ;
Presentation in the Temple, L. Sa-
battini ; Tivoli, Orizonte ; Landscape,
8. Rosa; Magdalen, L. Caracci;
Battle Piece, Borgognone, &c.

Shield Vestibule, and the one ad-
joining, Raising of Brazen Serpent,
St. Peter Preaching, Baptism of our
Saviour, Magicians before Pharaoh,
B, West. Some beautiful enamels,
Bone.

Dining-room,—Dignitary  seated
holding a Letter, Rubens; Spanish
Alcdide, Velasquez ; Duchess of Fer-
rara, Nell Gwyn, &e.

Drawing-room.—The Mall in St
James's Park, Gainsborough ; Vale of
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Dedham, Constable ; Dove Dale, Der-
byshire, Glover ; Hero and Leander,
Etty; also paintings by Zoffany,
Morland, Reynolds, &c.

Staircase,—Coronation of Hen. V1.,
Opte ; Hotsgur and Owen Glendower,
Westall; Cordelia Cursed, Fuseli;
Death of Cordelia, Barry; Madame
de Maintenon, anda Lady of the Court
of Bohemia, Mignard; Christina, Q. of
Sweden, Bourdon ; Spirit of Prophecy
conveyed to Isaiah, B. West.

Sculpture. Small Library Vestibule
—The Listening Eve, and Maternal
Love, Baily ; Musidora, Sévere. In
Shield Vestibule—The Surprise, E.
Papworth, and several others. Largs
Gallery—Nymph pre&aring for Bath,
and the Tired unter, Baily;
Bacchus and Ino, Wyatt; Eve after
the Fall, Raffaelle Monti; Venus Vie-
trix (the original), Gibson; Early
Melancholy, Obici; Venusand Cupid,
and La Pescatrice, Scipio Tadolins,
In Gallery Vestibule—The Graces,
Baily. In West Picture Gallery—
Adam Consoling Eve after her Evil
Dream, Baily ; Bust of Jos. Neeld,
Esq., Sir F, Chantrey.

Among the bronzes are Flaxman’s
Shield of Achilles, Hercules and
Busiris, Boreas and Orithyia, Pluto
carrying off Proserpine, Il Fidele (a
Middle Age work), and many others.

2 m. E. of Grittleton is the small
but highly decorated church of Leigh-
Delamere, entirely rebuilt 1846, at
the sole expense of the late Mr,
Neeld. The ancient and peculiar
bell:turret was reserected on a school-
house at Sevington, a hamlet in this
parish.]

Proceeding on our route we reach,

98 m. Corsham Stat. The town
(Inn: Methuen Arms. Pop. 2196),
or rather village, lies § m. on the rt.
It was a residence of the Saxon Kings,
and afterwards of the Earls of Corn-
wall, Corsham was in 1594 the scene
of the murder of Henry Long, who
was shot while sitting at dinuer with
his brother Sir Walter Long, of S.
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Wraxhall, and other friends, by Sir
Ch. and Sir H. Danvers,of Daunntesey.
The cause of the murder was never
accurately known. The assassing
took refuge at Lord Southampton’s,
at Titchfield, and were never brought
to justice (see antc), It was the
birthplace of Sir Richard Blackmore,
physician to Will. JII. and poet,
d. 1729. Blackmore is principally
known as the author of the ¢ Crea-
tion;’ but, says Leigh Hunt, “he
composed heaps of dull poetry, ver-
sified the Psalms, and, by way of
extending the lesson of patience,
wrote a paraphrase of the ¢ Book of
Job.” ” Dryden compares the music
of his verses to “the rumbling of
his chariot-wheels.” He was the
son of an attormey, and in early life
a schoolmaster : —
~ By nature form’ want a pedant
B{ackmore at ig:al:yset up the wmgl‘inz

trade ;
Next quack commenced.”

However, says Cibber, he was “a
worthy man and a friend to religion.”

The Church is a fine spacious build-
ing, with central E. E. tower, finely
groined, but no transepts. The nave
arcades are Norman, there are some
Dec. windows, but more are Perp.,
as is the whole of the chancel. There
is a low stone chancel screen, and a
more elaborately carved wood screen,
with a canopy of fan tracery, in
the N. chapel. There are also ads
ditions by the Hungerfords, 1631;
and in the N. chancel chapel 2
altar-tombs, one of great size to
Thomas Tropenell and his wife
Agnes, the builders of Great Chal-
field manor-house late in the reign
of Henry VI. In the street of the
town is a small plain house of the
15th century, if not earlier.

Corsham Court, the seat of Lord
Methuen, is 4 m, W, of Chippen-
ham. The S. front, which has been
judiciously preserved through the
successive alterations undergone by
the rest of the mansion, is a charm-
ing example of the Elizabethan style,
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It was built (Aubrey says) by ¢ Cus-
tomer Smythe,” (an ancestor of the
late Lord Strangford), so called from
being * farmer of the customs,” and
bears date 1582, The N. front, and
other parts of the house remodelled
by Nash, have been pulled down and
reconstructed from a good Italian
design by Charles Bellamy. The
staircase is Zpacious and stately, In
the surrounding park are trees of
magnificent growth, particularly ce-
dars and oriental planes, one of the
latter being probably the largest of
its kind in England. In 1602 this
estate became by purchase the pro-
perty of the Hungerford family, of
Farleigh Castle. Sir Edward Hunger~
ford, commander of the Wilts forces
for the Parliament, resided here, and
his widow Margaret, daughter and co-
heir of William Halliday, Lord Mayor
of London, founded 1672 the late
Gothic Almshouse and Free-school
adjoinin;rtbe park ; of which hospital
Edward Hasted, the historian of Kent,
was for some years master, dying
1812. In 1746 Corsham House was
purchased by Paul Methuen, Esq.
1t contains a gallery of very valu-
able paintings, in great part collected
by Sir Paul Methuen, the ambas-
sador to Madrid, who died 1757.
Sir Paul was son of John Methuen,
who was Chancellor of Ireland, Am-
bassador to Portugal, and the framer
of the “ Methuen Treaty ” with that
country. Neither John nor Sir Paul
were ever owners of Corsham ; but
Sir Paul being unmarried, be-
queathed his London gallery of pic-
tures to his relative Paul, the above-
mentioned purchaser of Corsham.
They are arranged in the state rooms
built by Lancelot, or “ Capability *
Brown, and include a number of
family portraits by ZLely, Kneller,
Dobson, C. Jansens, Vandyck, Riley,
Reynolds, Gainsborough, Romney, and
others. Strangers are kindly per-
mitted to view these pictures, of
which the following may be noticed
as the most remarkable :—
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Jan Van Eyck (?)—Virgin and
Child, with Joseph, St. Catherine,
and another female saint ; a beautiful
Flemish painting, probably by an
artist younger than Van Eyck. A.
Elzheimer.—1. St. Paul at Malta; 2.
Death of Procris; very fine speci-
mens of an exceedingly rare master.
Mich, Angelo (?)—The Rape of Gany-
mede. Carlo Dolce.—1. Christ break-
ing bread, known as the “ Salvador
Mundi,” and corresponding with the

icture by the same painter in the

resden Gallery. 2. Our Saviour
at the house of the Pharisee, Mary
bathing his feet; said to have been
designed by Lud. Cigoli, and painted
for the Barberini family at Rome,
from whom it was purchased, 1737:
the portrait of the count is intro-
duced as a servant. 3. An angel
showing a child the way to heaven.
Bourguignon.— A landscape, with rob-
bers. Mobuse.—1. The 3 children of
Henry VII,, from the collection of
Charles I. 2. Eleanor, the mother
of Henry VII. Albert Durer (2)—The
Adoration of the Shepherds; “an
early picture by Zucas Van Leyden”
—W.* Giorgione (?)—Portrait of
Scanderbeg ; “an admirable paint-
ing by Holbein.”"— W. Lionello Spada.
—David with the head of Goliah.
Guido Reni.—The Baptism of our
Saviour, from the Duke of Bucking-
ham'’s collection, 1684. Rubens.—
The Boar-hunt, a well-known picture,
Vandyck.—1., The Betrayal of our
Saviour, “a painting of the earlier
time of the master, and of extra-
ordinary effect.”— W. 2. Portrait
of James Stuart, Duke of Richmond,
and Lennox. 3. Charity. 4. Charles
1. on horseback, the size of life. 5,
Massacre of the Innocents. ZLesueur.
—Pope Clement blessing St. Diony-
sius; remarkable for depth and
purity of feeling, and for powerful
colouring. Carlo Cignani.~The Ma-
donna and Child, Guercino.—Christ
and the Samaritan woman at the

* W. signifies Waagen’s * Art Treasures.’
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well. Pictro da Cortona.—The Vir-
gin in glory, ‘a first-rate picture by
the master.”— Waagen, Albano.—
Holy Family ; in a silver frame by
Alessandro Algardi. The arms of
Pope Innocent X. are on the back.
Zucchero.—4A, curious portrait of
Queen Elizabeth. According to the
account handed down, it was painted
for her, after the death of Essex, to
symbolize her grief at his loss, Two
angels are removing the crown from
her head: the hour-glass on the
table is broken, and Death stands
behind.

The original collection at Corsham
—said to be one of the oldest private
collections in England that has re-
mained nearly perfect—consists of
upwards of 150 pictures, besides the
family portraits; and to these about
70 works of a very choice kind have
been added from the gallery of the
late Rev. John Sandford, father of
Lady Methuen. They were selected
with great judgment during a resi-
dence in Florence.

7. N. Poussin.—A landscape, * with
the blind giant Orion meeting the
rising sun, in order to regain his
sight. A picture of the loftiest po~
etry of sentiment.”— W. Painted in
1658, and formerly in the possession
of Sir Joshuna Reynolds. 8. A. del
Sarto.—A portrait. 9. Guido Reni,— -
Portrait of Paul V. 15. 8. del
Piombo.—Portrait of Francesco Al-
bizzi ; grandly conceived, but poor
in colour. 17. Tintoretto.—Portrait
of a Procurator of St. Mark’s. 18.
J. Sustermans—Portrait of Galileo.
25. D, da Volterra.—~A Mater Dolo-
rosa.—28. G. da Fabriano,.—Coro-
nation of the Virgin, 29. Fiesole.—
Death of the Virgin. “In richness
of composition, and variety of the
most refined and beautiful heads,
this is one of the most admirable
works I know of the master, and at
the same time in marvellous preser-
vation,”—W. 30, Fra Bartolomeo.
—YVirgin and Child..(81,:82. Uber-
tini—The History of Joseph; 2 of
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thebest works of the master: from the
Gaddi collection. 33. Domenichino,
—St. Catherine; grand in concep-
tion. 34. Ghirlandajo.—Virgin and
Child. A charming picture. 36.
L. Carracci.—The Annunciation. 39.
Pontormo.—Virgin and Child, with
St. John. 44. His own portrait.
40. Fra Filippo Lippi—The Annunci-
ation, 41. G. di San Giovanni.—Vir-

in and Child, with St. John, in
%:esco. Particularly fine. 42, 43.
8. Rosa.—2 remarkable landscapes.
47. Guercino—The infant Christ
bearing the Cross. 48. Claude.—
Landscape, with St. John in the
desert. Ontin. 49. D. da Volterra.
—Study for the fresco at Rome.
On the back the Crucifixion. 50,
L. Fontana SS, Cecilia and Sebas-
tian. 52, L. df Credi—Virgin and
Child. 58, Correggio.—The Fall of
Phaéton. 55. Cartoon of an angel
in the Cupola at Parma. “ Graceful
in motive, and soft and grand in the
forms.”—W,  Albano.— Landscape
with Salmacis and Hermaphrodite.
Raffaclle—Madonna dell’ Impannata.

S. of the Stat. are Monks’ Park and
Neston Park, the latter the seat of
John Bird Fuller, Esq. Hartham
Park, T. H. A. Poynder, Esqg., 1} m.
N., was built by Wyatt in 1790.
Pickwick Lodge is 13 m. W.

Biddeston, 3 m. N. of Corsham,
consists of 2 parishes, St. Nicholas
and St. Peter’s, each once remark-
able for a eh., with an ancient and
very picturesque bell-turret. St,
Nicholas still remains, with a Nor-
man turret over the chancel arch,
and a S. doorway and font in the
same style. It contains the tomb of
Edmund, or « Ra%,” Smith, trans-
lator of Longinus, the friend of Steele
and Addison, who d. at Hartham
House, 1709. St. Peter's was Perp.,
but was demolished 25 years since;
the bell-turret is preserved in the
garden at Castle Combe.

Old Aubrey notes that this dis-
trict ¢ inclines people to zeal. Here-
tofore nothing but religious houses,

[ Wilts, Dorset, §c.]
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now nothing but quakers and fana-
tics. A sour woodsere country, and
inclines people to contemplation, so
that, and the Bible and ease (for it
is now all up with dairy grayzing,
and cloathing), set their witts a
running and reforming.””}

Proceeding on our route, a cutting
2} m. long and with an ave
depth of 30 ft.,, in the cornbrash,
forest marble, and great oolite, leads
to the mouth of the

Box Tunnel, in length 3195 yards
or about 1§ m., and in places 300 ft.
below the surface. It was excavated
at each end and from 11 intermediate
shafts, ranging from 129 to 293 ft.
in depth. 500 men were employed
in its formation, and the water and
rubbish were lifted by 6 steam-
engines. The total progress was
about 6 ft. a-day. The gradient
descends at 1 in 100 W, ; the strata
dip E., and are therefore all pierced
in succession, viz. the great oolite,
fuller’s earth, inferior oolite, blue
marl, and lias limestone. The E. end
stands with its natural roof, other
parts are lined with brickwork. The
cost of the tunnel was upwards of
500,000,

“The stone-quarries here are cu-
rious. A shaft is sunk through the
forest marble and rubble beds, and is
then carried in every direction, The
galleries, are sometimes of great
extent, and from 20 to 50 ft. in
height. The stone is cut with a
saw, and blocks containing 200 cubic
ft. are sometimes raised to the sur-
face.” There are 3 quarries in Box
Hill; the lower one is subterranean,
and of considerable size, having 3
m, of tramway. The space quarried
out varies from 12 to 20 ft. between
the side-walls or pillars left to sup-
port the roof. Into Boxfield Quarry
the workmen descend by shafts 100
ft. deep. The roof of the quarry is
intersected by vertical-cracks in a
manner that appears’extremely dan-
gerous to an observer unacquainted

o



26 Route 3.—Swindon to Cheltenham.

with the nature of the rock; but
these fissures have remained in the
same condition for 20 years, with
the labourers working continually
beneath them.
1014 Box Stat. On 1. are the
church and village of Boz, the former
an E, E., Dec., and Perp. build-
ing, with a Perp. tower and spire
between the nave and chancel. Mrs.
Bowdler, the mother of the editor of
the ¢ Family Shakspeare,’ and herself
an authoress of some note, is buried
here. Near the vicarage garden was
found a Roman pavement. The site
is marked by some lofty poplars.
Coleridge once lod e({ at a grocer’s
at Box, but was frightened away on
discovering a barrel of gunpowder
stored below his bedroom. :
Within reach of the stat. are
several points of interest. N. are
Cheyney Couwrt, a mansion of the
Spekes of the time of Eliz. or James
1., with fine old chimney-pieces;
Coles Farm, 3 m. N.N.E,, built in
1645; and the little church of Ditch-
eridge, 4 m. N., than which few in
the neighbourhood will afford more
to interest the archaologist, with its
Norman nave and S. door, with
curiously sculptured impost ; narrow
chancel arch, of 13th cent., with a bell
gable over it; curious Piscina and
shelf ; and sq. Norman font. Mural
paintings were discovered, c. 1857.
4 m. E. is Hazelbury House, of Eliz.
date; S. Chapel Plaster, (i)robably
Pley-stow (Sax.), playground or vil-
age green—*the Kirk on the green,”
a small desecrated chapel, c. 1460,
formerly a resting-place of pilgrims
to the Abbey of Glastonbury, and in
the last cent. the retreat of a noto-
rius highwayman, one John Baxter,
hung on Claverton Down ; the farm-
house of Wormwood, built in the 17th
- cent.; and 3 m. 8., S. Wrarhall, a
manorhouse of the Longs, described
in Rte. 3. 1 m.W. is Shockerwick,seat
of John Wiltshire, Esq. A fine collec-
tion of pictures was lately dispersed.
2 m. &.W. of Box Station is the
village of Colerne, where a Roman

Wiltshire.

villa was discovered in 1838, and
hidden again, The ch. deserves a
visit ; the tower is a bold, lofty struc-
ture of 3 stages, of the 15th cent.
Nave, Norm.; N, aisle, Perp,, c.
1450 ; chancel, E. E., c¢. 1240; N.
aisle to chancel, Dec., c. 1280. No-
tice the rich 14th cent. sedilia, and
the traces of the original E. E. se-
dilia and sepulchre behind them.
On a promontory of Colerne Down
is Burywood Camp (see antc).

About 1 m. beyond Box the rail-
way enters the county of Somerset,
where the Avon comes winding from
the beautiful valley of Claverton (Rte.
4)., The churches of Batheaston,
Bathford, and Bathampton will be ob-

served rt. and 1. as the traveller is

hurried towards
1062 Bath Stat. (Rte. 19.)

ROUTE 2.

SWINDON TO CHELTENHAM, BY
PURTON, CRICKLADE, AND MINETY.
(Great Western Union Railway.)

This branch connects the Great
Western, and Bristol and Birming-
ham Railways—trunk lines that meet
at Bristol. It runs to Gloucester 364
m., and Cheltenham 44} m., from
Swindon, and thence communicates
with Hereford and Shrewsbury, N.,

and Newport, and Cardiff, and S.

Wales.

774 (from Paddington) Siwindon
Stat. (Rte. 1).

814 Purton Stat. The village of
Purton, or Periton (i.e. Pear-tree en-
closure), stands on rising ground to
the 1. The church is cruciform, re-
markable for two steeples; one in
the centre surmounted by a stone
spire, and at the west-end a tower of
more ornate character, with open
parapet and pinnacles. The church
18 chiefly Perp., but ‘the arcades of
the nave have circular pillars of
earlier character, and there are a few
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Dec. windows. The N. transept is
larger than the southern; there is
good groining under the central
tower, and in some windows large
remains of fine coloured glass, Pur-
ton belonged to Malmesbury Abbe;
till the Dissolution. A portion of it
came afterwards into the possession
of Mr. Henry Hyde, father of Lord
Chancellor Clarendon (who was,
however, born at Dinton in S, Wilts,
see Rte. 11). In 1625 the future
Chancellor, then in his 18th year,
was here for the recovery of his
health, injured by his severe legal
studies, when the news of the assas-
sination of the Duke of Buckingham
by Felton reached him. Mr. Hyde’s
house is still standing. On one of
the chimney-pieces are the arms of
the Chancellor’s grandmother of the
Sibell family, a tiger regardant in a
mirror. Aubrey records that Anne
Hyde, mother of Queens Mary and
Anne, was born here. Purton was
the seat of the Maskelyne family
(whose monuments are in the church),
ancestors of Dr. Maskelyne, astro-
nomer Royal, and projector of the
Nautical Almanac, born in London,
1732, and buried here, 1811.

Purton Spa,2} m. on the Cricklade
road, a spring of bromo-iodated water,
has some not undeserved fame as a
medicinal spring.

1. 3 m, 8.W. 18 Ringsbury, a quad-
rangular Roman camp, and Restrop, a
picturesque Elizabethan house.

3 m. rt. Cricklade (Inn: White
Hart), a town of 1820 Inhab., situated
on the Isis, 104 m. from W. Crudwell,
one of the sources of the Thames, and
about as far from St. John’s Bridge
near Lechlade, the terminus of the
river navigation. Cricklade is a
place of great antiquity, being men-
tioned in 123 Anglo-Sax(én charter as
crecca-| , or creg-lid, signifyin
a“ stoﬁe ford,” frogx'n the Brf{t,is
¢ cerrig,” stone, and * 1dd,” ford, It
has been absurdl del;.ived f;omha
supposed university of Greek phi-
loz)phers, plantedyhere before the
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Roman invasion, quass  Greeklade ;”’

teste Drayton—

“ Greeklade, ‘whose great name “yet vaunts
that learned tongue,

‘Where to Great Britain first the sacred

muses sung."— Polyolbion.
It stood on the Roman street, which
passed through this county from
Spene near Newbury to Cirencester.
In 905, and again in 1016, it was
ﬁlundered by the Danes, and it was
ere that, according to tradition, Bp.
Waulstan appeared at the hour of his
death to Robert Bp. of Hereford, to
warn him of his end, In 1144 it
was held against Stephen, by Wm.,
of Dover, and after he had assumed
the cross in expiation of his crimes,
by his son Philip who carried fire
and sword all round. Its churches,
Down-Ampney, 2 m. N,, and the
Camp of Castlc Hill, 4 m, SE., are

the only points of interest.

St. Samson’s is cruciform, with

innacled central tower. The lantern
18 internally decorated with armorial
shields, one charged with the ¢ bear
and ragged staff” of the Earls of
Warwick, and contains a curious
clock, and the Widhill aisle belong-
ing to the Earl of Radnor, The V%
window of the N. aisle is Dec.; that
of the nave, E.E. with plate tracery.
Sir Walter Hungerford, in the reign of
Henry V1., gave the advowson of this
church, with the manor of Abingdon’s
court, to the dean and canons of Salig«
bury, to maintain a chantry chapel,
and assist in keeping in repair the
“campanile” of their cathedral.

St. Mary’s ch. is very poor and small,
with a semicircular ﬁoﬂmm arch
between the nave and chancel, and a
sculptured cross in the churchyard.
There is also a cross with canopied
niches in the main street.

Doun-Ampney, the property of
Lord St. Germans, is situated on the
border of the c(mng, the gardens
being partly in Gloucestershire.
Between the ‘reighs of ‘Richard II.
and Charles I. it was a seat of the
Hungerfords, and before that of the

n 9
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family of Vilers, or Valers. The
Great Hall, now a kitchen, bears date
1537; and the gafehouse, said to have
been built by Sir Anthony Hunger-
‘ford, is apparently of the age of
Henry VIII. Contiguous to the
mansion is the Church of Down-
Ampney, in part the original Tem-
plar building, and containing, in the
S. transept, the tomb of Sir Nicholas

de Vilers, or Valers, who is repre- |
sented in his armour by the side of

his lady. His feet rest upon a lion,
and on his arm is a shield beéaring
the cross of St. George and 5 scallo;
shells. The supposed date of this
monument is 1294.

N. of Cricklade is the canal which
connects the Thames and Severn
(completed in 1789), and W. the N.
Wilts canal, which joins the Wilts
and Berks canal at Swindon,

85} Minety Stat. 1. 5 m. W.
Charlton Park, seat of the Earl of
Suffolk and Berkshire, and 7 m. W.
the town of Malmesbury (Rte. 1),

Minety Church, late E.E.,, has a
brass to Nicholas Poulett, 1620,
nephew to Q. Elizabeth’s ¢ dainty
Amias,” The family of William
Penn were long resident in the pa-
rish, holding the office of stewards
to the Abbots of Malmesbury. Sir
‘W. Penn was born here, his father,
according to Aubrey, being a keeper
in Braden Forest.

The parish of Minety is partly
situated on some outlying acres of
.Gloucestershire, islanded by Wilt-
shire. The church and neighbouring
~houses belong to the hundred of
.Malmesbury. S, and S.W. of it is
the district of Braden Forest, which
,once covered the greater part of N.
Wiltshire. Braden Pond, 1. of the road
to Malmesbury, is the largest sheet of

* water in the county, § m. by 3 m,

From Minety the rail runs onward
through an undulating country to-
. wards the border, near which it ex-
_tendsan arm on the rt. to Cirencester

.95 m,, and. then passes into Glou-
. cestershire at the ﬁoman Fosse Way.

Route 3.—Chippenham to Frome.

Wiltshire.

'ROUTE 3.

CHIPPENHAM TO FROME BY MELKS-
HAM [LACOCK], TROWBRIDGE,
BRADFORD [MONKTON FARLEIGH,
FARLEIGH CASTLE; HINTON
CHARTERHOUSE], AND WESTBURY.

(Wilts and Somerset Line.)

94 m. from Paddington, Chippenham
Stat. (Rte. 1). Between Chippenham
and Corsham the flank of the chalk
hills, and in front of them the green-
sand, which for many a mile has
limited the view from the railway,
tarns abraptly towards the S., where
the railway throws off a branch in
the same direction.

After leaving the main line the
traveller may observe on the heights
to the 1. Bowdon Park and Spye Park,
and in the vale, by the side of the
Avon, 3 m. Lacock Abbey (see post).
4 m. beyond Lacock the railway
crosses the line of a Roman road from
Bath to Marlborough.

100 MELEsSHAM Stat. (Pop. 5337, a
decrease from that in 1851, attri-
buted to the diminished activity of
the clothing and dyeing fabrics).
(Znns: King's Arms; Bear). The
town lies 1 m. to the 1. on the old
mail-coach road from London to
Bath. It is seated on the left bank
of the Avon, and on the Wilts and
ferks Canal, and gives name to the

undred in which it is situated. It
consists principally of one street
nearly a mile long, well paved and
lighted with gas. Melksham is a
clean but not a busy town. A town-
hall and cheese-market in the Italian
style were erected in 1847, by a com-
pany of shareholders, at a cost of
30001 ; and the workmen of the place
are associated in a literary institution
called the Mutual Im; ment Society,
which has a good library, and is in
flourishing circamstances. The prin-
cipal manufacture is that of cloth.
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The Avon is crossed by a handsome
bridge of 4 arches, near which is a
very large corn- mill, and a cloth-
factory and dye-house.

- Melksham can boast of eonsider-
able antiquity. In Norman times it
was a populous town, although sur-
munder) by Melksham Forest, a fa-
vourite scene of the hunting exploits
of Edward I. At a later age it had
evideatly much declined in import-
ance, a8 Leland has passed it without
notice in his description of this
neighbourhood. Near the town se-
veral mineral springs, a sulphureous
chalybeate, and 2 saline, well up
from the beds of the Oxford clay.
On the discovery of a saline spring
in 1816, high anticipations. were
raised, and a pump-room, baths, and
other accommodations for visitors
were erected, but the wells proved un-
attractive, and have fallen into dis-

use.

The fine Church (St. Michael), in
part dates from the 12th century, of
which the flat buttresses are charac-
teristic. The embattled central tower
was taken down some years since
and re-erected at the W. end. There
are E. E, arcades, and the chancel
and W, end of the nave have much
E. E. work, but. the windows and
most of the exterior are Perp.

[The visitor may well pause at
Melksham to examine the places of
archaological interest in which the
neighbourhood is peculiarly rich,
including Lacock Abbey (which may
also be reached from Chippenham
(3 m.). Spye Park, Bromham, and the
manor houses of Great Chaldfield, and
South Wrazhall, *

Lacock Abbey is 3 m. N. on the
road to Chippenham. The hill which
rises from it so abruptly commands
one of the finest prospects in the
county—a chequered expanse, “clad
in colours of the air,” which may
remind the traveller of the views
from the Sussex or Surrey Downs,
These woodland heights, once in-
cluded in the Forest of Melksham, are
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'now the parks of Bowden and Spye,

ancient family seats which, with the
“ Great Wood ”’ of Lord Lansdowne’s
extensive domain, form a sylvau dis~
trict of most picturesque character,
finely contrasting with the naked
slopes of the chalk which are seen
across an intervening valley.

Lacock Abbey, the property and.
residence of W. H. Fox Talbot, Esq.,
the well-known inventor of the ¢ Tal-
botype,” is situated on the Avon,
below the heights of Bowden Park.
Though converted into a family
mansion, it retains many of its mo-
nastic features, Arches hung with
ivy, and tall spiral chimneys, are
seen from the surrounding meadows,
which in early times, says Bowles,
formed, probably, a glade between
the forests of Melksham and Chip-
penham, At Lacock stood one of
the 3 “Castella” founded by the
British king, Dynwal Moelmyd.
Another was at Malmesbury.
cock was founded as an Augustine
nunnery in 1232 by Ela Countess of
Salisbury, who, in 1238, entered the
establishment as a nun, and shortly
afterwards was elected its abbess.
She founded it in memory of her de-
ceased husband William Longespée,
the natural son of Henry II. and in
his wife’s right Earl of Sarum, In
the reign of Henry VIIIL., 1539, after
a 3 years’ reprieve, as one of the 30
lesser monasteries, Lacock was con-
fiscated to the king. It was then
bestowed upon Sir William Shering-
ton, who changed the domicile of
the nuns into a residence for himself ;
and, dying without issue, his brother
Henry’s daughter carried the estate
by marriage to the Talbots. . Durin,
the Rebellion the Abbey was fortifie
and garrisoned for Charles I. . and
in 1645 besieged by a detachment of
Fairfax’s army, to whom it sarren-
dered by capitulation, Sept. 24, at
the first summons, the garrison bein
alarmed by the fall of Bristol ang
Devizes.

The modern house, which is chiefly
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Elizabethan, contains considerable
remains of the conventual buildings.
The Cloister is a beautiful work of
the 15th century witha richly vaunlted
roof, with grotesque bosses, In the
Cloisters lie several monumental
slabs, including that of the foundress
Ela, removed from the church, with
the following inscription round it:—

Infra sunt defossa Elm venerabilis ossa,
Qua dedit has sedes sacras monialibus @des,
Abbatissa quidem qu sancte vixit ibidem,
" Et comitissa S8arum virtutum plena bona-
rum,

Here is also the memorial slab of
Ilbertus de Chat, brought from Monk-
ton Farleigh (see po'sltg. -

The Cloisters surround 3 sides of
the quadrangular area; on the 8.
side stood the Ch., long, narrow, and
aisleless, of which the N, wall still
exists; to the E, are the Vestry and
Chapter House with a central pillar,
and a kitchen of the 13th century.
The W, side is occupied by a large
room above, perhaps the dormitory,
and a vaulted sabstructure below.
The Refectory stood to the N. An
octagon towerstands at theS.E. angle,
now used as & muniment-room, in
which is preserved an original copy of
the Magna Charta of Henry III., sent
to Ela Countess of Salisbury, as here-
ditary sheriff for Wiltshire, In an-
other part of the building are the
library and the stone gallery, the latter
containing some old carved chairs,
supposed to have belonged to Charles
I1, and a pair of antlers of the elk
remarkable for their size and beauty,
One of the chambers contains the
bed of Queen Elizabeth, who was here
in 1574, and knighted her host Sir
Henry Sherington. From the cloister
a door opens to the terrace-walk, the
site of the Abbey church. Beyond
lies the garden, a charming retreat,
through which the stream of the
Avon meanders, and where may still
be seen the ponds or stews for fish,
and the nuns’ caldron, a metal pot cast
in Mechlin by Peter Waghuens in the
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year 1500, and of a size to contain
some 67 gallons,

The Talbots are said to owe their
inheritance of Lacock to a very ro-
mantic incident. Olive, one of the
daughters and co-heiresses of Sir
Henry Sherington, being in love with
John Talbot of Salwarpe, Worcester-
shire, contrary’to her father’s wishes,
and “ discoursing one night with him
from the battlements of the abbey
church, said she, ¢ I will leap downe
to you.’ Her sweetheart replied he
would catch her then: but he did
not believe she would have done it,
She leapt down, and the wind, which
was then high, came under her
coates, and did something break the
fall. Mr. Talbot canght her in his
armes, but she struck him dead ; she
cried for help, and he was with great
difficulty brought to life again, Her
father thereon told her that since
she had made such a leap she should
e’en marrie hinX” So rul::s the tale,
as reported by Aubrey, who was per-~
soxmlfl’o acquZinted with the gr;’:d-
son of the lady. The portrait of the
young lady is still preserved in the
abbey ; but when the visitor looks at
the {ei ht of the battlements he
will be disposed to doubt the story.

At Lacock Bp, Jewel, in 1571,
preached his last sermon, when mak-
ing a visitation to the churches of his
diocese. It was from the text “ Walk
in the spirit.” He went from the
pulpit to his bed at Monkton Far-
leigh, and died there in a few days,
1571. The abbey was then the dwell-
ing of Sir Henry Sherington, the
last heir-male of that ancient family,
His momument may be seen in the
neighbouring parish church, which
has also a fine brass to the memory
of Robert Baynard, 1501, :

Rather less than 2 m. W, of La-
cock on the top of the hill, command-
ing an extensive view, is the embat-
tled entrance-gateway to Spye Park
(J. W. G. Spicer, .), brought
from old Bromham House, but first
erected (according to the tradition) at
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Corsham, in the time of Henry VIII.
The old house for many years the
residence of the Bayntuns, and after-
wards of the Starkeys, was built
about 1650 by the Bayntun family,
after the destruction of Bromham
House in 1645. It was of brick, and,
with the exception of one room, of
no great size, but it rested on the
verge of a charming hill. Evelyn
visited it, 1654, and describes it in
his ¢ Diary’ as “a place capable of
being made a noble seat; but the
humorous old knight has built a
long single house of 2 low stories
on the precipice of an incomparable

rospect.”” A new and much larger
gouse has been erected near the old
one by Major Spicer. This estate,
in the reign of Charles II., was occa-
sionally visited by the profligate
Earl of Rochester. The Roman road

.from Bath to London and the Wans-

dyke cross the park of 500 acres,
containing every element of the pic-
turesque. If bound to Bromham the
stranger will find a delightful path to
that village just below the gatehouse.
It runs across the fields, behind Spye
Park old house, and by the hamlet
of Chittoe: the distance about 2 m.

Bromham ™ can be visited either
from Melksham or Devizes, being
equidistant (4 m.) from these towns.
It consists of a group of cottages,
individually most picturesque (parti-
cularly a hostel called the Grey-
hound).

Old Bromham House was erected,
temp. Hen. VIIL with the spoils of
Devizes Castle, and Corsham Manor
Hounse, and is described as bein,
‘““ nearly as large as Whitehall, an
fit to entertain a king.” Standing
close on the old Western Road 1t
became one of the usual halting
-places for the nobility and gentry on
their way to “the Bath.” Royalt{
sometimes sojourned there. James I.
visited Bromham in 1616, and again
1618 and 1621, and hunted in the
park. The house was burnt by the
forces of Col, Lloyd and the king in

| with a brass to Sir Edward
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1645. Only part of one wing re-
mains, Some of the stones were used
in erecting the lodge in Spye Park,
Sir Kdward Bayntun of Brombam was
Latimer’s patron, He died in France
in 1544 while attending Henry VIII,
as Vice-chancellor,

The Ch. is a fine one with a S,
aisle to nave and chancel, and a
central tower with stone spire. The
prevailing style is Perp.; but the
chancel is E. E. with a shafted east.
ern triplet. The S, aisle adjacent to
the tower has flat stone groinin,
with a large pendant, The chance
aisle or Bayntun Chapel, temp. Hen,
VIIL, is very rich both within and
without, with a flat panelled roof
painted and gilt. This chapel con-
tains the monumental effigies, pen-
nons, and rusty armour of the Bayn-
tuns of Bromham. A canopied tomb
. and his
2 wives 1578 ; a brass to Sir John B,
1616 ; and in the chancel a Purbeck
marble altar tomb, witha full-length
male effigy of one of the Lords Beau-
champ, and a tablet to Henry Season,
M.D., author of an almanac which
he whimsically entitled ¢Season on
the Seasons; and in the church-
yard the grave of Thomas Moore, the
poet, who died 1852 at his cottage at
Sloperton, between Bromham and
Chitway,

Brombam in the time of Edward
the Confessor was the lordship of
Earl Harold. In the reign of Henry
VI. it belonged to William Beau-
champ, Lord St. Amand, and from
the son of that nobleman it passed
to the Bayntuns. Bromham was the
birthplace of George Webbe, Bp. of
Limerick, d. 1641, and of the Rev.J,
Collinson, the historian of Somerset,
d. 1793,

1 m, N. of Bromham, near Wans
House, is the supposed Roman station
of Verlucio, It is situated on the Ro-
man road which ran by Bath and
Marlborongh, and whose vicinity is
indicated by 'such’names as Hatk-
street and Nepher-strect, Nonsuch Park
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is a pretty spot near this village,
Seend Manor-house (see Rte, 4), 3 m.
S.E. of Melksham, is now a seat of
the Awdrys.

At Great Chaldfield, 3 m. W., are
the very beautiful and interesting
remains of a fine manor-house of the
15th centy., presumed to have been
built by Thomas Tropenell, who
died 1490, and, with Agnes his wife,
is buried under a rich altar-tomb
in Corsham ch. ¢ The N. front is
nearly perfect, with the porch and
its groined roof, the hall in the centre
flanked by a gabled building at each
end, each with an oriel, that nearest
the ch. being of singular beauty :
"The whole front is one of the most
elaborate and finest that we have.”—
J. H. P. Unfortunately now, this
front is nearly all that remains ; the
¢¢ guest chamber ”’ behind the eastern
oriel was pulled down, the hall cut
up into rooms, the screens and gal-
lery destroyed, and the whole in-
terior ruthlessly modernized a few
years ago. Engravings of the hall
1n its former state with the curious
masks of stone through which a view
might be obtained of the hall from
the u per chambers at either end,
and ngch are still preserved, may be
found, vol. iii. Walker’s ¢ Domestic
Architecture of the Middle Ages’
(which also contains engravings of
Wraxhall), and vol. iii, of Pugin’s
¢ Examples of Gothic Architecture.’
The little ch. adjoins the house to-
wards the N.E., and may almost
‘be said to form a part of it, as it
is within the moat which encircles
the whole. This also has suffered
greatly from alterations, but much
remains of beauty and interest: the
bell-turret with its spire crownin
the W, gable, and the hooded groineg
w. l})Ol‘ch are probably of the date
of Henry VII. The 8. chapel and
-the very fine stone screen were
erected by the builder of the manor-
house, and, as at Corsham ch., bear
his arms, ‘“gules a fess engrailed
and powdered with ermine, between
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three griffins’ heads erased, argent,”
and his motto, ‘“le joug tyra bele-
ment.” The stone screen has been
removed, and now separates the
chancel from the nave; and an addi-
tion was made to the S.E. in the last
centy. The register dates from 1545,
and contains hardly any name but that
of Eyre. The house was occupied as
a military post in the civil wars,
traces of which may be seen in the
lootpholed gable, round tower of
defence stands at the N.E. corner
of the churchyard. The water of
the moat turns a mill which occupies
the site of one which existed here
at the time of the Doomsday survey.
From the Tropenells the property
was inherited by the Eyres, am?

At Little Chaldfield, further W,,
was another seat of the Eyres, but
the house now is quite modern,

2 m. further W. is the manor-house
of S. Wrazxhall, a very beautiful and
interesting example of medisval do-
mestic architecture. The buildings
surround 3 sides of a court, with the
gatehouse to the S. and the hall
facing W., with Perp. windows and
a square one flanked by huge gabled
drawing-room, added by Sir Walter
Long c. 1600. The gurgoyles are
singularly large and hideous. The
oldest portions are the entrance gate-
way and the fine oriel of the room
over it, and the hall with its porch
and ba‘ys, probably a work of the
time of Henry VII. (J. H. P.) or
perhaps built by Walter Long, M.P.
for Wiltshire, 1433. The roof of the
hall is partly hidden by a plaster
ceiling, and a rich fireplace has been
inserted of the date of James I.
(1598). A covered way leads from
the hall to the kitchen. The draw-
ing-room is very large and hand-
some, with a richly ornamented plas-
ter ceiling and an elaborate chimney-

iece with carved figures of Pru-
ence, Justice, Geometry, and Arith-
metic, with Pan in. the centre and
quaint inscriptions.- Opposite the fire-
place is a singular projection to carry
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‘the wall-plate of the old roof. Out
of this a short flight of steps leads to
a2 bedroom of the -same date, the
most remarkable feature of which is
the fireplace with a baboon on a
bracket and its three mottoes, ¢ Faber
est quisq. fortune sue,” ¢ Aqua lans
est @ landatis laudari et ab improbis
improbari,” ¢ Mors rapit omnia.”
Some time may be pleasantly spent
in rambling over this old mansion.
At a short distance from the house
.are the remains of a chapel of Ed-
ward I.’s time turned into a house
of the 17th centy., and still further
-modernized. A stone screen of fo-
liated arches remains almost con-
-cealed in modern partitions and
floors.
. The Ch. of S. Wraxhall hasa tower
with a packsaddle roof and of some-
-what foreign character. There is a
late Perp. porch and chapel adjoin-
ing it of almost debased character.]

Retarning to our route the rly.
descends the valley of the Avon, and
-reaches :

101} m. on rt. Broughton Gifford,
- -which gave a title to the late Lord
Broughton, formerly known as Sir
John Cam Hobhouse, Lord Byron’s
-fellow-traveller and friend. 1t has
a Ch, with E. E. portions and a Perp.
tower. A full account of the parish
is given by its rector, Rev. J. Wil-
kinson, vols. v. vi. of Wilts Arch,
- Magazine.

103 m. Holt junction, where a
- branch strikes oft’ 1. by Seend to De-
vizes and Hungerford (Rte, 4), and
-a little further rt. Staverton with its
large factory. The ch. is modern,

1054 m. TroWBRIDGE (Inn : George. |

- Pop. 10,487), where a line diverges
rt., W. to Bradford and Bath, It
still, as in Leland’s days, “ standith
on a rocky hill” above the little
river Biss, a tributary of the Avon,
and ‘¢ flourishith by drapery,” i.e.
.the manufacture of cloth, which is
carried on with great activity, em-
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ploying many hands; but it cannot
now be said to be ¢ very well buildyd
of stone,”’ the streets being irregular,
and the houses ill-built. .

Trowbridge, like. many of our
country towns, was first built around
a castle, which, during the Norman
period, stood on an eminence now
called Cowt Hill. One of the first
notices of Trowbridge Castle occurs
in the reign of Stephen, when, the
place being held for the Empress
Maud by Humphry de Bohun, it was
besieged by the king. We find it
next mentioned in the time of Edward
IIL., when it was held by John of
Gaunt, by whom the castle is said to
have been rebuilt. When Leland
visited it in Henry VIIL's time it
was ‘““clene down.” Not a frag-
ment of the castle now remains, but
the contour of the moat and vallum
may still be traced in the principal
street, to which it gives its curved
outline. In 1861 a market-house
was built by Wm. Stancomb, Esq.,
the lord of the manor, The manor
was bestowed by Henry VIIIL. on the
Somerset family, from whom it passed
by marriage to the Duke of Rutland,
and after sundry changes by sale to
the present owner. The name Trow-
bridge has perplexed etymologists,
Leland calls the place Thorough-
bridge: Camden Trubridge: Gough
Trolbridge. The true etymology is
Trolebyrig, the castle by the Trowle,
Beyond the town W. are a hamlet
called Trowle and Trowle Common,
The bridge over the Biss was called
Trawle bridge, and was known as
Trowbridge, but the castle existed
many centuries before the bridge was
built:-

The Ch. (St. James) known as
“the New Church” till the erection
of Holy Trinity Ch. in 1830, is a fine
Perp. building, unmixed with any
earlier style, of excellent masonry,
erected c. 1475 (James Terumber, a
rich clothier, being the chief con-
tributor to the fabric); and restored
1848, when the chancel was %artially

c
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rebuilt. The fower stands engaged at
the W., end and mpg:)lm a lofty
stone spire, and has fine groining
within, as have the 2 large porches.
The open roof of the nave is one of
considerable beauty. The font is
lofty, carved with the emblems of the
Crucifixion. The whole building de-
serves Leland’s character of “light-
some and fair.” From the year 1614
to 1832 the Rev, George Crabbe, the
poet, was rector here. He lies in
the chancel, under a monument by
Baily, erected by a parish subscrip-
tion. Crabbe spent a lusty old age
at T'rowbridge, and was in the habit
of rambling for hours toiether, ham-
mer in hand, among the quarries
near the town, His firmness and
mildness gained him the respect and
esteem which the character of his
preaching had at first denied him :—
« ¢ A moral teacher,” some contemptuous cried,

He smiled, but nothing of the fact denied.”

Tules of the Hall.

There i8 a chapel, built 1850, in the
hamlet of Studle&.

Rood Ashton (R. P. Long, Esq.),
2 m. S.E,, takes its name from a
famous crucifix or “holy rood ” that
stood here, The village of Steeple
(or Church) Ashton, properly * Staple,”
‘or Market Ashton, some 3 m. further,
has an interesting Ch., erected be-
tween 1480 and 1500 : the N. aisle
was built at the cost of Robert Long,
a clothier, and Edith his wife; the
8. aisle at the cost of Walter Lucas,
also a clothier, and Maud his wife.
The ch. is Perp. with lofty clere-
story, and the whole of the exterior
is of the finest masonry and well
finished, The 8, porch is large, with
a parvis and good groining. The
chancel, with its aisles, is also groined,
the ribs intricate in pattern, with fine
bosses. In the chancel the ribs spring
from clustered shafts standing upon
the capitals of the pillars of the
arcade: in the aisles the ribs rest on
niches set upon angel figures. The
nave }ms wood groining, the ribs
springing from stone shafts. The
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tower is engaged with the aisles,
and once had a spire, which fell
down in 1670, The arcades are
lofty and imposing, the windows
large and good, and contain some
fragments of coloured glass.

The picturesque ruins of Farleigh
Castle (see post) is about 4 m, W
from Trowbridge.

4% m, S.W., on the confines of
Wilts and Somerset, is the village
of Road, of sad celehrit’y for the
¢ Constance Kent tragedy.” The oA,
is a fine one; one corner of the
battlements of the tower is known
as ¢ the King’s Chair,” from a trae
dition that on his flight from the
field of Worcester Charles II. recon-
noitred the country thence.

From Trowbridge a short branch
of 84 m, runs to Bradford, and thence
by the valley of Avon to Bath
(ﬂm. 19).

BrADFORD ON AVON (Inn: Swan,
Pop. 8032), an ancient town of much
historical interest, formerly the seat
ofan important woollen manufacture,
Leland (temp. Henry VIIL) de-
scribing 1t as “standing by clooth-
making:”’ but from various causes,
partly from the close vicinity of
Trowbridge, partly from greater fa.
cilities coal, &c.,, in the West
Riding of Yorkshire and elsewhere,
its business declined, failures be-
came frequent, the factories were
closed, the ‘{)opulation rapidly dimi-
nished and distress was universal. Its
condition has been for some time im-
proving. The handsome Town Hall
(Fuller Arch.) was erected in 1855,
Bradford is most prettily situatéd in
the hollow and on the steep slopes
and terraces of the valley of the Avon,
up which the houses straggle in pic-
turesque confusion, and %eing all
built of grey stone, without being
blackened by the usual smoke of an
overcrowded manufacturing hive, it
is not only cleanly and ,pleasantly
habitable, but decidedly picturesque,

Bradford takes its name from ¢ the
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broad ford ” over the Avon, which
was used by all wheel carriages to a
comparatively recent date; the bridge
having been originally much nar-
rower than now,

The first event in the history of
Bradford is the victory gained by
Cenwealh, king of Wessex, over the
revolted Britons, A.p. 652. “The
first conquest which was not one of
.extermination, but which allowed
the vanquished Britain to sit among
the fellow sabjects of his English con-

ueror,”—(E, A, F.) The next is the
?onndation of a monastery by Ald-
helm, Bp.of Sherborne, c. 705, After
this Bradford gradually rose in im-
portance until in 957 the Witanage-
mote was held here at which Dunstan
was appointed Bp. of Worcester, The
manor was conferred by Ethelred in
1001 on the abbess of Shaftesbury in
order that in those unquiet times
she and her nuns might have a place
of refuge from the insults of the
Danes, and a safe hiding place for the
relics of St. Edward the Martyr.
The increasing wealth and pros-
perity of the town is indicated by the
erection of a large ch., in the 12th
cent.,, which though altered and
enlarged remains to the present day.
In 1216, Bradford received the
dubious honour of a visit from John,
within 2 months of the close of his
reign. From 1300 to 1500 the tgrv;ln
gradually rose in prosperity. e
woollen l{lanufacture was est’;blished
here, and large fortunes were accu-
mulated by the Halls, for several ge-
nerations the leading family of the
place, the Hortons and Lucases, In
the 17th cent. Paul Methuen, the
leading clothier of his day, raised the
character of the manufacture by
the introduction of “ Spinners” from
Holland, from whom the secret of
producing the finer kinds of cloth—
the staple produce of Bradford up to
this time having been merely a
coarse kind of drugget — was ac-
quired. The part of the town where
these “Spinners” lived, at the W,
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end of Church Street, is still known
as “ Dutch Barton.”

The Ch. (Holy Trinity,well restored
1865-6, by the exertions of the Vicar,
Rev. W. T. Jones), stands low, and
though not highly distinguished for
architectural beauty well deserves a
visit, It consists of a nave, with N,
aisle, chancel, chantry to S.E. of nave,
and W, tower with low spire. The
S. wall of nave and western portion
of the chancel are Norman of the
middle of the 12th cent. ; one of the
original windows is to be seen in
the nave and traces of 2 in the
chancel. In the Dec. period the
chancel was lengthened. The in-
terior is spacious and effective, The
arcade is entirely new, the 2 W,
arches, the piers of which are
wreathed with an inscribed band,
were the gift of a lady of the town,
The stone pulpit is a memoral of
Canon Harvey, a former Vicar, In
the N. aisle wall is a richly pan-
elled recess for a crucifix. The
Hall chapel or Kingston aisle is at
the S.E. of the nave, The roof of
the chancel is Jacobean, 1636. The
E. window is a very elegant example
of the Dec. style. The N. aisle
shows marks of having been built
at two different dates. The tower,
groined within, is of the latter part of
the 15th cent. In the chancel are 2
remarkably curious recessed tombs
with mutilated anonymons effigies—
on the N, side of a female, on the S,
of a crossed legged Knight, under
canopies. Another female effigy dis-
covered in the N, aisle is placed in
the chancel. There is a brass of the
16th cent. to a clothier of the town,
Thomas Horton, the builder of the
tower, and his wife Mary, and an-
other to Anne Long, 1601. A pre-
tentious marble monument with full-
length effigies in the costume of the
reign of James II. commemorates
¢ Charles Steward,” a son of Dr.
Steward, provost of Eton, and suc-
cessor of Bp. Williams"as' Dean of
Westminster. There are also monv
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mentsto the Methuens and Threshers.
An erection resembling an altar
tomb outside the S. door of the
chancel is probably a ¢ dole stone,”
used for the distribution of alms or
doles to the poor. William Byrd,
Vicar of the parish, was attainted in
the reign of Henry VIII, for traitor-
ous words against the king as a
heretic. He was chaplain to Lord
Hungerford, who fell under the
kinggs displeasure at the same time
and for the same act. Unequal justice
" seems to have been meted out: the
patron losing his head, the chaplain
only his living. Probably he had no
property to forfeit to the king.

Closely adjacent to the ch. on the
N. is a very remarkable and interest-
ing building, now used as the free
school, ¢ probably the most ancient
unaltered ch. in England, showing
the singular analogy between the
earlier and later imitations of Roman
architecture,”—(E. A. F.) It consists
of a chancel, nave and N. porch, and
has most of the features of the class
of buildings - called Anglo-Saxon,
There is an incised arcade along the
‘outside walls and on either side of
the chancel arch are sculptured
figures of angels.

On the summit of Zory or Torr
Hill are the ruins of a Perp. chapel
dedicated to the B. V. Mary, just
above the “lady well,” which sup-
plies the tower with water.

The river Avon is crossed by two
Bridges. That in the centre of the
‘town is ancient and deserves notice.
Aubrey, 200 years ago, described it
as “a strong handsome bridge in
the midst of which is a chapel for
mass.” This chapel, though much
modernized and degraded to the pur-
pose of a lock-up house, is still to be
seen on the central pier on the E.
side.

The town abounds in antique
looking gable-fronted houses, built
and roofed with stone., The most
remarkable of these (conspicuous
from the railway), known as the
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Duke’s or Kingston House, was built by
one of the family of Hall, rich cloth-
iers here, probably John Hall, head
of the family at the beginning of the
17th cent. It is a noble specimen of
the Jacobean style, with an excess of
window, arabesque battlements, and
classical details, and may have been
a work of the same hand as Long-
leat, of the character of which it
partakes, The house takes its mo-
dern name from the Pierrepoints
‘Dukes of Kingston to whom it passed
by marriage. The notorious Duch-
ess of Kingston, the bigamist, re-
sided here occasionally, and old
people still tell traditional tales of
her eccentricities. At her death the
estates passed to the last Duke’s
nephew, afterwards Earl Manvers,
but the house was sold to Mr. Divett,
and by him to its present owner, S,
Moulton, Esq., by whom it has been
most carefully restored. Some of
the mantelpieces, rich with heraldic
insignia, and ceilings deserve notice,
See Canon Jackson's paper, Wilts
Arch, Mag. vol. i.)

The archeeologist should cross
Barton Bridge and visit Barton
farm, famous for its gigantic barn,
of the 14th cent, It has two arched
entrances, like transepts and its roof
is 8o framed as to be independent of
the walls, Part of the farm-honse
and a small bridge belong to the
same period.

Next to the Halls, the Methuens
are the most noteworthy family con-
‘nected with Bradford. Their an-
cestor John Methuen, a member of
the historic Scotch family of that
name, driven from Scotland by
religious persecation, found a favour-
able reception from Q. Elizabeth.
His grandson, Anthony, was Pre-
bendary of Wellsand Vicar of Frome
1609-40. It was his son Paul who
settled at Bradford and raised the
character of its manufactures by
the introduction of weavers from
Holland. He 'was " the father of

John, and grandfather of Sir Paul
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Methuen, distinguished diplomatists,
buried in Westminster Abbey, and
ancestor of the present Lord Methuen
of Corsham.

Woolley House, 4 m. E., was the
property of the Baskervilles. Turley
House, N., was a residence of Edmund
Burke. In the neighbourhood of the
town are many pleasant valleys, em-
bosomed in lofty hills, especially that
of the Avon. A short ride by rly.
(or the path by the canal) will
bring you to Freshford, Limpley
Stoke, or Clarerton, three of the pret-
tiest spots in the Avon valley.

[4 m. N.E. of Bradford is Monkton
Farleigh, on very high ground above
the valley of the Avon, commanding
a magnificent panoramic prospect.
The best points of view are a clump
of trees known as Farleigh Clump,
and the prospect tower, erected by
Mr. Wade Brown, on the top of the

recipitous hill above Bradford.
gl[onkton Farleigh was the seat of a
Cluniac priory, founded as a cell of
Lewes, 1125, At the dissolution it
was ted to Protector Somerset,
who 1n 1550, exchanged it with the
Bp. of Salisbury to whom it still be-
longs. The remains of the priory
are of the scantiest. In the out-
houses behind the mansion are some
lancet windows, and there are several
stone effigies including one of a cross-
legged knight, one of the Dunstan-
villes. The monumental slab of Tl-
bertus de Chat, discovered in 1744
when the pavement of the chancel
was laid bare, is at Lacock Abbey (see
ante), The Monks’ Conduit, a small
stone roofed building, lies } m. N.-W.
of the hvuse. The mansion was once
the residence of Lord Webb Seymour.
Bp. Jewel died at his manor-house of
Monkton Farleigh, where he took to
hisbed after preaching his last sermon
at Lacock. The Ch. is modern but
retains the old tower and a Norman
door. A fine avenue, 1 m. long, leads
from the house towards S. Wraxhall.
The quarries of Bath-stone are worth
-a visit. (See supra, Box, Rte 1.)]

Route 3.—Monkton Farleigh.
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[Farleigh Castle, 3 m, 8.W. (Inn:
Houlton Arms), is one of the most
interesting objects to be seen from
Bradford. The visitor can either go
by road, or take the rly. to Freshford
Stat., from which the castle is 2 m,
It is 4 m. W. of the Trowbridge
Stat.,, and 6 m. N. from Frome.
Farleigh Castle is a favourite ex-
cursion from Bath, 8 m. by road, or
by rly. to Freshford.

The road from Bradford to Far-
leigh passes through

2 m. 8.W., Westwood, where the
pretty Ch. will interest the visitor;
also a * considerable mansion of the
15th cent. with richly ornamented
ceilings of the time of Elizabeth.”
(J.H. P)

Farleyh Ch, and part of the village
stand on a ridge above the river
Frome. The Castle is prettily situ-
ated to the N. above a deep wooded
ravine, called from some ancient tra-
dition, Danes’ Ditch. Itisa complete
ruin, consisting of fragments of the
wall, and of 2 towers and a gate-
house. The general plan appears to
have been an oval double court, with
4 towers at the angles of the inner
court. Farleigh was for 300 years
the chief mansion in Somersetshire
of the Hungerfords, from 1369 to
1689, and had been previously held
by the Montforts, by whom 1t was
sold, 1337, to Bartholomew Lord
Burﬁ‘hersh, and by his son, 1369, to
Sir Thomas Hungerford of Heytes-
bury. It was converted into a castle
in the reigns of Rich. II. and Hen.
IV. by Sir Thomas H. and his son
Walter, High Treasurer of England
in the reign of Hen. VI. Leland
asserts that it was built “by the
prey of the Duke of Orleans whom
Sir Walter had taken prisoner.”
This must have been Charles D. of
Orleans, who was captured at Agin-
court 1415, The Hungerfords were
great supporters of the Lancasters in
the wars of the Roses, ¢ and in that
cause liberally lost both their heads
and their estates,”’— Canon Jackson.
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Farleigh was at one time given to
Geo. Duke of Clarence. His daugh-
ter Margaret, the last of the Planta-
%enets, judicially murdered by Hen.

II1., was born at the Castle. She
married Sir R, Pole, and had by him
4 sons, the youngest, Reginald, after-
.wards Cardinal Pole, In the Rebel-
lion it was held for the king, though
its owner, Sir Edw., was commander
of the Wilts forces for the Parlia-
ment, and surrendered 15th Sept.
1645,

Sir Edward Hungerford wasted his

fortune in the dissolute court of

Charles II, and was obliged to sell
Farleigh. It was bought by Mr.
Henry Bayntun, of Spye Park, who
with his wife, Lady Ann (Wilmot,
sister of the Earl of Rochester) seem
to have been the last who resided
here. The Castle was purchased by
the Houltons 1730,

The principal entrance to the
Castle was to the S.E., where the ivy-
clad shell of the gate-house remains.
-Over the arch of entrance is the
sickle of the Hungerfords, and higher
still a shield of their arms, with the
initials E. H. From the entrance a
narrow moat, dammed up at either
end, went half-way round ; the castle
being elsewhere protected by the
steepness of the ground. On passing
through the gate-house the visitor
enters the upper court, containing the

rd-rooms, .stables, &c., and has
before him, rt., the chapel and the 2
remaining of the 4 towers of the
lower or inner court, where the habit-
able part of the castle was situated.
The principal front faced E., rising
directly from the edge of the knoll.
In one of these rooms the head of
the family, temp. Henry VIII. (Sir
Walter, afterwards Lord Hunger-
ford), imprisoned the last of his 3
wives for 4 years. A letter of the
unfortunate prisoner is extant and
was published in Mrs, Green’s ¢ Col-
lection of Letters of Royal and Illus-
trious Ladies” She writes, “here
I have byn these 3 or 4 years past
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without comfort of any creature, and
underthe custodie of my Lord’s Chap-
lain, which hath once or twice
poysoned me. He hath promised
my Lord that he would ‘soon rid
him of me,’ and I am sure he in.
tendeth to keep his promise; for
I have none other meat nor drink
but such as cometh from the said
griest and brought me by my Lord’s
‘oole. So that I have been well
nigh starved, and sometimes of a
truth should die for lacke of sus-
tenance had not poore women of the
country, knowing my Lord’s demayne
always to his wives, brought me to
my great window, in the night, such
meat and drink as they had, and
gave me for the love of God; for
money have I none wherewith to
pay them, nor yet have had of my
Lord, these 4 years, save four groats.”
This ill-conditioned husband was
beheaded for alleged treason 1540,
and his lady found a second, and let
us hope, a more amiable husband in
Sir R, Throckmorton. She d. 1571,

The Chapel, within the inner court,
oriﬁ'nally the Parish Ch, 56 ft. by
19 ft.,, has been preserved. The win-
dows are Perp., but the walls may be
older. In Grose's time it was half
roofless, but was repaired 1779 and
again 1806. The dripstone of the

. door seems E. Eng. The roof
of the porch is goog; upon its
wooden bosses are the family coat
and badge of 3 sickles interlaced.
The altar-slab js a handsome block
of Pudding-stone. A quantity of
armour, together with a miscella-
neous assortment of curiosities—jack-
boots, stirrups, spurs, old keys, an-
tique chairs, &c.—has found a rest-
ing place here. A letter of Oliver
Cromwell’s, which used to hang in
a frame on the wall, was stolen in
1798. There is a northern addition,
probably erected by the builder of
the Castle, Sir T. Hungerford, the
wall of which has been painted with
the coat-armour of the alliances of the
Hungerfords. The monuments are
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many and curious. (1) Beneath the
arch opening into the side chapel are
effigies of Sir Thomas Hungerford, the
purchaser, d, 1398, and his wife Joan,
d. 1412, on an altar tomb. (2) In
the centre of the outer chapel, to the
W., an incised slab to a Chantry
priest. (3) In the S.E. corner of
the same chapel, an altar tomb to
Sir Walter Hungerford, d. 1596, and
his son Edward. The inscription is
curiously cut, and, on the further
side, must be read backwards. (4)
An altar tomb in N.E. corner of side
chapel to Sir Edward Hungerford,
d. 1607, and Jane his first wife.
(5) In N.W. corner an altar tomb,
standing N. and S., to Mrs. Mary
Shaa, sister to Sir Edward Hunger-
ford, d. 1613, with kneeling effigies.
(6) In centre, effigies of Sir Edward
Hungerford, died 1948, commander
of the Wilts forces under the Com-
monwealth and the besieger of War-
dour Castle, and Margaret his wife, d.
1672. Beneath the chapel is the vault
where 8ix co) repose sheathed in
coffins of lead. The hearts of some
of the family were formerly pre-
served here in glazed jars covered
with white leather. At the E, end
of the chapel a house for the Chantry
priest, built by Walter Lord Hunger-
ford, 14380, still remains,

The Parish Ch. (St. Leonard’s) was
‘builtby Walter Lord Hnngerford, and
consecrated on the day of its patron
saint, Nov, 6, 1443. It is a plain
Perp. edifice with a tower at W, end
terminated with a short spire, Over
the 8. door is' a stone, probably
brought from the older ch., bearing
rhe inscription,

Muniat hoc templum cruce glorificans mi-

crocosmum,

Que genuit Christum miseris prece flat

asylum;
which has been thus rendered,

May He whose Cross for man has glory
'won,
Far from this church all harm remove !
And may Her prayers who calls that
Saviour Son

A refuge to the wretched prove,
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The walls of the chancel are
covered with coats of arms, and the
windows contain some remains of
stained glass,

The present Farleigh House is the
steward's house refronted and mo-
dernized.]

(A ¢Guide to Farleigh Hunger-
ford’ has been published by Canon
.ITack)son, and ‘may be bmfv at the

nn.

[2 m. from Farleigh, 1 m. from
Freshford Station, by a pretty foot-
path, are the ruins of the Carthu-
sian Priory of Hinton Charterhouse,
founded 1232 by Ela, Countess of
Salisbury, in pursuance of the will
of her deceased husband, William
Longespée.

The remains consist chiefly of 2
detached buildings, originally con-
nected by a cloister. One of these,
now used as a store-shed, with
fro'med roof, pointed doorway, and
ancet windows, is supposed to have
been the chapterhouse. The other,
which is beautifully covered with
ivy, contains the refectory and
dormitory, and a third room with
large stone fireplace flanked by Nor-
man columns. Around are ;nume-
rous old elms, and under the ad-
joining road an archway, from which
there 18 a pretty path to Freshford.
Among the monks of Hinton was
Nicholas Hopkins, “through whose
false-forged prophecies,” says Bowles,
¢ the weak but magnificent Duke of
Buckingham, the last of the great
house of Stafford, was fatally be-
trayed in 1521. He had been some
time the duke’s confessor.”

Hinton House (E.T. 0. Foxcroft,
Esq.), was a manor house of the
Hungerfords built out of the ruins
of the abbey.] .

Returning to the rly: From Trow-
bridge we continue by the Valley up
the Biss with the grounds of Rood
Ashton and Heywood House to the 1.,
and passing North Bradlsy, rt., reach
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1094 WEesTBURY Stat. (/nns : Lopes
Arms, White Lion, Crown. Pop.
5751) where a line branches on the 1.
to Salisbury and Southampton. An
ancient town, straggling and ill-
built, once busy in the cloth manu-
facture, which is now giving place
‘to that of iron, a fine vein having
been discovered at Ham, close to the
station, where several large blast-
furnaces have been set up. It is
situated .on the small stream of the
Bisse at the foot of the chalk hiils,
of which Westbury Down rises to the
‘height of 775 ft. above the sea. It
was early incorporated, and returned
2 M.Ps before the first Reform Act:
now one. In 1766 it was repre-
sented by Sir William Blackstone,
the lawyer. Bryan Edwards, the his-
torian of the West Indies, was born
in the vicinity of Westbury, at Charl-
cott, formerly the manor-house of
the Mauduits, and purchased by his
father, Westbury belonged to the
family of Pavely, from whom it
P by marriage, 1361, to the St.
Loes, and then to the Chedyoks. The
borough subsequently belonged to the
Earl of Abmon, who sold it, 1810,
to Sir Massey Manasseh Lopes for
6500/, Beyond the Ch. it contains
little to interest the traveller, but it
is within reach of Longleat, of the
camps of Scratchbury and Battlesbury
above Warminster, of the camp and
White Horse at Bratton, and of the
church of Edi; .

The Church (All Saints) is a fine
building standing among large ches-
nuts, originally Norman but Perpen-
dicularized something after Wyke-
ham’s fashion at Winchester. It is
cruciform with a central tower,
which, like that of Bath Abbey, is
not square. The masonry through-
out is excellen;. 'ﬁx the W. door is
a groined porch. e nave is very
stagt:(l)y, thl:.o aisles narrow, crossed
with transverse stone arches with
interpenetrating mouldings; the
chancel is low. The E. and W.
windows are each of 7 lights, and are
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filled with rich modern stained glass.
‘A groined cha
‘N. transept.

.Corinthian monument with effigies
-of Sir James Ley, Earl of Marlbo-

Wiltshire,

1 stands to W, of the
n the S. transept is a

rough, and his wife—

"« That good Earl, once President
Of England’s Council and her Treasury.”
’ Milton's Sonnets,

Born at Teffont, his father having
served Henry VIIL, at the siege of
Boulogne with his own men, he
became successively Lord Chief Jus-

tice, Lord Treasurer, and President
of the Council in 1629, and was

created Baron Ley, of Ley in Devon,
by James 1., and Earl of Marlbo-
rough by Charles I, To the S. of
the chancel is the Willoughby de
Henry VI., to

Broke chapel, 1.«31115i fenry VI &
auduits, West-

the N. that of the
bumas chosen for a title by Sir
Ric! Bethell, Lord High Chan-
cellor (of a Bradford-on-Avon fa-
mily) when raised to the peerage,
1861.

At Westbury Leigh, a moated site,
called the Palace Garden, is pointed
out by tradition as the residence of
one of our Anglo-Saxon kings; and
in a field, known as the Ham, in the
vicinity of the railway stat., many
remains of Roman pottery and coins
have been discovered. JBrook, 2 m,
N.W., was the seat of the Pavelys,
lords of Westbury at a later period.
It derived its name from & small
stream which runs past it towards
the Avon; and “in its turn,” says
Camden, “ Brook gave the title of
Baron to Robert \%"illoughby. who,
on account of his descent from the
Pavelys by the family of Chency,
was advanced to it by King Henry
VIIL., with whom he was a special
favourite.”” To this may be added
that it also gave title to the Earls
of Brooke and Warwick, by descent
through Elizabeth, eldest daughter
and coheir of Lord Willoughby de
Broke the 2nd baron; and wife of Sir
Fulke Greville. :
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[Bratton Castle, about 3 m., E,,
crowns a promontory of the chalk
down, cut off from the main chain
by a rampart and ditch. It is an
irregularly shaped camp of 23 acres,
formed in part by a double rampart,
in some places 36 ft. high. Camden,
Gibson, Gough, and Hoare consider
Bratton camp to have been the en-
trenchment to which Guthrun the
Dane retired after his decisive de-
feat by Alfred in the battie of Ethan-
dune, which they identify with the
village of Edington, 1 m. W,; and
there is a tradition that the Danes
were posted in the little valley,
thence called Dane Leys, situated
under the hill., Milner, however,
has laid the scene of this fight
at Heddingten, near Calne; and
Whitaker, on Yatton, or Eaton
Down, 4 m. N.W. of Chippenham
(see ante, Rte. 1). Edington, how-
ever, is the more probable site.
This victory secured to Alfred, who
had been previously a fugitive in
the Isle o}) Athelney, a firm seat
upon the throne. He bhad com-
pelled the Danes to surrender at
discretion, but he treated them in a
wise and generous spirit, and not
only granted them their lives, but
allowed them, on condition of em-
bracing Christianity, to retire into
East Anglia and Northumberland,
and to settle in those districts which
their own ravages had depopulated.
Below the camp, on the S, slope of
the hill, is the figure of a colossal
White Horse, formed by removing
the turf—originally a very rude
design, and long believed by en-
thusiastic antiquaries to be a record
of Alfred’s victory, but probably
modern and certainly restored in
1778. Its dimensions are 175 ft.
from head to tail, 107 ft. high at
shoulder, the eye is 25 ft. in circum-
ference. The white horse was the
Saxon standard, and was borne on
the coat armour of our Hanoverian
kings.

Bratton Church, sheltering close
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under the slope of the down, is Perp.,
with an E. E. chancel,

Edington, 34 m. from Westbury
Station, 14 m. from Bratton Castle,
should be visited by every archse-
ologist for the sake of the beautiful
Ch. erected by Bishop Edington, a
native of the place, the predecessor
of William of Wykeham in the see
of Winchester, and the originator of
the great work of the restoration of
the cathedral completed by him.
It is 8 most valuable example of the
transition from the Decorative to the
Perpendicular style. The first stone
was laid in 1352 and it was dedi-
cated in1361. In 1347, Bp. Edington
founded a college here for a dean
and 12 prebendaries, which, at the
request of the Black Prince, was con-
verted into a monastery of the order
of Bonhommes, of which this priory
and that of Ashridge in Bucks were
the only seats in England.

The Ch., surrounded by a rich
fringe of gigantic elms and walnuts,
challenges attention by its almost
cathedral proportions and rich out-
line. Itis cruciform with a central
tower on 4 noble arches with the
Pavely cross flory in the belfry win-
dow, and a lofty S. porch well groined
with a parvise over. The nave is
75 ft. long, and has 6 lofty arches,
The windows deserve special notice
as the forerunners of Perpendicular
tracery. The W, front is singularly
noble; in the window the Perp.
style is fully established. In therg.
transept is an anonymous effigy of
an ecclesiastic under a richly coloured
canopy, supposed from the rebus to
be that of John Bayntun; and in the
chancel are canopies of rich work
between the windows, two of which
contain their original statues though
headless. There is a monument to
Sir Edward Lewys, gentleman of the
Privy Chamber to Charles I., and
his lady Anne, daughter of the Earl
of Dorset and widow, of| Lord
Beauchamp, singularly rich and well
carved, with a fine alabaster effigy,
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1630. The Cheney monument on
‘the S, of the nave, an altar tomb
under a canopy bearing the Pavel
and Cheney arms, forms a sma
Chantry chglpel. The monument to
Sir Simon Taylor is by Chantrey.
The roofs are plastered in imitation
of Gothic work, the date 1658 is in
that of the N. aisle. The consecra-
tion crosses are to be seen in the
N. aisle, and the E, wall both inside
and outside. The College buildings
stood to the N. of the ch., as is shown
by the height of the sills of the win-
dows from the ground. To the N.W.
of the ch. is a very picturesque em-
battled house, with irregular pro-
jections. The buttressed wall of the
orchard deserves notice, and the site
of the monastic fish-ponds. A yew-
tree, 21 ft. in.girth, stands to the
E. of the ch.

At the time of the Dissolution the
priory was granted to Lord Seymour
of Sudeley, the Protector’s brother.
On his fall it was re-granted to Earl
Poulett, first Marquis of Winchester,
then Lord Treasurer, from whom it

ssed to the Dukes of Bolton. It
18 now the pmfe of S. Watson
Taylor, Esq. In Jack Cade’s re-
bellion, 1449, Ayscough Bishop of
Salisbury was murderedlryda bod(ylr
of Wiltshire peasantry, who dragge
him from the altarryof this church,
and stoned him to death on the
neighbouring hill, on the plea that
he was always absent with the king,
Henry V1., as his confessor, and kept
no hospitality in his diocese. His
head was struck off and his blood-
stained vestments divided among his
murderers.

The Manor House, near Westbury,
is a seat of Sir Massey Lopes, Bart.

About 7 m. E. is the park of Zarl
Stake or Stoke Comitis, so called from
having belonged to Edward d’ Evreux,
Earl of Sarum, temp. William I.
The house was built, 1788, by its
then owner, Joshua Smith, M.P. for
Devizes. It is now the property of
Simon Watson Taylor, Esq. The
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situation and grounds are very beau-
tiful, 2 m. N., Heywood House, H.G.
Ludlow, Esq., built in the reign of
James I. by Lord Ley, afterwards
Earl of Marlborough, and rebuilt
by its present owner. Leighton and
Ohalcot, the residences of J. L. Phipps,
Esq., and his brother, C. P. Phipps,
Esq., M.P,, are in this neighbour-
hood ; and 6 m, 8., the splendid park
and mansion of Longleat (Marquis of
Bath) (Rte. 10) shown on Wednes-
days and Fridays.

At Westbury the rly..bends west-
ward,andat 112 m. passesrt, Stander-
wick Court,and 2 m. N.W,, Beck-
ington, at 1153 m., Berkley, and
reaches, 1154 m. Frome Station
(Rte. 21),

ROUTE 4.

HUNGERFORD TO BATH. [LITTLE-
COTE, RAMSBURY] BY GREAT
BEDWYN, SAVERNAKE [MARLBO-
ROUGH; AVEBURY, SILBURY HILL],
_PEWSEY [VALLEY OF THE AVON
TO AMESBURY), DEVIZES, BRAD-
FORD, FRESHFORD, VALLEY OF
CLAVERTON.

(Great Western Railway.)
614 Hungerford Stat, Inns: Bear;

Bell; Three Swans). (Hdbk. for
Berks), thence excursions may be

- made to Littlecote, 4 m., Savernake

Forest and Tottenham House.

S. of Hungerford, at the junction
of the 8 counties of Wilts, Hants,
and Berks, rises Inkpen Beacon, the
loftiest chalk down in England, 1011
ft. above the sea, commanding a
wide and beautiful prospect. To
the N,W, it overlooks “Savernake
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Forest, to the S.E. the woods of
Highclere (Ld. Carnarvon). (Hdbk.
for Hants). The village of Swallow
Jield stands in the 3 counties.

4 m. from Hungerford is Littlecote,
¢ renowned not more on account of
the venerable architecture aud fur-
niture, than on account of a horrible
and mysterious crime trated
there in the days of the ors ’—
Macaulay—the seat of the Pophams
(shown when the family is away),
situated in its well-wooded park in
the valley of the Kennet. Itis a re-
markable specimen of an almost un-
altered mansion of the 16th century,
built by the Darells, and sold by the
last of that family to Judge Popham
in the reign of Elizabeth. The great
hall is hung with armour, cross-bows,
&ec., and buff jerkins and steel
caps of Cromwell’s Ironsides; the
gnffery, which i upwards of 100 ft,
long, with family portraits, including
those of Judge %)oplm.m and Nell
Gwyn. In one room the visitor is
shown the chair of Judge Popham,
and the finger-stocks, a curious in-
strument of torture for punishing
servants, and in another a piece of
needlework representing a Roman
pavement found in the park. At-
tached to this old house is the story
told in a note to Scott’s ‘Rokeby.’
A midwife was fetched out of Berk-
shire, at dead of night, to deliver a
woman, with a promise of high Xay,
but on condition that she should be
blindfolded. After a rough ride on
horseback behind the messenger, she
arrived at a house, and was conducted
up-stairs, where she performed her
duties to the lady; but no sooner
were these ended than a man of fe-
rocious aspect, seizing the new-born
infant, threw it on the back of the
fire that was blazing on the hearth,
and destroyed it. The woman re-
turned to her home, and long brooded
in secret over her singular adven-
. ture; but the crime to which she
had been privy at length produced
its fruit, Her mind grew ill at
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edse ; 80, disregardi:dg the bribe
which she had received, she went to

a magistrate, and confessed to him
all that she knew. She had reasons
for believing that she could identify
the house. On ascending the stairs
she had counted the number of steps,
and from the bedside she had brought
away a piece of the curtain,

This story has been also preserved,
with some slight variations, by
Aubrey and others, and the tradition
of the neighbourhood has for 200
{(:ars invariably connected it with

ittlecote House, and William Darell,
commonly called “Wild Darell,”
then its proprietor. It has also been
currently handed down that Darell
was tried for his life, escaped by
bribing the officers of the law, and
especially Sir John Popham, by the
gift to him of the estate: that after-
wards, by a judgment of Heaven, he
broke his neck over a stile out hunt-
ing, which stile still bears his name,
and that the spectre of the wild hunts-
man and his hounds has occasionally
terrified the natives.

An attempt was made a few years
ago to disprove the whole story from
beginning to end as connected with
Littlecote, chieﬂy on the grounds
that, after every 1nquiry possible, no
record of any ¢rial could be found ;
that from various existing state papers
Darell appeared to have held his
position as a gentleman and magis-
trate, was a correspondent with
Secretaries of State, &ec., without any
apparent blot upon his character;
that Sir John Popham was not made
a Judge at all until 3 years after
Darell’s death, which took place
quietly in his own bed at Littlecote,
in 1589, and that legends of a similar
kind could be produced, connected
with other old houses both in this
and other countries, But, on the
other hand, the inquiry brought to
light some evidence of a very re-
markable kind, which makes it no
longer doubtful - that’ the ! ‘original
story is, in the main facts, correct.
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This was no" less than the actual
statement in writing by the magis-
trate, Mr, Bridges, of Great Shefford,
in Berks (about 7 miles off), who
took down the deposition of the
midwife on her death-bed. Her
name was Mrs. Barnes, of Shefford.
She does not say that she was blind-
folded, but that, having been decoyed
by a fictitious message pretending to
come from Lady Knyvett, of Charl-
ton House, she found herself, after
being on horseback several hours in
the night, at another house, and the
lady she had to attend to was masked.
She does not say what house this
was, and seems not to have known.
Her deposition gives the fullest par-
ticulars of the atrocity committed,
but still fails to identify Littlecote as
the house, and Will. Darell as the gen-
tleman. The case seemed therefore
likely to continue one not proven, but
only of very strong icion. The
subsequent discovery, however, at
Longleat, by the Rev. Canon Jackson,
of Leilgh Delamere, of another ori-
ginal document, has set the matter at
rest. Sir John Thynne, of Longleat,
had in his establishment a Mr. Bon-
ham, whose sister was the mistress
of W, Darell, and living at Littlecote.
The letter is from Sir H. Knyvett,
of Charlton, to Sir John Thynne,
desiring “that Mr. Bonham will
inquire of his sister touching her

at Will. Darell’s, the birth of
her children, how many there were,
and what became of them: for that
the report of the murder of one of
them was increasing foully, and
would touch Will. ell to the
quick.” This letter is dated 2nd
January, 157§, and may be considered
conclusive. How he escaped does
not appear; but it is quite ‘certain
that in 1586 he sold the reversion of
his Littlecote estate to Sir John Pop-
ham ; that upon Darell's death, in
1589, Sir John took possession of it,
and was made a judge in 1592. Fur-
ther, that Darell was certa.inly a
spendthrift, and in various serious

Route 4,— Littlecote— Ramsbury.

Wiltshire.

difficulties from time to time; and
that in 1583 he made a very suspi-
cious offer of a bribe of 5000l to
Lord Chancellor Bromley, to be ¢ his.
good friend.” All this history, and
the curious evidence, may be found
by referring to the 8th vol. of the
Wilts Archaeological Magazine,

Wm. IIL, on his progress from
Salisbury to London, after the con-
ference with James's commissioners
at Hnnferford, Deec. 8, 1688, retired
to Littlecote, where the following
day, Sunday, Dec. 9, the Commis-
sioners dined. “ A splendid assem-
blage had been invited to meetthem.
The old hall was crowded with peers
and generals. Halifax seized the
opportunity, with his dexterous
diplomacy, of extracting from Burnet
all that he knew and thought. ‘Do
you wish to get the king into your
power?’ said Halifax. ¢Not at all,’
was Burnet’s reply, ¢ we would not do
the least harm to his person.” ¢And
if he was to go away?' ¢ There is
nothing so much to be wished.’”’—
Macavlay.

Adjoining Littlecot, in the parish
of Chilton Foliot, is Chilton House
(the residence of W. D. Honywood,
Fsq.), and the quiet town of

Ramsbury, which was a seat of the
bishops of Wiltshire for more than
100 years, from Bp. Ethelstan, 909
A.p.,, when the see of Ramsbury
was separated from that of Win-
chester, to Bp. Herman, by whom
they were reunited 1058 A.p., and
the see transferred to Old Sarum
1075,

The Church is large, having a nave
and aisles of great width and a long
chancel, but of no great beauty, the
arcades irregular and inelegant. The
tower is low and heavy, with unusu-
ally large buttresses. The roof of
the nave is a 'a%ood piece of oak-
work. It contains a fine canopied
tomb, and an episcopal gravestone
robbed of its brass, stately | monu-
mental effigies of the Joneses, from
the Attorney-General of Charles I1.’s
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time, who purchased the estate, to
the last male possessor. North of
the chancel, blocked from the ch.,
is the rich but neglected “ Darrel’s
Aisle,” with a mutilated altar-tomb
in the centre. Ramsbury Manor be-
longs to Sir Robert Burdett, Bart.,
and here the celebrated Sir Francis
Burdett lies buried.
. by marriage to the Burdetts
from the Jones’s. The house was
designed by Webb, the son-in-law
of Inigo Jones. It contains oak-
panelled rooms, decorated with carv-
ings of the school of Gibbons, family
portraits, and a good full-length of
Charles II. The park is a fine one,
and the river Kennet flows through it
in a broad sheet, in which Zom
D’ Urfey was invited every year to
fish, This celebrated wit and “de-
light of companies,” from the reign
of Charles 1I. to that of George 1., 1s
said to have “angled for a trout the
best of any man in England.” Ald-
bourn, N.E. of Ramsbury, gave name
to a chase, a favourite hunting-ground
of King John, and in 1643 the scene
of the ﬁefeat of the Earl of Essex by
the King and Prince Rupert, who
drove the. Parliamentary general as
far as Hungerford,

Aldbourn Church is a fine building
with transeptal chapels, nearly
wholly Perp., with a grand and beau-
tiful tower, and Norm. S, doorway,
and Trans. Norm. arcade with pointed
arches, one E.E. lancet in the chan-
cel, but all the other windows are

erp.

z‘;l; Froxfield, rt., is the Somersct
.Hospital, founded in 1686 by Sarah
Duchess of Somerset, affording an
asylum, with an allowance of 36l.
per ann, to 50 widows of clergymen
and laymen. .

65 m. Little Bedwyn. The chapel
.of St. Michael deserves a visit. The
nave is trans. Norm., with round
arches on N,, and pointed on S., the
rest, Perp., with a beautiful roof to
W. aisle. The tower and spire are
admirably proportioned,
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1 m. N. the encampment of

Chisbury, of 15 agres, and one of
the finest specimens of British cas-
trametation in the county. It is
situated on the Wansdyke, and girt
by a rampart 45 ft, in height.
Within the enclosure is a chapel of
the decorated style, now used as a

rn.
664 Great Bedwyn Stat.
Great Bedwyn, now, as in the time
of Leland, “but a poore thing to
syght,” but under Saxon rule an
important place, the residence of
Cissa, ealdorman of Berks and Wilt-
shire, In 675 it was the scene of an
engagement between the kings of
Wessex and Mercia in which the
latter was defeated. Bedwyn was
a Parliamentary borough, returning
2 members till the first Reform Act.
Among its representatives were Sel-
den, the antiquary, and Sir Vicary
Gibbs, It is still a market town.
The flint-built Ch., restored 1854,
is very interesting. It is cruciform,
with a low central tower; the chan-
cel E.E.; the transepts Dec. with
rich flamboyant windows, built by
Sir Adam "de Stokke, d. 1312, who
lies in the §. transept in an arched
recess containing a cross-legged effigy
in chain mail. Another recess con-
tains a Purbeck slab, with an incised
cross to Sir Ro%‘er de Stokke, The
nave arcade is Trans. Norman, with
curiously carved capitals,all different.
The interior of the chancel is very
imposing. There are fine Dec. pis-
cinas there and in the Transept.
The encaustic tiles deserve exami-
nation. In the chancel is a fine
altar-tomb, with an effigy in full
armour, to Sir John Seymour of
Wolf Hall [father of Queen Jane
the Lord Protector
Somerset], brought hither in 1590,
from Easton Priory, by his grandson
Edward, Earl of Hertford. There is
also a monument to Frances,daughter
of Robert Devereux, Earl of Essex,
and widow of ‘William; ‘2nd Duke of
Somerset; and a brass memorial to
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John Seymour, eldest son of Sir
John. Great Bedwyn was the birth-
place of Thomas Willis, 1621, the ana-
tomist and founder of a philosophical
society at Oxford, from which arose
the Royal Society of London. He
was buried in Westminster Abbey.
About 1 m. S. of this village is the
height of Castle Hill, so called from
an entrenchment, in which have been
found large quantities of tessers,
bricks, and other evidences of Roman
habitation.

68 m. 1 m. 1. is East Grafton, where,
in 1844, a Norman church was built
by Mr, Ferrey, chiefly at the expense
of the Marquis of Ailesbury. The
winted glass in the chancel is by

illement. In 1856 a window was
added by the parishioners as a me-
morial of the late Marquis,

69 m. Close to the rly.on 1. are the
small remains of Waulfall, the Ulfela
of Doomsday, commonly but wrong-
ly changed into Woifhall, which be-
longed in early times to the Estur-
mies, wardens of Savernake Forest,
whose heiress Maud brought it to the
Seymours, temp. Hen. VI. Sir John
Seymour, father of Lady Jane Sey-
mour, queen of Henry VIII. and
mother of Edward VI., lived here,
The old house was partly destroyed
circa 1662, and its materials used in
building the first Tottenham House,
and nothing now remains but the
“Laundry,” a picturesque building
at the foot of the hill; but adjoining
the farmhouse is an ancient barn,
which traditionally was the scene of
a bridal feast on the king’s marriage
with [Jane Seymour on the day after
the execution of the unfortunate Anne
Boleyn. In proceeding from Wulfall
to Tottenham the traveller obtains a
good view of the steep side of Mar-
tennsell Hill, nearly 1000 ft. high.

1 m. S.W. is Burbage, a picturesque
straggling village. The church, re-
built 1854 excepting the tower, con-
tains a memorial window to Bp.
Denison, and another to 4 soldiers,
natives of this parish, who fell in the
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Crimea. Enormous sycamores shel-
ter the church on the 8.W,

70 m, Savernake Station (branch line
rt. to Marlborough), where is 2 neat
little hotel built by the Marquis of
Ailesbury,

Savernake Forest and Tottenham
Park, the domain of the Marquis of
Ailesbury, occupy a district 16 m. in
circumf. E. of Marlborongh. No tra-
veller should neglect an opportnnig
of visiting this sylvan tract, whi
still displays a magnificence of forest
scenery peculiarly interesting to the
artist, who, among its majestic oaks
and graceful beech, may realise the

intings of a Gainsborough or Hob-

ma. It is said to be the only forest
in this country in the possession of a
subject. It formed part of the join-
ture of Queen Eleanor, and was in
after times granted to the family of
Seymour, Dukes of Somerset, from
whom, in 1676, it passed by marriage
to the Bruces. The objects of chief
interest are the King Oak, or the
Duke’'s Vaunt, an oak of wonderfal
antiquity, so called from having been
a favourite of Protector Somerset ;
the Crecping Oak, behind the keeper’s
lodge, with a huge limb stretched
along the ground ; the avenue of beech,
which is 4 m, long, and probably the
finest in the kingdom ; in the spring
the gorgeous banks of rhodedendron
and azalea ; and Savernake Forest
House, formerly called Zottenham
House, which is accessible to the
stranger during the absence of the
family.

A delightful walk, of some 5 or 6
miles, may be enjoyed from the' Sa-
vernake station through the Park to
Marlborough. On entering the Park
gates go straight on_ towards the

t avenue, gaining in ing on
ﬁﬁght a vievgv'::ngttenmﬂgnse,
and on the left a view of the Ailes-
bury Column; cross the avenue and
bear off across the turf a little to
the right to the very beautiful new
church of St. Catherine’ recentl
erected in the Park.” The spire wi
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serve as a sufficient guide till the
church itself comes into view. Re-
turn to the avenue, and continue
down it till you reach the open space
opposite :ll;: drnins hof vernake
) W own the open grassy
lade to the left as far as you feel
inclined, for the sake of seeing several
fine oaks which grow here. By
keeping parallel to the avenue the
King Oak may be reached without
returning to it, but if there is thought
to be any risk of losing the way,
come back to the avenue and follow
it on a little further to the Eight
Walks, then take the Green Drive to
the left which is nearest to the main
avenue, and after examining the
glades about the King Oak, make your
way out of the Park by the gateat
the end of the main avenue, and go
down the hill to Marlborough.,
Savernake may also be conveni-
ently visited from Marlborough. It
is 2 m. from Marlborough to the
entrance of the forest ; 3to the Eight
Walks, from which the King Oak is
distant } m.; and 6 to Savernake
Forest House. The traveller will
proceed by the Hungerford road,
and in 1 m. will be climbing Forest
Hill, with Marlborough and the vale
of the Kennet before him; and to
the 1. on Folly Farm, the site of
the Roman station of Cunetio. After
a steep ascent he will enter the
forest, and turn rt. to the great
avenue, which runs in a straightline
;:{ the Eight Walks to the House.
e will be much impressed by the
magnificence of this splendid road.
1t is of considerable width,and bor-
dered by the beech in thick-set ranks,
their towering trunks and interlacing
limbs forming a vista of singular
grandeur and beauty. In about a
mile its continuity is interrupted by
an open space ; and here, from the
centre of a clump of firs, the Eight
Waiks diverge to as many points of
the compass, 5 leading over grass to
distant forest glades, 1 S.E. to the
ruins of Savernake Lodge (the house
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burned down a few years since), and
2 formed by the avenue, whose course
is N.and 8. The walk, running S.W.,,
will lead you to the King Oak,a huge
old tree, 24 ft. in circumference, but
fast hastening to its ruin. Of the 4
kingly limbs which it stretched aloft
some time back only one remains,
and that in a state of decay. Around
are grouped many other noble old
trees, a stalwart band, arrayed like
the monarch in the elegant drapery
of moss and fern. The spot is most
secluded and beautiful, and so sug-
gestive of enjoyment, that the wan-
derer may feel the propriety of a halt
for, perchance, a quiet meal; and
this he may enjoy though envious
showers should threaten; for close
to the King stands the Round House,
a spacious shed, which the visitor
will find a welcome shelter when the
trees are swinging in the wind, He
can regain the avenume by another
path, and proceed down its long-
drawn aisle to Tottenham House. This
is a large plain building, originally
designed as a hunting ~seat, and
erected on the site of a palace of the
Seymours, injured in the great re-
bellion. The view from the interior
extends over a wide and noble domain,
It was begun in 1781 by Thos. Bruce,
first Earl of Ailesbury, and completed
by the present Marquis. The N. front
commands the Ailesbury Column,
through a long perspective formed
by detached masses of elm and beech ;
the S. front a vista cut through woods
overa double line of hills, the farthest
of which must be 4 m. distant. The
column crowns a lofty height. It
was erected in 1781 by Thos. Bruce,
first Earl, in token of loyalty to
Geo, III., and commemorates the re-
covery of Geo. III. and various other
circumstances. Among the pictures
at Tottenham are the Marriage Feast
at Cana by Murillo, Samson and
Delilah by Vandyck, a landscape by
Gaspar Poussin, an old copy,of Ra-
phael’s School 'of 'Athens,” and por-
traits of Lady Jane.Seymour, Chris-



48

tian Bruce, Countess of Devonshire
( Vandyck), the Earl of Elgin (Corn.
Jansen), and the first Earl of Ailes-
bury (Sir P. Lely). In the library is
preserved an ivory horn, silver-
mounted and very curiously orna-
mented with subjects of the chase.
Jt belongs to the hereditary keeper
of the forest, and has been handed
down for many generations through
the Seymours.

The Marlborough troop of yeo-
manry, originally raised in 1794 by
the Marquis of Ailesbury, was nick-
named “The Potato Choppers,’
from the custom of training the
cavalry to the use of the broadsword,
by putting potatoes on sticks in one
of the rides of Savernake Forest, to
be cut off as they rode by at full
gallop.

A pretty new Ch., called Christ
Church, with parsonage-house and
school, have been recently built in
the forest by the Marquis of Ailes-
bury ; and still more recently, an-
other very beautiful and richly or-
namented ch., St. Catherine’s, from
T. H. Wyatt’s designs, by the Mar-
chioness, in memong of her mother
the Countess of Pembroke, about
4 m. from the house.

5% m, MARLBOROUGH ([nns:
Ailesbury Arms, Castle and Ball,
Angel ; Pop. of the 2 parishes, in-
cluding Preshute, 5135. The stat.
is on the downs, outside the town;
the line runs mainly in a cutting),
a quaint old-fashioned town, plea-
santly situated in a valley of the
chalk range, on the River Kennet
and the old great Bath Road. Itis
an agricultural centre, famous for
its market. The trades carried on
are brewing, malting, rope and sack-
ing making, tanning, and wool-

stapling. Its grocperity suffered con-
siderably at first by the diversion
of traffic caused by the opening

of the Great Western Rly., before
which 42 public conveyances passed
through it daily ; but it has revived
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again, and the opening of the-branch
line has once more brought it with-
in the reach of the fertilising cur-
rent which used to flow through its
now quiet streets; while the esta-
blishment of the college, which has
long ranked among our very first
public schools, has materially added
to the well-being of the place. The
town consists principally of one fine
wide street of large aud well-built
houses, chiefly built after the dis-
astrous fire of 1653 which nearly
destroyed the whole town, greatly
injuring both St. Mary’s and St.
Peter’s Chs., and unhoused 300
families, It in suffered from
fire in 1679 and 1690, after which
an Act was obtained making.it an
indictable offence to have a house
covered with thatch in the town.
Evelyn visited Marlborough the
year after the fire, and remarked
that “having been lately fired it
was new built.” In 1668 Pepys
visited it, and found it “a pretty
fair town for a street or two. On
one side the pent houses supported
with Pillars, which make a fair
work.” The colonnade mentioned
by Pepys extends along the N. side
of the street,and gives a character to
the town. At the W, end stand St.
Peter’s Ch. and Marlborough Col-
lege; at the E. St. Mary’s Ch. and
the Town Hall; rebuilt after the fire
of 1653, and again rebuilt in 1793.
On the N. side of the street are seve-
ral old houses that escaped the fire,
with picturesque gables, carved tim-
bers, and scaly coats of tile.

The antiquity of Marlborough is
fully proved by the ¢ Castle Mound,”
which though inferior in size to its
colossal neighbour, Silbury Hill, is
so similar to it as to be Krobably a
work of the same date. At Milden-
hall, and the adjoining hill of Folly
Farm, was the Roman military sta-
tion Cunetio, where were dug up the
‘“ Marlborough Bucket,” preserved
in the Stourhead Museum, and the
“Rudge Cup,” figured in Gough's
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Camden. The Conqueror had a
stronghold here, in which he im-
prisoned several Saxon ecclesiastics,
and established a mint. Henry I. kept
his Easter here in 1110. The castle
was built in this reign by the warlike
bishop Roger of Salisbury, the great
castle and church builder of his day.
It was held for the Empress Maud
by her half-brother Robert Earl of
Gloucester, and his castellan John
Fitz-Qilbert, called by William of
Malmesbury “a very firebrand of
wickedness.” Hen, II. granted the
castle to his son John Lackland,
who was married here to Isabella
the heiress of the Earl of Gloucester,
in 1189. This monarch appears to
have been much attached to Marl-
borough, frequently sojourning here,
and making it a repository for his
treasures. At the close of his luck-
less reign it was surrendered by its
warden, Hugh de Neville, to Louis
of France, but soon opened its gates
to the friends of Hen. III. This
sovereign was often at Marlborough,
probably led thither by the ample
opportunities for hunting afforded
by the royal forests of Savernake
and Aldbourn Chase. For this mon-
arch’s accommodation considerable
additions were made to the castle,
with the viey of improving its
comfort as a residence. A kitchen
was built for the king’s special
use; the queen’s room was to have
a chimney; new rooms were built
for the priest behind the chapel,
which received the addition of a
bell-tower, A Florentine architect
was employed, and 100/ borrowed
from the Bishop of Salisbury to pay
him. In 1245 all the poor clerks of
Oxford were feasted here on the
occasion of the funeral of the king’s
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cease it was gmnted“t:{ Edward 1.
to his queen. Edw I1. granted
it to his favourite Hugh le Despencer
in 1308. On his fall Queen Isabella
obtained it. In the next reign it
was held for the king’s sister Joanna
of Scotland, by a succession of war-
dens. Richard II. nted it to
Sir Wm. Scrope, on whose execution
in 1899 it reverted to the crown.
From this point the history of the
castle becomes obscure, but in the
reign of Henry VI. it was held
by “the good Duke Humphrey”
of Gloucester. When and why the
castle was dismantled there is no re-
cord; but it was still used as an
occasional residence by the Sey-
mours, into whose hands it had
passed by a grant from the crown to
the Duke of Somerset, temp. Ed-
ward VI., from which family it was
purchaseti 1779 by the Marquis of
Ailesbury. .

Marlborough had its full share in
the disasters of the Great Rebellion.
Clarendon speaks of it as ¢ the most
notoriously disaffected of Wiltshire,”
and it was stormed and partly burnt
by the Royalists under Wilmot,
Dec. 5, 1642, of which the shot-bat-
tered tower of St. Mary’s is standing
evidence, when John Franklyn, the
popular member, and several of the
chief townsmen were sent prisoners
to Oxford. At this time the castle
and town were at variance. The
former then belonged to Francis
Lord Segmour of Trowbridge, a de-
termined adherent of Charles I., by
whom the old fortress was put ina
state of defence to support the royal
cause. Lord Seymour’s wife and
dan%hter were made prisoners by
the Parliamentary leader, who filled

the buildings with his musketeers,

mother. In 1267 Henry’s last Par- | and occupied the mound as a place

liament was held here, and

of his widow Eleanor, on whose de-
[ Wilts, Dorset, &c.]

sed ; of retreat in case the town were

¢ the Statute of Marlborough,” con- ]

firming some of the chief demands '

of Simon de Montfort. On Henry’s | liament. The same

death it formed part of the dowry ' and Prince Rupert de

| of Essex on Aldbourn Chase; and
D

taken. In 1643 we find the castle
held by Sir Neville Poole for the Par-
iear the| king
eated the Earl
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Marlborough Castle twice, in April
and November, afforded quarters to
Charles I. and his retinue. He was
again quartered here in 1644, when
he reviewed his army on Aldbourn
Chase. During all this time the un-
lucky town was perpetually suffering
from the marauding exploits of Major
Dowett, commander of the Devizes
troopers, who seems to have looked
ngon‘ Marlborough as an unfailing
object of attack and depredation.
The civil wars over and the royal
line restored, Marlborough Castle
opened its doors to Charles II. and
his queen and James Duke of York,
who in a progress to the West were
received here in Igl‘eat state by the
above-mentioned Francis Lord Sey-
mour, who had built the house now
forming the nucleus of the college.
The design is said to have been fur-
nished by Webb, son-in-law to Inigo
Jones. After this, wars ended, and
the ordinary occupations of a noble-
man’s family in alarge country h
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house into an inn), the Countess of
Hertford tells us that she finds her
own garden at Marlborough full of
sweets, and that she has a terrace
between a border of pinks and a
sweet - briar hedge. o of the
principal heroes of Lady Hertford’s
entertainments were Dr. Watts, the
h{mn writer, and Thomson, author
of ‘The Seasons.” To Dr. Watts
she writes about the education of
her son, Lord Beauchamp, bewailing
his inability to learn repetition, 2
difficulty apparently smoothed away
by the kindness of his tutor, who
gave him very little of it to do, and
‘ was very favourable to him in his
impositions of thiskind.” Thomson
she regarded with such favour that
he dedicated to her his poem on
Spring, in the following prosaic
verses :—

* O Hertford, fitted or to shine in courts
With unaffected grace, or walk the plain '
With Innocence and Meditation joined , °

¢ In soft blage, listen to my song,

begl?n.
he most remarkable mistress of
Marlborough during this period
was Frances, granddaughter of the
1st Lord Weymouth, Countess of
Hertford and afterwards Duchess
of Somerset, whose energetic inter-
ference in behalf of Richard Savage
when convicted of murder, is re-
corded in Johnson’s ‘Lives of the
Poets.” She was a great patroness
of the spurious picturesque and bom-
bastic pastoral, which characterized
the early part of the 18th century.
Under her auspices the Castle gardens
were altered, and as was supposed,
beautified, while Nature was twisted
into grotesque and hideous forms.
The cascades were widened, fresh
ruins dispersed over the grounds, a
ﬁrotto made under the mound, which
er ladiship compares with Pope’s
at Twickenham. In a letter written
in 1741, to her friend Lady Pomfret,
ddaughter of Judge Jeffreys
?v?}.x‘:) singularly enough died here
1761, after the conversion of the

‘Which thy own season paints ; when,Nature
Is blooming and benevolent, like thee.”

Indeed it would appear that a great
part of °¢Spring,” was composed
during a visit to the Castle. But
¢ Hertford,” as he somewhat fami-
liarly calls her, found that the poet
was little better than a drunkard,
and that he preferred carousing with
her husband to pastoral meditations
with herself, and he was not invited
a second time to Marlborough.
Another of her literary protégées
was Elizabeth Rowe, who is said
to have written some of her poetry
in the grotto under the mound.

Lord Beauchamp, whose repetition
was so bad, died young: and his
sister, Lady Elizabeth Seymour,
married Sir Hugh Smithson, repre-
sentative, through his mother, of the
great house of Percy, and afterwards
created Earl of Northumberland.

But the Northumberland family
felt no hereditary attachment to the
old manor-house of Inigo Jomes,
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or to the sweet-briar hedges and
casaades of the Countess of Hert-
ford. They preferred the Thames
and the Aln to the Kennet, and de-
serted Marlborough for their princely
palaces of Alnwick and Sion, We
find evidences of its desolation in a
series of letters directing a few ne-
cessary repairs in the house, forbid-
ding any expense in the garden, and
at last agreeing to let it on lease to
Mr, Cotterell, who was to open it as
an inn. It was sold by Charles, 4th
Duke of Rutland, to Lord Aileshury.
The house itself remained an inn for
almost another century, and ‘as the
¢ Castle Inn” long maintained the
character of one of the best in Eng-
land. Being on the great Bath road
it received a large number of the
chief personages of the land on their
way to or from the mediciunal springs.
In 1767 it was tor a time the quar-
ters of the great Lord Chatham,
who had been attacked by the gout
on his road to London. ¢ When
he reached the Castle Inn,” runs
the story, “ he stopped, shut him-
self up in his room, and remained
there some weeks. Everybody who
travelled that road was amazed by
the number of his attendants. Foot-
men and grooms, dressed in his
family livery, filled the whole inn,
though one of the largest in Eng-
land, and swarmed in the streets of
the little town. The truth was that
the invalid had insisted that during
his stay all the waiters and stable-
boys of the Castle should wear his
livery.” (See for further details Zhe
Antiquities of Mariborough College, a
lecture delivered by the late Bp.
Cotton.)

Among the natives of Marlborough
are Henry Sacheverell, the political
divine, b. 1672,—

‘Who loudest a “lileﬁnﬁiﬁfl’lamm Bell.”

01 .
rang his pulpit ‘larur

whose father was Rector of St.
Peter’s. Sir Michael Foster, a Judge
of the King’s Bench, b. 1689, d. 1763,
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and Walter Harte, the poet, friend of
Pope, and biographer of Gustavus
Adolphus, d. 1774.

In a “Mr, Daniell’s hounse, St.
Margaret’s,” when on a journey from
Bath, died Robert Cecil, Eari of Sa~
lisbury, Lord High Treasurer to
James I. 1612,

Marlborough was constituted a
Suffragan see by Henry VIIL, to
which Thomas Morley was conse-
crated 1537. In Queen Mary’s reign
two husbandmen of this place, John
Hunt and Richard White, were pre-
sented at Salisbury as heretics, and
condemned to be burnt; but the
under-sheriff, ¢ Master Michell,”
says Fuller, ¢ instead of burning the

risoners, burnt the writ, and before
it could be renewed both Dr. Geoffrey,
the bloody Chancellor of Salisbury
who procured it, and Queen Mary,
were dead, to the miraculous pre-
servation of God’s poor servants.”
8t. Peter’s is a Perp. church of
some elegance, mostly of good stone,
but some small portions are of flint.
The porch has stone groining, as
also has the chancel. The arcades
are light, and the windows have good
tracery., The tower is late and situ-
ated at the W, of the S, aisle; it has
large heavy pinnacles and too much
of blank wall,

St. Mary’s has been much muti~
lated, and partly rebuilt in a debased
style. Thereisa Norman door-
way at the W. end; the S. aisle has
some tolerable Perp. windows, and
the tower is of the same character,
but very plain. .

The ch. of Preshute has been par-
tially rebmilt. It contains a black
basalt font of remarkable size, of the
early half of the 12th cent., in which
2 long standing tradition mentioned
by Camden tells us that King John,
and other royal personages were bap-
tized. It is by no means improbable
that the font may have been trans-
ferred hither from the chapel/of St.
Nicholas in Marlborough Castle on
the dismantling of that fortrezss.

D
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At Manton are preserved two
rickety specimens of antique coach-
making. They are a carriage and a
phaéton with harness, built for one
of the Baskerville family on his being
appointed high sheriff of the county
either in 1698 or 1736. The arms
of Baskerville, quartering Ward and
Danvers, are painted on the panels.

Marlborough College was opened
Aug. 26, 1843, as a school de-
signed to offer an education of the
highest class to the sons of clergy-
men and others; the former receiv-
ing special advantages. By the ori-
ginal charter two-thirds of the pupils
were to be sons of clergymen; but
by a second charter in 1849, the
number was reduced to one-half.

Under the management of the second | 4

head-master, Dr. Cotton, the la-
mented Bishop of Calcutta, and its
present chief the Rev. G. Bradley, it
has gained a very high place among
the educational establishments of the
country. The nucleus of the College
is formed by Lord Seymour’s old
brick house, afterwards the ¢‘Castle
Inn,” so well known to travellers
on the Bath road (see ante); other
blocks of building have been added
in the same style, forming 3 sides of
an irregular quadrangle. In 1848 a
chapel was consecrated from Blore’s
desigus, which contains a memorial
window to Bp. Cotton. The princi-
pal entrance to the College is from
the Bath road, and beyond it is seen
the figure of a white horse, in a trot-
ting attitude, cut on the chalky slope
of the valley. It is the work of no
Celt or Saxon, but of some school-
boys, 60 years since, who had seen the
white horses of Cherhill and Bratton.

[The neighbourhood of Marlbo-
rough contains sufficient objects of
interest to engage the attention of the
traveller for 3 or 4 days. The chief
of these are: (1.) The Cromlech,
known as the Devil’s Den, the gigantic
mound of Sibury Hill, and the re-
mains of the wonderful earthwork
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and megalithic monument of Ave-
bury; (2.) Martensell Hill and the
Wansdyke; (3.) Savernake Forest ;
(4.) Littlecote. .

The Devil's Den, Avebury and Sil-
bury Hill may be taken in a day’s ex-
cursion from Marlborough. The dis-
tance to Avebury is 6 m. A car-
riage may be had from the Ailesbury
Arms to Silbury Hill, Avebury, and
to return for 7s. 6d., and the expe-
dition usually takes about 3 hours;
but by far the best way of seeing the
remains is on foot.

Leaving the town by the Devizes
road, with the Kennet on the 1., at
1§ m. we have the entrance to Clat-
ford Bottom on our rt. through a gate
opposite the farmhouse of Clatford ;
m. up this winding grass-clad
combe 18 the cromlech or sepulchre
called the Devil’s Den. Itisabout10 ft.
high, consisting of a slab stone some
12 ft. by 15 ft., supported on 2 up-
right blocks, the remnant of 4 which
originally propped the impost, and
formed a sort of cave, whence the
name. Proceeding up the valley the
traveller will soon find himself en-
tangled among the *Greywethers,”
boulders of sarsen, or silicious sand-
stone, which extend for upwards of
a mile, and present one of the most
remarkable geological phenomena in
the country. They are believed by
Mr. Prestwich to be consolidated
portions of the sands and quartz
of the Plastic clay series. He will
thread this labyrinth of stones, and,
having passed a ride from the Marl-
borough race-course, which crosses
the vale oblit}nely, ascend Overton
hill on the 1., and proceed direct
for Avebury. The vantage ground
of this hill will afford him an ex-
cellent view not only of the sur-
rounding country, but of the inter-
esting spot he is approaching. He
will look upon an extensive basin,
containing in the centre, within a
grassy ring or rampart, the] remains
of the great circles of stones and
the modern villagé of Avebury; and
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towards the S. upon the culminat-
ing ridge of the Marlborough Downs,
sweeping from Bowood mugavemake,
and scored by a long waved line
marking the course of the Belgic
boundary, the Wansdyke.

The village of Avebury or Abury is
chiefly built with the fragments of
the huge stone circles, which have
been used as a quarry for centuries.
More than 650 stones have been de-
stroyed, and even the walls and
roads have been formed of their
ruins, It occupies an area, once
partitioned into circular spaces by
the enormous stones, but now cut
into quadrants by roads from the
four cardinal points, and still girt
by the original earthen mound and
inner ditch. Qutside the mound, at
a distance of § m,, are scattered Brit-
ish barrows, many of large size and
sharp symmetrical outline,

The visitor should climb the earth-
en ramparts to obtain’a general
view of Avebury and its remains.
The scene is one of great singularity ;
but the area within the earthwork is
now so covered by the village that it
is difficult, even with a plan of the
ancient appearance of the place in
one’s hands, to understand its ori-
ginal arrangements. But if the vi-
sitor will suppose for a moment every
house and hedge, tree and wall, &c.,
to be effaced, he may perhaps be able
to form a general notion of it. There
was in the first place an enormous
earthen rampart about 70 ft. high
from the bottom of the fosse, 4442 ft.
in circumference, circular, but not a
perfect circle, Within this a deep
fosse, and the fosse being on the
inner side of the rampart, it is at
once clear that it was no military
work. This rampart and fosse en-
closed a level area of 28 acres 27
perches. Immediately on the inner
margin of the fosse forming a kind
of coronet all round the level area,
was a row of unhewn stones supposed
to have been 100 in number, placed
27 ft. apart. Of these 10 only are now
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erect, and 5 prostrate, The position
of others can be traced. The dimen-
sions of 2 stones standing near the
turnpike are—the one 13 ft. high by
16 ft. wide and 4 ft. thick ; the other
13 ft. 10 in. high, 18 ft. wide, and
5 ft. 6 in. thick. The longer diam,
of the circle is 1260 ft.; the shorter
diam. 1170 ft. Within the large
outer circle or oval, were 2 smaller
ones, each originally composed of 30
stones. Of the southern of these
circles 2 stones remain erect, 3 pro-
strate, Of the northern circle 3
stones are erect and 1 prostrate,
Within each of these 2 circles was
probably a conceutric circle of 12
stones, of which there were indica-
tions. Within the northern, in its
centre, were 3 large stones which
formed an adytum or cove; of these
2 remain; the taller 17 ft. high, 7 ft.
7 in. wide, and 2 ft. 4 in. thick, At
the present time there are within
the entire enclosure only 17 stones
remaining upright and 11 recumbent.
(See ¢Abury Illustrated,” by W,
Long, Esq., M.A.; Wilts Archsol.
Mag. 1858, vol. iv.)

The circular earthwork, with the
circles of upright stones enclosed by
it, was approached (according to
Dr. Stukeley’s idea) from the S.W.
and S.E. by a double avenue of up-
right blocks, recalling the arrange-
ment of sphinxes in the approaches
to some of the Egyptian temples.
Each of the avenues was about
72 ft. wide, and consisted of 200
stones placed in pairs at intervals of
about 48 ft, and about 1} m. in
length, curving so as to give the idea
of a serpent. That from the S.W,
is thought to have ended at Beck-
hampton in a single stone, that from
the S.E. in an oval group on Over-
ton Hill, representing, according to
Stukeley, the tail and head of the
serpent of which the avenue formed
the body, transfixing the great cen-
tral circle. Stukeley gives an en-
graving of them'as they ‘existed in
1723, and mentions when they were
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removed. Of the 8.W, avenue, to- | avenue generally, One of them, 16
wards West Kennet, 8 or 10 stones re- | ft. high by as many broad and 3}
main ; on the S.E. only 2, near Beck- | thick, formed a member of a triad
hampton, in a field to the N. of the | called in Aubrey’s time “ the Devil’s
road: but these latter are of larger | Quoits,” and now known as the -
dimensions than the stones of the | ¢ Long Stones.”

farlboro®

<>
K A
Plan of AvEBURY and surrounding Country,
A. The Kennet Avenue of Stones, leading to Overton Circls, O.
B. Dr. Stukeley's d Avenue to B No trace

¢e. Roman Road, dd, British Trackway. e. Beckampton, 9. West Kennet Long Bairow.
h. East Kennet Long Barrow.

. .
AVEBURY (from the North), with Silbury in the distance. Its general appearance in the
original state, as well as can be conjectured.

N.B~The Circles, both Earthwork and Stones, were much more jrregular in shape than here represented.
For the more exact form, see the other Plans,




Wiltshire.

The stones of which the circles
and avenues are composed are called
sarsens. They are found in the im-
mediate neigbourhood. The weight
of the largest stone at Avebury is
about 62 tons ; one of the stones now
destroyed weighed 90 tons,

Many are the theories respecting
Avebury. There can be little doubt
that it Xntes from a period anterior
to the Roman conquest’ of Britain,
It is considered by most antiquaries
to be older than Stonehenge.

‘Wansdyke passes to the S, of Ave-
bury, amg' approaches within 4 m. of
it, but Avebury is outside this earth-
work, which is supposed to mark

‘ Route 4.—Avebury.

65

the extent of the last Belgic conquest,
prior to the coming of J. Camsar,
(See a paper by Dr. Guest, Archzol,
Journ., 1851, p. 157.)

Stukeley gives Avebury a very re-
mote date, about the time of Abra-
ham. The Rev. Mr. Lisle Bowles
supposes it to be Phcenician, (See
‘Hermes Britannicus,” 1825.) Mr.
Bathurst Deane considers it a Ser-
pent Temple, and compares it to the
remains at Stanton Drew and at
Carnacin Britany. (See Deane, ‘On
the Worship of the Serpent,’ 2nd
edit,, 1833.) The Rev. E. Duke
regards it as part of a vast Plane-
tarium described on the Wilts Downs,

AvEBUBY. The oldest known Plan :*made by JoHN AUBREY, about A.D. 1660,

Showing the irregularly Circular Earthwork and Ditch ; the arrangement of the Large Stones within ;
and one Avenue only of Stones leading to Kennet.

A. The earthen vallum.

B, The ditch inside the vallum,
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(A Kennet Avenue.
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AvEBURY. As surveyed by Sir R. C. HOARBE, A.D. 1812. [Roads and houses being omitted,]

The Area contains 28 acres and 27 perches, The circumference on the ridge of the vallum, 4442 feet.
The seven stones marked - were removed between 1819 and 1857,

(See ‘Druid. Temples, co. Wilts,’
1846. Mr, Herbert (‘ Cyclop, Chris-
tianus,” 1849) ascribes it to the
period after the Romans had left
this island. But the discoveries of
similar remains in India appear to
throw a light upon its history, and
lead us to attribute it to a people
who had migrated from the Fast.
The following passage is from Dr.
Hooker’s address to the British Asso-
ciation, Aug. 1868 (see also Col.
Yule’s memoir, ¢ Bengal Asiatic Jour-
pal,’ 1844)—* There exists within

300 miles of the British capital of
India a tribe of semi-savages who
habitually erect dolmens, menhirs,
cists, and cromlechs, almost as gi-
gantic in their proportions and very
similar in appearance and construc-
tion to the so-called druidical remains
of Western Europe. . . . The method
of removing the blocks is by cutting
grooves, along which fires are lit,
into which when heated cold water is
run, which causes the rock to fissure
along the groove. Theleverand ro;

are the only mechanical aids used in
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transporting and erecting the block.,
The objects of their erection are se-
pulture, marking spots where public
events have occurred, and the like.
The Khasian word for a stone, ¢ man,’
is the same as commonly occurs in
names of their villag& and places,
as the word ‘maen’ does in those of
Britany , Wales, Cornwall, &c.” This
see ms to give a clue to the interpreta-
tion of these monuments, and would
induce one to ascribe their origin to
a very early Eastern migration.

It is somewhat remarkable that
there is no historical account whatso-
ever of this great work, nor the
mention of it by name, and the only
allusion to it is the one discovered
by J. Kemble in the ‘Codex (Evi
Saxonici,” in the words ‘along the
stonerow’’ (KennetAvenue), “thence
to the burial-places.” (? Avebury
Circle.) One thing only seems
undeniable : thaét it was not a
military work. Other monuments
of this kind were religious, sepul-
chral or monumental; erected in
memory of some great person, or
some national évent, victory, mas-
sacre, &c. From this analogy, many
are disposed to consider Avebury to
have been of the same sort, though
the particular event commemorated
cannot now be recovered. As to its
having been a * Druidical Temple,”
there seems to be no trustworthy evi-
dence that the Druids ever made use
of such places for temples; and of
¢ serpent temples,” the very name is
unknown in ancient history.

The earliest existing notice of
Avebury is in the writings of John
Aubrey, the Wiltshire Antiquary,
who came~upon it unexpectedly
whilst hunting over the down in
1648, with Mr. Charles Seymour of
Marlborough Castle House. He was
at that time only 22 years of age,
but had been from a boy observaut
of the antiquities of his native county.
He was so much struck with his disco-
very that he left his hounds to follow
their game and paused to pursue his
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own. He re-visited the place many
times, and in his MS. work called
‘Monumenta Britannica,” (now in the
Bodleian Library, Oxford) left most
interesting plans and a description of
it, as itappeared to him at that time,

In 1743 Dr. Wm. Stukeley, a cle-
ver but very fanciful writer, pub-
lished a volume on the subject. But
his description is considered by many
less romantic modern antiquaries to
have been, in some respects, his own
imagination of what Avebury might
have been, rather than a faithful ac-
count of what it was in his time.

Avebury Ch. stands to the W, just
outside the huge earthen rampart
which has been levelled at this point.
It is a Norman fabric of flint and
stone, with tower, aisles, and chancel
in late Dec. The Norman arcade
was replaced by a Pointed one a few
years since, There is an early porch
and a Norman door of excellent
character with a zliquag moulding.
Within, the leaden Norman font and
coloured and gilt rood-loft deserve
notice. Avebury House (T. Kemm,
Esq.) stands close to the ch. Ave-
bury was a cell of St. George Bosch-
erville in Normandy.

Silbury Hill rises from the valley
of the Kennet, about a mile S.S.E. of
Avebury church, close to the Roman
road from Bath to Marlborough, and
to its modern successor, the once
thronged but now almost deserted
Great Bath road which here coincides
with it. It has been warmly debated
whether Silbury is posterior or
anterior to the Roman occupation of
Britain ; but there can be no reason-
able doubt that the Roman road here
makes a slight deviation from the
straight line to avoid the hill. Prof:
T gall remarks that Silbury Hill
afforded ¢“a splendid landmark to the
Roman engineers.” The Roman road
from Cunetio to Aque Solis being
carried in a straight line to the base
of the hill, and there slightly deflected
to avoid it. " This"is called in ques-
tion by Mr. Fergusson, who considers

- D3
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that the hill is posterior to the Ro-
mans, and that it was raised to com-
memorate a battle, probably  Ar-
thur’s 2nd and last battle of Badon
Hill” His opinion, also, is that
Avebury was nothing more than a
burying place, and was a ¢ full sized

lan ois a battle lithographed on the

eld where it was fought.” The
earlier date is supported by Sir John
Lubbock, and Dr. Thurnam. During
the autumn of 1867 the exact course
of the ancient road was ascertained
by removing the surface of theground
in the field above the turnpike road
8. of the hill, and the question was
set at rest, though the actual date of
the monument remains as deeply
shrouded in mystery as ever.  ( Wilts
Arch, Mag.,” vol. ii.)

This gigantic mound is probably
the largest artificial hill in Europe,
and if we may derive its name from
the A.-S. sel great, and burh strong-
hold, its proportions accord com-

letely with its designation. Others

ave identified the first syllable with
the goddess, “Sul Minerva” who
presided over the hot springs of
Bath “ Aque Sulis,” The shape of
Silbury is a truncated cone, 1657 ft.
in circumference at the base which
occupies upwards of 5 acres with a
diameter of 552 ft. A circle of sarsen
stones, 3 or 4 ft, across, set at intervals
of about 18 ft., surrounded the mound
at its bottom ; but few of these are
now visible, Itssides sloge regularly
upwardsat an angle of 30°. Its height
is 125 ft., and the diameter of the cir-
cular area of its summit 104 ft. Its
cubical volume is computed at nearly
468,170 solid yards of earth. The
object of this enormous work has been
a frequent subject of discussion, and
investigations have been undertaken
with the view of determining whether
the ordinary view which considers it
tobea seglulchml mound raised over
some mighty hero of old time is cor-
rect. In 1777 the hill was opened
from the top by Cornish miners under
the direction of the then Duke of
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Northumberland and Col. Drax; and
again in 1849, under the superinten-
dence of Dr. Merewether, Dean of
Hereford, when the mount was tun-
nelled at its base, and a space 12 ft.in
diam. in the very centre of the mass
examined. On neither occasion was
any trace of interment discovered.
But the apertures hitherto made have
been so insignificant compared with
the size of the hill that the question
cannot be considered to have been
settled by these excavations. As
with Avebury we are completely
destitute of any information as to
when, by whom, and for what pur-
pose it was formed (see Wilts Arch,
Mayg., vol. vii.)

The visitor should ascend to the
top for an interesting view, and he
should here call to mind Southey’s
¢ Inscription for a tablet,’ for, if not
certainly applicable to Silbury, it may
at least be transferred to one of the
many barrows which surround it :—

“ This" mound, in some remote and dateless

day
Rear’d o’er a chieftain of the age of hills,
May here detaln thee, traveller! from thy

Not idly lingering. In his narrow house
Som(‘sl warrior sleeps below, whose gallant

eeds

Haply at many a solemn festival

The Scald hath sung ; but perish d is the song

Of praise, as o’er these bleak and barren

-downs

The wind that passes and is heard no more,

Go, traveller, and remember, when the pomp

Of earthly glory fades, that one good deed,

Unseen, unheard, unnoted by mankind,

Lives in the eternal register of Heaven.”
Bristol, 1196,

The turnpike road from Marl-
borough T’Passes on 1, the villages of
Fyfield, West Overton, and Last Ken-
net, to West Kennet, where the river
Kennet turns N, at right angles to its
former course, pardllel to which the
road to Avebury diverges from the
main road, Shortly after passin
Fyfield a valley to the rt. of tEe O
will be noticed completely filled with
sarsen stone  or  ‘‘(grey ) wethers.”
The few survivors o% tﬁe giants of
the eastern avenue will be seen, rt.,
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at West Kennet. “Tens of thou-
sands of sarsen stones,” writes Dean
Merewether, Salisbury vol. of the
Archeeol. Institute, p. 74, are “ still
scattered over these hills and their
valleys: some having evidently
formed ¢cistvaens’ with the gallery
of approach to the chamber, some
crom{echs, some avenues of approach
to consecrated spots, some circles
round the sepulchral deposits, some
lines of demarcation.” It is to be
regretted that the number of these
interesting relics of a former age is
being rapidly diminished by the re-
quirements of the builder. The rly.
bridge at Windsor is built with stone
from Clatford Bottom. At Beck-
hampton is an Inn, the Waggon and
Horses, where refreshment may be
had.}

Returning to the main route the
rly. continues from Savernake Stat.
up the valley of the Avon between the
escarpment of Marlborough Downs
N., and Salisbury Plain 8., passing
at 72 m. close to the ch. and village
of Wootton Rivers on the other side
of the river.

1} m. S, is the village of Easton,
on the round chalkhill above which
is a circular entrenchment and
British village. To the 8. are also
Milton Hill with a group of barrows,
and Pewsey Downs on which are
traces of British villages.

754 m, PewseyStat. (/nn: Pheenix),
a small town pleasantly sitnated on
the Avon, between which and Saver-
nake the huge mass of Martensell
Hill rises likea wall to thert. 2 m.
N.W. is the pretty village of Wilcot.
Wilcot House, Miss Gore; Stowell
Lodge, Col. Wroughton,

The chalk range is here divided by
the Vale of Pewsey, which separates
the Marlborough Downs from Salis-
bury Plain. Martensell and St. Ann’s
are elevated points on the steep es-
carpment, commanding a most ex-
tensive prospect, inclading Salisbury
Plain and the Forest of Savernake.

Route 4,—Pewsey—Martensell.
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Martensell is situated about 3 m,
S. from Marlborough. The pame
is a corruption of the A.-S, “ Mer-
thorn ” ¢‘ the boundary thorn,”” and
has nothing to do with St. Martin.
It is a fine bold hill, descending
sheer on the E., and throwing out a
spur to the SW. The ditch and
rampart of a Celtic camp gird the
summit, enclosing an area of 31
acres, and commanding a distant
view of the entrenched heights of
Sidbury, Clearbury, Bratton, and
Cley Hill, of Salisbury Spire and
Alfred’s Tower. If we proceed W.
from Martensell along this ridge of
high land, we shall reach in succes-
sion Hewish Hill, remarkable for ex-
tensive vestiges of a British village ;
Knap Hill, crowned by an earthwork
of high antiquity, enclosing 2 tu-
muli ; Walker Hill, above Alton
Prior, conspicuous by its long bar-
row ; and beyond Walker Hill, 5 m.
W. of Martensell, St. Ann’s, the high-
est point of the Marlborough Downs,
and known throughout Wilts and
the neighbouring counties as the site
of Tan Hill Fair, held annually for
pleasure and business on the 6th o